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ing may be proved betwixt his Highnefs and his
Nobility, and loving Subjedsin time coming, un-
der the Pain of Death ; certifying them that do
in the contrary, they {hall be reputed as feditious
and wicked lnftruments, Enemies to his Flighnefs
and the Commonwealth of this Realm: And the
faid Pamn of Death fhall be executed upon them
with all Rigour, in Example of others.

A for Prefervaiion of his Mayefly's Perfon, Au-
thority and Government, May 1662.

Eftates of Parliament declared, flatuted and enact-
ed, That if any Perfon or Perfon fhall, by writ-
ing, printing, praying, preaching, libelling,
remonftrating, or by any malicious or adviled
fpeaking, exprefs, publifh, ordeclare any Words
or Sentences, to ftir up the People to the Hatred or
Diflike of his Majefty’s Royal Prerogative and Su-
premacy, in Caufes Ecclefaftical, or of the Go-
vernment of the Church by Archbifhops and Bi-
fhops, as it is now fettled by Law————That
every fuch Perfon or Perfons fo offending, and
being legally conviéted thereof, are hereby declar-
ed incapable to enjoy or exercife any Place or

Employment, civil, ecclefiaftick, or miliary,

within this Church and Kingdom, and fhall be
liable to fuch further Pains as are due by the Law
in fuch Cafes.

Ait 130, Par. 8. Fames VI, May 22, 1584. Anent
the Authority of the three Eftates of Parltament.

HE King’s Majefty confidering the Honour

and the Authority of his Supreme Court of
Parliament, continued paft all Memory of Man,
unto their Days, as conftitute upon the free Votes
of the three Eftates of this ancient Kingdom, by
whom the fame, under God, has ever been up-
holden, rebellious and traiterous Subjects punifh-
ed, the good and faithful preferved and maintain-
ed, and the Laws and Acts of Parliament (by
which all Men are governed) made and eftablifh-
ed, And finding the Power, Dignity, and Au-
therity of the faid Court of Parliament, of late
Years called 1n fou.. Doubt, at leaft, fome cu-
rioufly travelling to have introduced fome Inno-
vation thereanent 3 his Majelty’s firm Will and
Mind always being, as it is yet, That the Honour,
Authority, and Dignity of his faid three Eltates
fhall ftand and continue "in their own Integrity,
according to the ancient and Jaudable Cuftom
by-gone, without any Alteration or Diminution :
Therefore it is ftatuted and ordained by our faid
Sovereign Lord, and his faid three Eftates in this
prefent Parliament, That none of his Leiges or
Subjeéts prefume, or take upon hand to 1mpung,
the Dignity and Authority of the faid three
Eftates, or to feek or procure the Innovation or
Diminution of the Power and Authority of the
fame three Eltates, or any of them, in Time com-
ing, under the Pain of Treafon,

The Earl of Argyle's firft Petition for Advo-

cates, or Council to be allowed bim.

To his Royal Highnefs, his Majefty’s High
Commiffioner, and to-the Right Honourable
the Lords of his Majefty’s Privy-Councll,

The bumble Petition of Archibald Earl of Argyle,

Sheweth, o
H AT your Petitioner being criminally in.
dicted before the Lords Commiffioners of

109. The Trial of the E.of Argyle,

And further, It is by his Majefty and
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Jufticiary, at the Inftance of his Majelty’s Advo.
cate, for Crimes of an high Nature, And where-
as in this Cafe no Advocate will readily plead for
the Petitioner, unlefs they have your Royal High-
nefs, and Lordthips Special Licenfe and Warrape
to that Eftect, which isufual in the like Cafes,

It istherefore bumbly defired, that your Royal
Highnefs and Lordfbips would give fpecial
Order and Warrant to Sir George Lock-
hart, bis ordinary Addvocate, to confult aid
plead for bim in the forefaid criminal Frocefs,
withont tmcurring any Hazard wpon that /-
count :

And your Petitioner {hall ever pray.

R RSN ) (O IRy
Edenburgh, November 22, 1681,

The Council’s Anfiver fo the Earl of Argyle's
firft Petstion, and bis baving Advocates al-
lorwed bim.

IS Royal Highnefs, his Majefty’s High

Commiffioner, and Lords of Privy-Coun-
cil do refule the Defire of the above-written Bill,
but allow any Lawyers the Petitioner fhall em-
ploy, to confult and plead for him in the Procefs
of Trealon, and other Crimes, to be purfued
againft him at the Inftance of his Majefty’s Ad-
vacate,

Extr. By me,

WiLL, PaTERson,
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The Earl of Argyle’s fecond Petition for Coun-

ctl to be allowed bhim,

To his Royal Highnefs, his Majelty’s High
Commiflioner, and to the Right Honourablz
the Lords of his Majefty Privy-Council.

The bumble Petition of Archibald Earl of Argyle,

Sheaweth,

HA'T your Petitioner having given in 2

former Petition, humbly reprefenting, That
he being criminally indiGted before thé Lords
Commiffioners of Jufticiary, at the Inftance of
his Maiefty’s Advocate, for Crimes of an high
Nature: And therefore defiring that your Royal
Highnefs, and Lordfhips, would give fpecial War-
rant to Sir George Lockbart, to confult and plead
for him : Whereupon your Royal Highrefs and
Lordfhips did allow the Petitioner to make Ufe
of fuch Advacates as he fhould think fit to call
Accordingly your Petitioner having defired Sir
George Lockbart to confult and plead for him,
he .hath as yet refufed your Petitioner, And by
the 11th Parfiament of King Fames the VI, Cap.
38. as it is the undeniable Priviledge of all
Subjects, accufed for any Crimes, to have Li-
berty to provide themfelves of Advocates, to de-
fend their Lives, Honour, and Lands, againft
whatfoever Accufation ; o the fame Priviledge 13
not only by Parliament 11 King Fames the V1.
Cap. go. farther aflferted and confirmed, but allo

it 1s declared, that in cafe the Advocates refule,
the

n
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-« Tudees are to compel them, left the Party
;tiuézd %ould be prejudged : And this bffi{lg an
Affair of great Importance to ‘your Petitioner,
~d Sit George Lockbart having been not only ftill
bis ordinary Advocate, but alfo by his con[’_ca*.nt
Converfe with him is belt known to your Pf.:tjl.tl'{)-
ner’s Principles 3 and of whofe eminent Abilities
.nd Fidelity, your Petitioner (as many others have)
hath had {pecial Proof all along in his Concerns,
and hath fuch fingular ConﬁQence In h:.m, that he
s moft neceflary to your Petitioner at this Occafion.

Mayit therefore pleafe your Royal Highnefs and
Lardfbips to interpofe your Ambority, by gi-
ving a fpecial Qrder and Warrant io the faid
Sir George Lockhart, Zo confulr and plead
for bim in the faid criminal Procefs, conform
10 the Tenor of the faid Afis of Parliament,
and confrant known Praflice in the like
Cafes, which was never refufed to any Subjell
of the meanest Quality, even to the greatest
Criminals, And your Royal Hiphnefs's and
Lordfbips Anfwer is bumbly craved,
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Edenburgh, November 24, 1681.

The Council's Anfwer to the Earl of Argyle's
fecond  Petition.

1S Royal Highnefs, his Majefty’s High-
H Commiffioner, and Lord’s of Privy-Coun-
cil, having confidered the forefaid Perition, do
adhere to their former Order, allowing Advo-
cates to appear for the Petitioner in the Procels
aforefaid,

Extr. By me,

Wirs. PATERSON.
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The Earl of Argyle's Letter of Attorney,
conflituting Alexander Dunbar bis Pro-
rurator, for reguiring Sir George Lock-

hart to plead for him.

E Archibald BEarl of Argyle do hereby

fubftitute, conftitute and ordain Alexander
Dunbar, our Servitor, to be our Procurator, to
pafs and require Sir George Lockbart, Advocate, (o
confult and plead for vs in the criminal Procefs
intended againft us, at the Inftance of his Majelty’s
Advocate ; and to compear with us, before the
Lords Commiffioners of Jufticiary, upon the ra2th
of December next, conform to an Act of Council,.
dated the 22d of November inftant, allowing any

Lawyers that we thould employ, - to confule and’
plead for us in the faid Procefs, and toanother Aé.

of Council of the 24th of- Nevember inftant, rela-
tive to the former, and conform to the Aéts of
Parllament, In Witnefs whereof we have fub-
cribed thefe Prefents, at Edenburgh-Caftle, Noy.
20, 1681, before thefe Witnefles, Duncan Camplell,
Servitor to Fames Glen, Stationer in Edenburpgh,
and Fobn Thom, Merchant in the faid Burg.

Duncan Campbell, }Wi tneffs. ARGYLE,

JFobn Them,-

for Treafon.
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An Inftrument whereby the Earl of :{i‘gyie fe-

quired Sir George Lockbart to appear and pléad
- for him,

Apud Edenburgum wvigefimo fexto die Menfis No-
vembris, Anno Domine millefimo fexcentefima oc-

tuagefimo ptrimo, & Anno Regni Car. 11, Regis
Iripeftmo Lertio,

H E which Day, in Prefence of me Notary-

Publick, and Witneffes under-fubfcribed,
compeared perfonally Alexander Duynbar, Servitor
to a noble Earl, Archibald Karl of Argyle, as Pro-
curator, and 1n Name of the faid Earl, conform to
a Procuration fubfcribed by the faid Earl at the
Caltle of Edenburgh, upon the twenty frlt Day of
November, 1681, makingand conftituting the faid
Alexander Dunbar his Procurator, to the EBelt
under-written ; and paffedto the perfonal Prefence
of Sir George Lockhart, Advocate, in his own
Lodging in Edenburgh, having and holding in his
Hands an A& of his Majefly’s Privy-Council, of
the Date of the 22d of Nowvember, 1681, inftant,
proceeding upon a Petition given in by the faid Earl
of Argyle to the faid Lords, thewing, that he being
criminally indicted before the Lords Commiffioners
of Jufticiary, at the Inftance of his Majefty’s Ad-
vocare, for Crimes of an high Nature; and where-
as 1n that Cafe no Advacates would readily plead
for the faid Earl, unlefs they had his Royal High-
nefs’s and their Lordfhips fpecial Licenfe and War-
rant to that Effe, which is ufual in the like Cafes
And by the faid Petition humbly fupplicated, that
his Highnefs and the Council would give fpecial
Order and Command to the faid Sir George Lock-
hart, the faid Earl’s ordinary Advocate, to con-
fultand plead for him in che forefaid criminal Pro-
cefs, without incurring any Hazard upon thac
Account, His Royal Highnefs, and Lords of the
faid Privy-Council, did refufe the Defire of the
faid Petition, but allowed any Lawyers the Peti-
tioner fhould employ, to confult and plead for
him in the Procefs of Treafon, and other Crimes
to be purfued againft him, at the Inftance of his
Majelty’s Advocate.  And alfo the faid Alexander
Dunbar having and holding in his Hands another
Act of the faid Lords of Privy-Council, of the
24th of the faid Month, relative to, and narrat-
ing the forefaid firlt Act, and proceeding upon
another Supplication given in By the faid Earl, to
the faid Lords, craving, that his Royal Highnefs
and the faid Lords would interpofe their Authority,
by giving a pofitive and pecial Order and Warrant
to the faid Sir George Lockbart, to conlfulc and
plead ‘with him in the aforefaid criminal Procefs,
conform to the Tenor of the Aéts of Parliament
mentioned and particularized in the faid Petition,
and frequent and known Praétice in the like Cales,
which was-never refufed sto any Subjefls of the
meaneft Quality. His Royal Highnefs, and Lords
of Privy-Council, having conlidered the forelaid
Petition, did, by the faid A&, adhere to their
former Order, allowing Advocates to appear for
the faid Ear] in the Procefs forefaid, as the faid
Ads bear ; and prodoced the faid-Acts Procurato-
ry-forefaid to the faid Sir George Lockbart, who
took the fame in his-Hands, ahd read them over

[heeeffrve 5 and aftet reading thereof, the faid Alex-

ander Dunbar Procurator, and in Name and Behalt
forefaid, folemnly required the faid Sir George Lock-
bart as the faid‘ noble Earls ordinary Advocate,
and as a- Lawyer and Advocate, upon thf:F: ﬁi‘i'd'

arl’s
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Earl’s reafonable Expence, to confult and advile
the faid Earl’s faid Procefs at any Time and Place
the faid Sir George fhould appoint to meet there-
upon, conform to the forefaid two Adts of Council,
and Aés of Parliament therein mentioned, ap-
pointing Advocates to confult n {fuch Matters :
which the faid Sir George Lockhart altogether re-
fufed : Whereupon the laid Alexander Duubar, as
Procurator, and in Name forefaid, afked and
rook the Inftruments, one or more, in the Hands
of me Notary-Publick under-fubferibed.  And
thefe Things were done within the faid Sir George
Lockbart's Lodging, on the Sonth Side of the
Street of Edenburgh, in the Lane Mercat, Wwithin
the Dining-Room of the faid Lodging, betwixt
four and fve Hours in the Afternoon, Day,
Month, Year, Place, and of his Majefty’s Reigp,
refpedlive forefaid, before Robert Dickjone, and
Yobn Lefly, Servitors to Fobir Campbell, Writer to
his Majefty’s Signet, and Dozcgal Mac Alefier,
Meflenger in Edenbuigh, with divers others, called
and required to the Premifles,

Jia efft Ego Johannes Broun, Notarius Publi-
cus, i Premiffis requifitus, Alteftor Teftan-
tibus his meis figno & fubferiptione manua-
libus folitis & confuctis.

Broux.

}Witneﬂ?&s.
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Rebert Dickjone,
Dotwgall Mac dleiler,
Fobn Lefly,

Wednefday, the 12th of December, the Day of
Compearance affigned to the Earl being now
come, he was brought by a Guard of Solders
from the Caltle to the Place appointed for the
Trial, and the Juftice Court being met and fenced,
the Earl, now Marquis of Queenfbury, then Jul-
tice-General, the Lords Naira, Collingtown, for-
sef. Newtoun and Kirkbonfe, the Lords of Jufti-
ciary fitting in Judgment, and the other Formali-
ties alfo performed, ¢ . Indiétment above let down
was read, and the Earl fpoke as follows.

The Earl of Argyles Speech to the Lovd JuShce

General, and the Lords of the Fusticiary, after
be bad been arraigied, and bis Indictment read.

- My Lord Fustice General, &c.

I Look upon it as an undeniable Privilege of
the meanelt Subject to explain his own Words
in the moft benign Senfe: And even when Perfons
are under an il Chara&er, the Mifconftruction
of Words in themfelves not ill, can only reach a
Prefumption or Aggravation but not any more.

But it is firange toalledge, as well as, 1 hope,
impoffible, to make any that know me believe,
that I could intend any thing but what was honeft
and honourable, fuitable to the Principles of my
Religion and Loyalty, though I did not explain
mylelf at all.

My Lord, I pray you be not offended that 1
take up a little of your Time, to tell you, I have
from my Youth made it my Bufinefs to ferve his
Maijefty faithfully, and have conftantly, to my
Power, appeared in his Service ; efpecially in all
Times of Difficuly, and have never joined, nor
complied with any Intereft or Party, contrary to
his Majefty’s Authority, and have all along ferved

109. The Trial of the E.of Argyle,
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him in his own way, without a Frown from his
Majefty thefe thirty Years,

As foon as I pafled the Schools and Colleges
I went to travel to France and Italy, and was -
broad 1647, 1648, and till the end of 164g,

My firlt Appearance in the World was 10 forve
his Majefty as Colonel of his Foor-Guards, -And
though at that Time all the Commiffioners were
aiven by the then Parliament, yet I would not
ferve without a Commiffion from his Majefty,
which I have flill the Honour to have by me,

After the Misfortune of Werceffer, 1 continued
in Arms for his Majefly’s Service 5 when Scotland
was over-run with Ufurpers 3 and was alone with
fome of my Friends in Arms in the Year 1652,
and did then keep up fome Appearance of Oppo-
icion to them: And General Major Dean coming

: : : . o
to Argyleflire, and planting {everal Garrifons, he
no fooner went away but we fell upon the Garri-
{fons he had left, and in one Day took two of them,
and cut off a confiderable Parc of a third, and
carried away in all about three hundred Prifoners
And in the End of that Year, 1 {ent Captam Shazw
to his Majelty, with my humble Opinion, how
the War might be carried on 3 who returned to
me with Inftructions and Orders which I have ye
lying by me.

After which, I ioined with thole his Majefty
did commiffionate, and ftood outr ull the laff,
that the Earl of Middleton, his Majelty’s Lieu-
tenant-General, gave me Orders to capuulate,
which I did without any other Engagements to
the Rebels but allowing Perfons to give Bad for
my living peaceable: And did at my capitulating
relieve {everal Prifoners by Exchange, whercof
my Lord Gramard, out of the Caftle of Lizn-
burgh, was one,

It is notarly known, that 1 was forefaulted by
the Ufurpers, who were fo jealous of me, thar,
contrary to their Faith, within eight Months after
my Capitulation, upon Preterce 1 keeped Honles
above the Value they feized on me, and keeped
me in one Prifon after another, till his Majefty’s
happy Reftoration, and this only becaufe T wouid
not engage not to ferve his Majetty, though theie
was no Oath required,

I do with all Gratitude acknowledge his Majel-
ty’s Goodnefs, Bounty and Royal Favours to me,
when I was purfued before the Parliament in the
Year 1662, His Majefty was gracioufly pleafed not
to fend me here in any opprobous Way, but
upon a bare verbal Paroll.  Upon which I came
down Poft, and prefented myfelf a Fortnight be-
fore the Day. Notwithftanding whereof I was
immediately clapt up in the Caftle, but having
fatisfied his Majefty at that Time of my entire
Loyalty, 1 did notoffer to plead by Advocates.
And his Majefty was not only pleafed to pardon
my Life, and to reftore me to a Title and For-
tune, but to put me in Truft in his Service, n
the moft eminent Judicatories of this Kingdom,
and to heap Favours upon me, far beyond what
ever I did or can deferve : Though I hope his Ma-
jefty hath always found me faithful and thankful,
and ready to beftow all I have, or can have, for
his Service : And I hope never hath had nor ever
fhall have Ground to repent any Favour he hath
done me. And if I were now really guilty of the
Crimes libelled, I fhould thinkymylclf a greal
Villain, :

The next Occafion 1 had to thew my particulas

Zeal to his Majefty’s Service was in Ao 1606,
I whei
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wlen the Infurrection was made that was repreft
at Pentland-Hills. At the very firft, the Inter-
courle bewixt this Place and me was ftopt, fo
that [ had meither Intelligence nor Orders from
the Counctl, nor from the General ; but upon a
[ etter from the now Agchbifhop of St. Audrews,
eelling me there was 2 Rebgﬂlmn like to be in the
dhree Kingdoms, and bidding me beware of Jre-
1nd and Kintyre, 1 brought together about two
toufand Men 1 I feized all the Gentlemen in Kiz-
gyre that had not taken the Declaration, though 1
found them peaceable. And 1 fenta Gentleman to
General Dalziel, to receive his Orders, who came
to him juft as they were going to the Action at
Dentland, and was with him 1n it; and 1 kept
my Men together till his Return, And when I met
with confiderable Trouble from my Neighbours,
rebellioufly in Arms, and had Commiflions both
on publick and private Accounts, have 1 not car-
ried dutifully to his Majelty, and done what was
commanded with a jult Moderation, which I can
prove under the Flands of my Inemies, and by
many infallible Demonftratons ¢

Pardon me a few Words: Did Inotin this pre-
font Parliament thew my Readinefsto ferve his Ma-
jefty and Royal Family, in aflerting vigoroufly the
lineal legal Succeflion of the Crown, and hada Care
10 have it exprefied in the Commifiions of the Shires
and Burghs I had Interelt m? Was I not for of-
fering proper Supplies to his Majelty and his Suc-
ceffor? And did I nor concur to bind the Land-
Yords for their Tenants, although 1 was mainly con-
cerned? And have I not always kept my Tenants
in Obedience to his Majefty ¢

1 fay all this, not to arrogate any thing for do-
ing what was my Honour and Durty to his Ma-
jefty 5 but if after all this, upon no other Ground
bur Words that were fpoken in ablolute Inno-
cence, and without the leaft Defign, except for
clearing my own Confcience, and that are not
capable of the ill Senfe wrefted from them by the
Libel, T fhould be further troubled, what Aflu-
rance can any of the greateft Quality, Truft, or
Innocency have, that they are ecure? efpecially
confidering, that fo many Scruples have been ftart-
ed. as all know, not only by many of the Ortho-
dox Clergy, but by whole Prefbyteries, Synods,
and fome Bifhops, which were thought fo con-
fiderable, that an eminent Bifhop took the Pains
1o write a Treatife, that was read over in Council,
and allowed to be printed, and a Copy gtven to
me, which contains all the Expreflions I am charg-
ed for, and many more that may be {tretched to a
worfe Senfe.

Have I not thewed my Zeal to all the Ends of
the Test 2 How then can it be imagined that 1
have any finiffer Defign in any thing that 1 have
faid? If I had done any thing contrary to it all
the Courfe of my Life, which I hope fhall not be
found, yet one A& might pretend to be exculed
by a Habit, Bur nothing being queftioned but
the Senfe of Words mifconftrued to the greatelt
Height, and ftretched to imaginary Infinuations,
quite contrary to my Scope and Delign, and fo
far contrary, not only to my Senfe, but my Prin-
ciples, Intereft, and Duty, thatI hope my Lord
Advacate will think he hath gone too far on in
this Procefs, and fay planly what he knows to
be Truth by his Acquaintance with me, both.n
publick and’ private, viz. That I am-neither Pa-
-pift nor Fanatick, but truly-loyal in-myPrinciples
and Practices, -

VoL, lIL

for Trealon,

-
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‘T'he hearing of this Libel would trouble me be-
yond moft of the Sufferings of my Life if my
Innocence did not {upport me, and the Fopes of
being vindicated of this and other Calumnies be-
fore this publick and noble Auditory.

I leave my Defences to thefe Gentlemen that
plead for me, they know my Innocence, and how
groundlels that Libel Is.

I fhall only fay, as my Life hath moft of iv
been ipent in ferving and fuffering for his Majefty ;
lo, whatever be the Event of this Procefs, I re-
folve, while I breathe, to be loyal and faithful
to his Majelty. And whether I live publickly
or in Oblcurity, my Flead, my Hearr, nor my
Hand, {hall never be wanting where 1 can be ufe-
ful to his Mayelty’s Service, And while I live,
and when Idie, I fhall pray, that God Almighty
would blefs his Majefty with a long, happy, and
profperous Reign ; and that the lineal legal Suc.
ceffors of the Crown may continue Monarchs of
all his Majelty’s Dominions, and be Defenders
of the true Primitive, Chriltian, Apoftolick, Ca-
tholick, Proteftant Religion, while Sun and Moon
endure. |

God fave the King.

PRy, CE R H RN AR RS
The King’s own Lelter to this Nobleman, when hz
was Lord Lorn,

Colzgne, Dec. 1631,
My Lord Lorn,

: IAM very glad to hear from Middleton, what
¢ £ Affe€tion and Zeal you fhow to my Service,
« how conftantly you adhere to him in all his
¢ Diftrefles, and what good Service you have
¢ performed upon the Rebels. 1 affure you, you
< fhal] find me very juft, and Kind to you in re-
¢ warding what you have done and fuffered for
¢ me; anc I hope you will have more Credit and
¢ Power with thofe of your Kindred, and Depen-
¢ dants upon your Family, to engage them with
« you for me, chan any body elle can have to fe-
¢ duce them agamnlt me; und I fhall look upon
« all thofe who fhall refule to follow you as un-
¢ worthy of any Protection hereafter from me,
¢ which you will ler them know. This honeft
¢ Bearer, M————, will infcrm you of my Con-
¢ dition and Purpofes, to whom you will give
¢ Credit; and he will tell you, that I am very
¢ much
Qour affeftionate Friend,

gddddidddbidbbdddiddsdddd bbbttt

General Middleton’s Ordes 1o the Earl of Argyle,
who was then Lord Lorn, for capitulating with
the Englith, wherein be largely expreffeth bis
Werth and Loyally.

John Middleton, Lientenant-General, next and
immediately under bis Majefty, aud Commander
in Chicf of all the Forces raifed, aid o be raifed,
within the Kingdom of Scotland.

B EIN G the Lord Lorn hath given fo fingular

Proofs of clear and perfect Loyalty fo the
King’s Majefty, and of pure and conftant A fecti-
onto the Good of his Majelty’s Adfairs, as never
Mmm hitherto
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hitherto to have any Ways complied with the
Finemy, and to have been principally inftrumen-
tal in the enlivening of this late War, and one of
the chief and firft Movers in it 5 and hath readily,
chearfully, and gdllantly engaged, and refolutely
and conftantly continued active in it, notwith-
ftanding the many powerful Diffuafions, Difcou-
ragements, and Oppolitions he hath met withal
from divers Hands, and hath in the carrying on
of the Service thewn fuch fignal Fidelity, Inte-
arity, Generofity, Prudence, Courage, and Con-
duft, and fuch high Virtue, Induftry, and Abi-
lity, as are fuitable to the Dignity of his noble
Family, and the Truft his Majefty repoled in
him 3 and hath not only ftood out againft all
Temptations and Enticements, but hath moft
nobly croffed and repreffed Defigns and Attempts
of deferting the Service, and perhifted loyally and
firmly in it to the very laft, through exceffive 1ol
and many Diflicuities, mifregarding all perfonal
Inconveniencies, and chufing the Lofs of Friends,
Fortune, and all private Concernments, and to
endute the utmofi Extremities rather than to
fwerve in the lealt from his Duty, or taint his
Repurtation with the meaneft Shadow of Difloyalty
and Difthonour. 1 do therefore hereby teftify and
declare, that I am perfectly fatistied wich his
whole Deportments, in relation to tae Enemy,
and this jate War 3 and do highly approve them,
as being not only above all I can exprefs of their
Worth, but almoft beyond all Parallel. And
I do withal hereby both allow, and moft ear-
neftly defire, and with him, to lofe no Time in
taking fuch Courfe for his Safety and Preferva-
tion by Treaty and Agreement, or Capitulation,
as he fhall judge moft fir and expedient for the
Good of his Perfon, Family, and Eftate, fince
inevitable and invincible Neceffity hath forced
us to lay afide this War, And I can now no
other Way exprefs my Refpects to him, nor con-
tribute my Endeavour to do him Honour and
Service. In Teftimony whereof 1 have figned and
fealed thefe Prefents at Dunveagave, the lalt Day
of March, 1655,
Fobn Middleton.

Another Letter from the Earl of Middleton, fo the
Jame Purpafe,

Paris, April 17, thzz.

My noble Lord, SR

AM hopeful, that the Bearer of this Letter

will be found one who has been a moft faith-
ful Servant to your Lordfhip, and my kind
Friend, and a Sharer in my Troubles. Indeed I
have been firengthened by him to fupport and
overcome many Difficulties, He will acquaing
you with what hath paft, which truly was ftrange
to both of us, but your cwn Re-encounters will
leflen “them, My Lord, I fhall be faithful in
giving you that Character which your Worth and
Merit may juftly challenge. I profefs it is, next
to the Ruin of the Service, one of my chiefeft
Regrets that I could not poflibly wait upon you
before my going from Scotland, that 1 might
have fettled 2 Way of Correfpondence with you,
and that your Lordfhip might have underftood
me better than yet you do; I fhould have
been plain in every thing, and indeed have made
your Lordfhip my Confeffor : And I am hopeful
the Bearer will fay fomewhat for me, and I doubt
not but your Lordthip will truft him, If it
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thall pleafe God to bring me fafe from beyond Sea,
your Lordfhip fhall hear from me by a fure Hand,
Sir Ro. M. will tell you a Way of correfponding,
So that I fhall fay no more at prefent, but that §
am, without Poflibility of Change,

My noble Lord,
Your Lordfbip’s most faithful,
and most bumble Servant,

John Middleton,
COSBL8ITAIFUSSHOSISTOSRIVEV I SO SOR A

A Letter from the Earl of Glencairn, teflifying kis
Litezm for this Noble Perfon, and the Senfe be bad
of bis Lovalty to the King, when few had the Cou-
rage 19 own bim,

My Lord,

LEST it may be my Misfortune, in all thefe

oreat Revolutions, to be mifreprefented to
your Lordthip, as a Perfon unworthy of your
favourable Optnion (an Artifice very frequent in
thefe Times) I did take Occafion to call for a
Friend and Servant of yours, the Laird of Spanse,
on whofe Difcretion I did adventure to lay forth
my Hear’s Defire, to obviate in the Bud any of
thefe Mifunderftandings, Your Lord{hip’s true
Worth and Zeal to your Country’s Happinels be-
ing {o well known to me, and confirmed by our
late Suffering-Acquaintance: And now finding
how much it may conduce to thefe great Ends,
we all wifh that a perfe@ Unity may be amongft
all good and honeft-hearted Scotchmen, though
there be few more infignificant than my felf:  Yet
my Zeal for thofe Ends obliges me to fay, that if
your Lordfhip’s Health and Affairs could have
permitted you to have been at Edenburgh in thefe
late Times, you would have feen a great Inclina-
tion and Defire, amongft all here, of a perfet
Unity, and of a mutual Refpect to your Perfon,
as of chief Eminence and Worth, And I here
fhall fet it under my Hand, to witnefs againit all
my Informers, that none did with more Paflion,
nor fhall with more continued Zeal, witnels them-
felves to be true Honourers of you, than he who
defires Infinitely to be efteemed,

My Lord,
Your moft bumble Servant,

GLENCAIRN,

IWhat I cannot well write, 1hope this difcreet Gei-
tleman will tell you, inn my Name : And I fball
only beg Leave to fay, that I am your moft noble
Lady's bumble Servant,

After the reading of which Qrder and Letters,
which yet the Court refufed to record, the Earf’s
Advocate, or Counfel, Sir George Lockbart faid in
his Defence as follows.

Sir George LockharC’s Argument and Plea for the
Earl of Argyle,

IR George Lockbart for the Earl of Argyle, al-
ledgeth, That the Libel is not relevant, and
whereupon he ought to be put to the Knowledge of
an Inqueft, For, :
C
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I is alledged in the general, That all criminal

Iibels, whereupon any Perfon’s Life, Eftate and
Reputation, can be drawg in Queftion, fhould be
founded upon clear, pofitive and exprefs A@s of
Parliament, and the Maitter of Fa& which is li-
belled, to be the Contravention of thofe I.aws,
fhould be plain, clear, and dire@ Contraventions
of the fame, and not argued by Way of Impli-
cations and Inferences. Whereas in this Cafe,
neither the Acts of Parliament founded upon,
and libelled, can be 1n the leaft the Foundation
of this Libel : Nor is the Explication which is pre-
wended to be made by the Pannel, at the Time of
the taking of his Oath (if confidered) any Contra-
vention of thofe Laws ; which being premifed, and
the Pannel denying the Libel, as to the whole
Articles and Points theretn contained, it is alledg-
ed 1n fpecial:

That the Libel, in fo far as it is founded upon
the 21ft Chap. Stat. 1. Rebert1, and upon §3d
A&, Par. 6. James V. the y3d A&, Par. 2. Fames .
and upon the S3d A&, Par. 10. Fames V. and
upon §yth Act, Par, 8. Fames VI, and upon the
1oth Act, Par. 10. Fames VI and upon the 2d
Act, Par. 1. Sel. 2, of his Sacred Majefty 5 and
infering thereupon, that the Pannel, by the pre-
tended Explication given in by him to the Lords
of his Majefty’s Privy-Council, as the Senfe of
the Oath he had taken, doth commit the Crime
of Leafing-making, and dcpraving his Majefty’s
Laws: The Inference and Subfumption is moft un-
warrantable, and the Pannel, though any fuch thing
were acknowledged and proved, can never be
found guilty of contravening thefe Aés of Par-
flament.  In refpect it is evident, upon perufal
and Confideration of thefe Aéts of Parliament,
that they only concern the Cafe of Lealing-
making tending to Sedition, and to beger DIl
cord betwixt his Majefty and his Subje@s, and
the Diflike of his Majefty’s Government, and the
Reproach of the fime. And the faid Laws and
Adts of Parliament were never underftood or li-
belled upon, in any other Senfe,  And all the for-
mer Aés of Parliament, which relate to the
Crime of Leafing making in general Terms, and
under the Qualification forefaid, as tending to
beget Difcord berwixe his Majefty and his Sub-
lelts, are explained and fully declared, as to what
is the true Meaning and Import thereof, by the
134th Act, Par. 8. James VI, which relates to
the fame Crime of Leafing-making, and which is
exprefly defcribed in thefe Terms, to be wicked
and licentious, publick and private Speeches, and
untrue. Calumnies to the Difdain and Contempt
of his Mujefty’s Council and Proceedings, and
to the Difhonour and Prejudice of his Highnefs
and his Eftate, tirring up his Highnefs’s Subjects
to Mifliking and Sedition, and Unquietnefs, which
being the true Senfe and Import of the A&s of
Parliament made againft Leafing.makers, there
is nothing can be inferred from the Pannel’s z)-
iedged Explication, which can be wrefted or con-
ftrued to be @ Contravention of thefe Laws: In
relpeét,

L It is known by the whole Tenor of his
Life, and gracioully acknowledged by his Sacred
Majeflty, by a Letter under his Royal Hand,
that the Pannel did ever moft zealonfly, Vigo-
roufly, and farthfully promote and carry on his
Majelty’s Service and Intereft, even in the worft
and moft difficult Times : Which is alfo acknow-
tedged by a Pafs under the Earl of Middietoi’s
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Hand, who had then a fpecial Commiffion fram
his Majelty, for carrying on his Majefty’s Ser-
vice In this Kingdom, as Licutenant-General un-
der his Majefty ; and by a Letter under the EarFs
Hand, of the Date, both which do contain high
Expreflions of the Pannel’s Loyalty, and of the
great Services he had performed for his Maujelty’s
Interelt, And his Majefty, as being conlcious
thereof, and perfectly knowing the Pannels Loy-
alty, and his Zeal and Faithfulnefs for his Ser-
vice, did think fit t entruft the Pannel in Offi-
ces and Capacitics of the greatelt Troft of the
Kingdom., And it is a jull and rarional Pre-
fumption, which all Law makes and infers,
that the Words and Expreflions of Perfons, who
by the Tenor and Ceurfe of their Lives have ex-
prefled their Duty and Loyalty to his Majefly’s
Intereft, are ever to be interpreted, and under-
{tood in meligrem partem. And by Way of Im-
plication and Inference, to conclude and infer
Crimes from the fime, which the Uler of fuch
Words and Expreflions never meaned nor defigned,
1s both unreafenable and unjaft,

I, As the torefaid A&ts of Parliament made
againft Leafing- makers, and Depravers of his
Majefty’s Laws, only proceed in the Terms fore-
faid, where the Words and Speeches are plain,
tending to beger Difcord between the King and his
Subjetts, and to the Reproach and Diflike of his
Government, and when the fame are fpoke and
vented in a fubdolous, pernicious, and fraudulent
Manner: So they never were, nor can be under-
ltood to procerd in the Cafe of a Perfon of-
fering in the Prefence of a publick Judicature
(whereof lie had the Honour to be a Member)
his fincere and plain Meaning and Apprehen{ion
of what he conceived to be the true Senfe of the
Act of Parliament impoling and enjoining the
Test: There being nothing more oppofite to the
Act of Parliament made againft Leafing-making,
and venting and {preading abroad the fame upon
Seditious Defigns, than the forefaid Plain and
open Declaration of his Senfe and Apprehenfion,
what was the Meaning of the aid Act of Parlit-
ment, And it is of ro Import to infer any Crime,
and much Jefs of any of the Crimes libelled, al-
beit the Pannel had erred and miftaken in his Ap-
prehenfion of the Aét of Parliament. And it
were a ftrange Extenfion of the A& of Parha-
ment made againlt ILeafling-makers, requiring
the Qualifications forefaid, and the Als againtt
depraving his Majefty’s Laws, to make the Pan-
nel, or any other Perfon guilty upon the Mi-
ftakes and Mifapprehenfions of the Senfe of the
Laws, wherein Men may miltake and differ very
much, and even eminent Lawyers and Judges.
So that the Acts of Parltament againft Leafing-
making, and depraving his Majefty’s Laws, can
only be underficod in the exprefs Terms and
Qualifications forefaid. Like as it neither is li-
belled, nor can be proven, that the Pannel. De-
fore he was called and reguired by the Lords of
his Majelty’s Privy-Council to ke the Oath,
did ever, by Word or Practice, ule any reproach-
ful Speeches of the faid A& of Parliament, or of
his Majefty’s Government ; bur bemg required
to take the Oath, he did humbly with all Sub.
miffion, declire what he apprehended to be the
Senfe of the A& of Parlament, enjomning the
Test, and in what Senfe he had Freedom to take

the fame.
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111, The A& of Parliament enjoining the Tef?
does not enjoin the fame to be taken by all Per-
fons whatfoever, but only prefcribes it as a Qua-
lification, without which Perfons could not af-
fume or continue to at in publick Truft : Which
being an Qath to be taken by {o folemn an In-
vocation of the Name of Almighty God, it 1s not
only allowable by the Laws and Cuftoms of all
Nations, and the Opinion of all Divines, and
Cafuifts, Popifh or Proteftant, but alfo commend-
ed, that where a Party has any Scrupulofity, or
Unclearnefs in his Conicience, as to the Matter
of the QOath, that he fhould exhibit and declare
the Senfe and Meaning in which he is willing and
able to take the Oath. And it is not ar all mate-
rial, whether the Scruples of a Man’s Confcience,
in the Matter of an Oath, be in themfelves juft
or groundlefs, it being a certain Maxim, both
in Law and Divinity, that Confcientia etiam er-
ronea ligat : And therefore though the Pannel had
thoughe fit, for the clearing and Exoneration of
his own Confcience, in a Matter of the highelt
Concern as to his Peace and Repole, to have ex-
prefled and declared the exprefs Senfe in which
he could take the QOath, whether the faid Senfe
was confiftent with the A& of Parliament, or
not, yet it does not in the leaft mmport any
Matter of Reproach or Refleftion upon the Ju-
ftice or Prudence of the Parliament in impofing
the faid Oath: But alenarly does evince the
Weakne(s and Scrupulofity of a Man’s Confcience,
who neither did, nor ought to have taken the
Oath but with an Explanation that would have
{aved his Confcience to his Apprehenfion. Other-
wife he had grofly finned before God, even though
it was Confeientia errans, And this is allowed and
prefcribed by all Proteftant Divines, as indifpen-
fably neceflary, and was never thought to 1mport
any Crime, and 1s alfo commended even by Po-
pith Caluilts themfclves, who though they allow,
in fome Cales, of Mental Refervations and Equi-
vocations, yetthe exprefs Declaration of the Senfe
of the Party is allowed and commended, as much
more ingenuous : And ..:tins Remedinm Confcientie
ne lagueetur, as appears by Bellarmine de Fura-
mento, and upon the fame Title de Tnter-
orelatione Furamenti 3 and Leffins, that famous
Cafuitt, de Fuflitia & Fure, Dubitatione §, o,
utrum fi quis falvo animo aliquid Furamento promit-
tat obligetnr, & guale peccatum boe fit. And
which is the general Opinion of all Cafuifts, and
all Divines, as may appear by Amefius, in his
Treatile de Confeientio, Sanderfon de Furamento,
Preleffione fecunda, And fuch an exprefs Decla-
ration of the Senfe and Meaning of any Party
when required to take an Oath, for no other End
but for the clearing and Exoneration of his own
Confcience, was never 1n the Opinion of any
Lawyer, or any Divine, conftrued to be the
Crime of Leafing-making, or of defamatory
Libels, or depraving of publick Laws, or re-
proaching or mifconftruing of the Government:
But on the contrary, by the univerfal Suffrage of
all Proteftant Divines, there is exprefly required,
in Cafes of a {crupulous Confcience, an Abhor-
rence and Deteftation of all referved Senfes, and
of all Amphibolegies and Equivocations, which are
in themfelves unlawful and reprobate, upon that
unan{werable Reafon, that Furamentum being the
higheft A& of Devorion and Religion, i1 ¢o re-
quiritur maxima fuaplicitas 3 and that a Party 13
obliged, who has any Scruples of Conlcience,
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publickly and openly to clear and declare the
fame.

IV. AlDeit it is not controver ted, but that a Le-
giflator, impofing an Oath, cr any publick Au-
thority, before whom the Qath is taken, mas,
after hearing of the Senfe and Explication which
a Perfon is willing to put upon it, cither rejedt
or accept of the fame, if it be conceived not to
be confiftent with the genuine Senfe of the QOath
Yet though it were rejected, it was never heard of,
or pretended, that the Offering of a Senie does
import a Crime, but that notwithftanding there-
of, Habetur pro Recufante, and as if he had not
taken the Qath, and to be liable to the Certifica-
tion of Law, as if he had been a Refuler,

V. The Pannel having publickly and operly
declared the Senfe in which he was fre2 to take
the Oath, 1t 15 offered to be proved, that he was
allowed, and did accordingly proceed tothe taking
the Qath, and did thereafter take his Place, and fic
and vote, during that Sederum of Privy-Council,
So as the pretended Senfe and Explication, which
he did then emit and give, can import no Crime
againft him,

V1. Itis alfo oficred to be proved, That before
the Pannel was required to take the Quath, or did
appear before his Royal Highnefs, and Lords of
Privy-Council, to take the fame, there were a
great many Papers {pread abroad from Perfons,
and Minifters of the Orthodox Clergy 5 and, as
the Pannel is informed, fome thereof prefented
to the Bifhops of the Church, in the Name of
Synods and Prefbyteries, which did, in down-
right Terms, charge the 7eif and Oath with al-
ledged Contradi@tions and Inconfiftencies, And
for Satistaction whereof, fome of the learned and
Reverend Bifhops of the Church did write a learn.
ed and faustying Anfwer, called, A Vindicatisir of
the Telk, for clearing the Scruples, Difficulties and
Miftakes that <were objefied againft if, And which
Vindication and Anfwer was exhibited, and read
before the Lords of his Majefty’s Privy-Council,
and allowed to be printed : And from which the
Pannel argues,

1. That it neither is, nor can be pretended in
this Libel, that the alledged Explication, where-
in he did take the Oath, does propofe the Scruples
of his Conicience in thefe Terms, which were
propofed by the Authors of thefe Objetions,
which do flatly and pofitively affert, that the
Oath and ¢ do contain Matters of Inconfiften-
cy and Contradi€tion ; whereas all that is pre-
tended in this Libel, with the moft abfolute Vio-
lence that can be put upon the Words, is arguing
Implications and Inferences ; which neither the
Words are capable to bear, nor the Sincerity of
the Barl’s Intention and Defign, nor the Courfe
of his by-paft Life can poffibly admit of. And
yet none of the Perfons who were the Authors of
fuch Papers, were ever judged or reputed crimi-
nal or guilty, and to be profecuted for the odicus
and infamous Crimes libelled, of Treafen, Leafii7-
making, Perjury, and the like,

2. The Pannel does alfo argue from the faid
Matter of Fad, that the alledged Explication }i-
belled can neither in his Intention and Dcfign,
nor in the Words, infer or import any Crime
againlt him, becawfe, before his being required,
or appearing to take the Oath, there were {pread
abroad fuch Scruples and Objetions, by fome of
the Orthodox Clergy and others ; fo thar the
Earl can never in any Senfe be conftrued in his

Explica-
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Explication wherein he took the Oath, to have
Jone it animo infamandi, and to declaim againit
the Government : For the Scruples and Obje_&mns
thar were fpread abroad by others, were a fair and
Lacional Occafion why the Farl in any Senfe or
Exolication which he ofiered might have faid,
har he was confident the Parliament never in-
cended to impofe contradiftory Oaths 3 and this
i< (o far from importing the Infinuations and Infe-
cence made by the Libel, that thereby the Parlia-
cient were fo impious as to impole contradictory
Oaths, as on the contrary, confidering the Cir-
comitances fore-mentioned, that there were Papers
{pread abroad, infinuating, that tbere were Incon-
Gitencies and Contradictions contm'necj IIthI'EII] s the
fHid Expreffion was an high Vln'dlCﬂtIOH of the
Honour and Juftice of the Parliament, againit
the Calumnies and Mifreprefentations which were
caft upon it, and was alfo a jult Rife for the Pan-
nel, for the clearing and Exoneration of his own
Confcience, in the various Senfes and Apprehen-
Gons which he found were going abroad as to the
faid Tz, humbly to offer his Senfe, in which he
was clear and fatisfied to take the Oath.

V]I, Tothe Libel, in fo farasit is founded upon
the A& of Parliument, vz, A4E. 130. Par. 8.
Fames V1. declaring, That none thould prefume
(0 impuga the Dignity or Authority of the three
Eftares of Parliament, or procure any Invafion
or Diminutior: thereof, under the Pain of Trea-
fon 5 as alfo, in fo far as it is pretended in the
1ibel, That the Pannel, by oftering the Senfe
and Explication libelled, has affumed the Legii-
lative Power, which Is incommunicable, and has
mate a Law, or Part of a Law,

It is anfwered, The Libel s moft groundlefs
and irrelevant, and againft which the Aét of Par-
liament is opponed, which 1s fo plain and evident
upon the reading thereof, that it neither is nor
can be fubjet to the leaft Cavillation : And the
plain Meaning whereof is nothing elfe but to im-
puga the Authority of Parliaments, as if the King
and Parliament had not a Legiflative Power, or
were not the higheft Reprefentative of tae King-
dom ; or that any of the three Eltates were not
eflentially requifite to conftitute che Parliament.
And belides there is nothing more certain, than
that the Oceafion of the faid Alt, 1t’ being made
was in Relation to the Bifhops and Clergy: And
there is nothing in the pretended Lxplanation,
that can be wrelted to import the lealt Contra-
vention of the faid A&, or to be an 1mpugning
of the threc Eftates of Parliament, or a fzcking
any Innovation therein.  And It is admired, with
what Shadow of Reafon it can be pretended, that
the Pannel has affumed 2 Legiflative Power, or
made 2 Part of a Law, feeing all that 1s contain-
ed in the alledged Explication libelled, 1s only a
Declaration of the EarPs Senfe in which he was
fatisied to take the Quath, and fo refpelted none
but himfelf, and for the clearing of his own
Confcience, which juftly indeed the Word of
God calls a2 Law to himfelf, without any tn-
croaching upon the Legilative Power, And
where was it ever debated, but that a Man i the
taking of an Quath, it as to his Apprehenfions he
thoughe any Thing in it deferved to be cleared,
might declare the fame, or that his exhibiting, at
the Time of the taking of the Oath, his Senfe and
Explication wherein he did take ir, was ever re-
puted or pretended to be the affuming of a Legif-
lative Power, it being the univerfal Practice of all

Jfor Trealon.

founded upon A7 19. Par. 3.
contains nothing bur a Deaclaration of the Pain
of Perjury, and there is nothing in the Explica-
tion hbelled, which can in the lealt be inferred
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Nations to allow this Liberty 5 and which Senfe

may be either rejected or accepted, as the Legifla-
tor fhall think fir, importing no more but a Par-

ry’s private Senfe, for the Exoneration of his own

Confcience ? And as to that Member of the Libel
Queenr Mary, 1t

as a Contravention of the faid A&, in refpett
if it fhould be proved, that the Pannel, at the
Time of the taking of the Oath, did take it in the
Words of the faid Explication, as his Senfc of the
Oath, 1t Is dear that the Senfe being declared at
the Time of taking the Oath, and allowed as the
Senfe wherein it was taken, the Pannel can only
be underftood to have taken it in that Senfe, And
although publick Authority may confider whether
the Senfe given by the Pannel does fatisty the Law
or not, yet that can import no more, though
it was found not to fatisfy, but to hold the Pan-
nel as a Refufer of the Qath : But it 15 ablolucely
impofiible to infer the Crimes of Perjury upon i,
being, as is pretended by the Libel, the Panncl
did only take it with the Dzclaration of the Senfe
and Explication libelled,

VIII. Asthe Explication libelled does not at all
import all, or any of the Crimes contained in the
faid Libel, fo by the common Principles of ail
Law, where a Perfon does emit Words for the
clearing and Lxoneration of his own Confcience,
although there were any Ambiguity, or Unclear-
nels, or Involvednels in the Tenor or Import of
the Exprellions or Words, yet they are ever to be
wnterpreted, luterpretalione benignn & favorabili,
accordiag to ive geneial Principles of Law and Rea-

fen.  And It never was, nor can be refufed to any

Perfon to interpret and put a congruous Senie
upon his own Words, efpectally the Pannel being
a Perfon of emment Quality, and who hath given
oreat Demon{tration, and undeniable Ividences
of his fixt and unalterable Loyalty to his Ma-
1efly’s Intereft and Service, and, at the Time of
emitting the faid Explication, was mvelted and
entrufted in publick Capacities.  And it is a juft
and rational Imterpretation and Caution which
Sanderfon, that judicious and eminent Cafuift gives,
Preleit. 2. That difla & falla principum, parin-
tnm, reflorim, are ever to be looked upon as
benigne Interpretationis, and that Dubia funt inter-
pretaida in meltorenr partem. And there is nothing
in the Explication libelled, which, without Detor-
fion and Violence, and in the true Senfe and De-
fign of the Pannel, is not capable of this benign
Interpretation and Conftruction, efpecially reipect
being had to the Circumftances wherein it was
emitted and given, afier a great many ObjeCtions,
Scruples, and alledged Inconfiltencies, were own-
ed, vented, and fpread abroad, which wasa rife
to the Earl for ufing the Lxpreflions contained
in che pretended Declaration libelled.

IX. Thefe Words whereby it is pretended the
Pannel declares, be was ready to give Obedicnce as

far as be could, firlt, donot in the lealt import,

that the Parliament had impofed any Oath
which was in itfelf unlawful : But only the Pan-
nel’s Scrupulofity and Unclearnefs in Matter of
Confcience, And it is hoped 1t cannot be a
Crime, becaufe all Men cannot go the fame
Length, And if any fuch Thing were argued, it
might be argued ten Times more ftrongly from
a fimple refufing of the Oath, as if any Thing

1 WCIC
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were enjoined which were fo hard thar it is not
poffible to comply with it : And yet fuch Impli-
cations are moft irrational and inconfequential,
and neither in the Cafe of a fimple and abfolute
refuling of the Qath, nor in the Cafe of an Ix-
olication of the Party’s Senfe wherein he is willing
to take the Oath, is there any Impeachment of
the Juftice and Prudence of the Legiflator, who
impofeth this Oath, but fingly a Declaration of
the Scrupulofity and Weaknefs of the Pasty, why
he cannot take the Oath in other Terms : And
fuch Explications have been allowed by the
Laws and Cuftoms of all Nations, and are advi-
fed by all Divines, of whatfoever Principles, for
the Solace and Security of a Man’s Conlcience.

11, Asto that Point of the Explication libeled,
That I am confident the Parliament never intended
to impoje contradictory Oaths 5 1t refpects the tor-
mer Anfwer, which, confidering the plain and
downright ObjeCtions which were {pread abroad,
and made againft the Qath, as containing Incon-
fiftencies and Contradiftions, was an high Vindi-
cation of the Juftice and Prudence of the Parlia-
mene.

111, As to thele Words, Ard therefore I think
0 Bady can explain 1t but bimfelf,  The plain and
clear Meaning is nothing elfe but that the Oath
being impofed by Act of Parliament 1t was of no
private Interpretation : And that therefore every
Man who was o take it, behoved to take 1t in
that Senfe which he apprehended to be the genu-
e Senfe of the Parliament,  And it 1s impoflible,
without impugning common Senfe, that any Man
could take it in any other Senfe, it being as imn-
pofiible to {ee with another Man’s Eyes as to fee
with Lis private Reafon. And a Man’s own private
Senfe and Apprehenfion of the genuine Senfe, was
the only proper Way wherein"any Man could ra-
tionally take the Oath.

And as to thele Words, That be takes 1t as far
as it is confiffent wcith ifelf and the Proteftant Reli-
gion. 'The Pannel netther intended nor expreft
more, but that he did take 1t as a true Proteftant,
and he hopes all Men "ve taken it as fuch,

And as to that Claute, wherein the Pannel s
made to declare, That be does not bind up bimjclf in
his Station, in a lawful IFay, to wifh aid endeavonr
any Alteration be thinks to the Advantage of Church
oi State, nol vepugnan! to the Protefant Religion
and bis Loyalty.

It is anfwered, there is nothing in this Expref-
fion that can import the leaft Crime, or give the
lealt Umbrage for any Miftake. For,

1. 1t is moft certain, 1t is impofiible to elicite
any {uch thing from the Oath, bue that 1t was the
Intention of the Parliament, that Perlons, not-
withftanding of the Oath, might concur in their
Stations, and ina lawful Way, in any Law to the
Advantage of Churchand State, And no rational
Man ever did, or can take the QOath in other
Terms, that being contrary to his Allegtance and
Duty to his facred Majelty and Prince,

o, There is nothing 1o the faid Expreflion which
dozs in the lefft Point at any Alteration in the
Fundamentals of Government, either in Church
or State 3 but, on the contrary, by the plain and
clear Words and Meaning, rather for 10’s Perpetul-
ty, Stability and Security. The Expreffion being
cautioned to the utmoft Scrupulofity, as that it
was to be done in a lawful Manner ;5 that 1t was
to be to the Advantage of Church or State 5 thac
it was iv be confiftent with the Proteftant Religion,

and with his Loyalty, which was no other but the
Duty and Loyalty of all faithful Subjecs ; and
which he has fignally and eminently expreffig
upon all Occafions,  So that how fuch an Expref-
fion can be drawn to import al} or any of (he
Crimes libelled, paffeth all natural Underftanding,

And asto the lalt Words, And this T :mda.»_'ﬂ:r;?d
as a Part of myOath, which is hibelled to be a trea.
fonable Invafion, and affuming of the Legiflative
Power. Itisanfwered, it Is mott unwarrantable
and a Party’s declaring the Senfe and Meaning in
which he was free to take an QOath, does not ar all
refpet or invade the Legillative Power, of which
the Pannel never entertained a Thought, but has
an abfolute Abhorrence and Deteflation of fuch
Practices.  But the plin and clear Meaning i,
that the Senfe and Explication wasa Part. of 4
Oath, and not of the Law impofing the Our,
thefe being as diftant as the two Poles : And whe
Senfe was taken off the Farl’s Hands, and he ac-
cordingly was allowed to take his Place at the
Council-Board, and therefore repeats the former
oeneral Defences, |

find to convince the Lords of Jufticiary, that
there 15 nothing mn the pretended Ixplication li-
belled which can be drawn to import any Crime,
even of the lowelt Size and Degree, and that
there 15 no Expreflion therein contained that can
be detorted and wrefled to import the fame, is
evident {rom that Jearned Vindication publithed
and fpread abroad by an eminent Bithop, and
which was read in the Face of the Privy-Council,
and does contaia Expreflions of the fame Nature,
and to the fame Import contained in the pretend-
ed Explication libelled, as the ground of this In-
dictment libelled againtt che Pannel. And it i3
politively offercd to be proven, that thefe Terms
were given 1n, and read, and allowed tobe print-
ed, and (without king Notice of the whole
Tenor of the fard Vindication, which the Lords
of Jufticiary are humbly defired to perufe, and
confider, and compare the flame with the Expli-
cation libelled) the fame acknowledgeth, that Scro-
ples had been raifed and {pread abroad againft the
Oath 3 and allo acknowledgeth, that there wue
Lxpreflions therein that were dark and obiewe
and likewi{e takes Notice, that the Conteflion rat-
fied, Par. v, James VI, to which the Gath relares,
was haftily made, and takes Notice of that Au-
therity that made 15, and acknowledges in plam
Terms, that the Oath does not hinder any regu-
Jar Endeavour to regulate or beatter the eftablifhed
Government 3 but only prohibits irregular lin-
deavours and Attempts to invert the Subftance ot
Body of the Government 5 and does likewife ex-
plain the A& of Parliament anent his Maj=fty’s
Supremacy, that it does not reach the Alteration
of the external Government of the Church. And
the Pannel and his Proflors are far from infinuas-
ing in the lealt, that there is any Thing in the
faid Vindication but what is confiftent with the
exemplary Loyalty, Piety, and Learning, of the
Writer of the fame.  And though cihers perhajs
may difier in their private Opinion, as to this fo-
terpretation of the A of Parliament ancnr the
King’s Supremacy, yet it were moft ablurd and
irrational 1o pretend, that whether the Mittake
were upon the Interpretation of the Writer, of
the Senfe of others, asto that Point, that fuch
Miftakes or Mitapprehenfions, upon either Hand,
fhould import or infer againft them the Ciimes
ot Lealing-making, or depraving his Majelly’s
I Laws
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Laws: For if fuch Foundations were laid, Judges
and Lawyers had a dangerous Employment, there
being nothing more ordinary than to fall into
Differences and Miftakes, of the Senfe and Mean-
ing of the Laws and Adlts of Parliament, But fuch
Crimes cannot be inferred, but with and under
the Qualifications abovementioned, of malicious
and perverfe Defigns, joined with licentious, wick-
ed and reproachful Speeches fpread abroad, to
move Sedition and Diflike of the Government,
And the faid Laws were never otherwife mterpret-
ed, nor extended in any Cafe, And therefore
the Explication libelled, neither as taken com-
plexly, nor in the feveral Expreffions thereof,
nor in the Defign of the Ingiver of the fame, can
in Law import againft him ail or any of the
Crimes libelled.

In like Manner the Pannel conjoins with the
Grounds abovementioned, the Proclamation iffu-
ed forth by his Majefty’s Privy-Council, which
acknowledges and proceeds upon a Narrative, that
Scruples and Jealoufies were ratfed and fpread
abroad againft the A&t of Parliament enjoining
the Teff. For clearing and Satisfaction whereof,
the faid Proclamation was iffued forth, and s fince
approved by his Sacred Majefty.

iRt it Eoss T Re sty Lo i Rebti Tz Tuu sy

The King's Advocate's Argument and Plea
againft the Earl of Argyle.

IS Maielty’s Advocate, for the Foundation

of his Debate, does reprefent, that his Ma-
jefty, to fecure the Government from the rebel-
lious Principles of the laft Age, and the unjuft
Pretexts made ufe of in this, from Popery, and
other Jealoufies ; as alfo to fecure the Proteftant
Religion, and the Crown, called a Parliament ;
and that the great Security refolved on by the Parlia-
ment was this excellent 7¢sF, in which, that the old
jugling Principles of the Covenant might not be re-
newed, wherein they ftill {wore to ferve the King
in their own Way, the Parliament did pofttively
ordain, that this Qath fhould be taken in the
plin genoine. Meaning of the Words, without
any Evafion whatfoever, Notwith{tanding where-
of, the Earl of Aigyle, by this Paper, does in-
vent a new Way, whereby no Man is at all bound
wit, For how canany Perfon be bound, if eve-
ry Man will only obey it as far as he can, and as
far as he <conceives it confiftent with the Pro-
teftant Religion, and with itfelf, and referve to
nimfelf notwithftanding thereof, to make any
Alteration that he thinks confiftent with his Loy-
alty ? And therefore his Majefty’s Advocate de-
fires to know, to what the Earl of Argyle, or any
Man elfe, can be bound by this 7zf # What the
Magiftrate can expeft, or what Way he can
punilh his Perjury ¢ For if he be bound no far-
ther than he himfelf can obey, or fo far as this
Qath 1s confiftent with the Proteftant Religion or
ttlelf, quomodo constat, 10 whom or what is he
bound ? And who can determine that? Or a-
gainft what Alteration is the Government fecured,
fince he is Judge of his own Alteration # So that
that Oath, that was to be taken without any Eva-
fion, is evaded in every fingle Word or Letter ;
and the Government as infecure as before the At
was made, becaufe the Taker is no farther bound
than he pleafes. From which it cannot be deni-
*d, but his Interpretation deftroys not only this
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Aét, but all Government, fince it takes away the
Security of all Government, and makes every
Man’s Confcience, under which Name there. goes
ordinarily in this Age Humour and Interelt, to
be the Rule of the Taker’s Obedience. Nor can
It be conceived to what Purpofe Laws, but ef-
pecially Qaths, needed to be made, if this were
allowed 5 or how this cannot fall under the 107th
Af, Par. 9. Fames VI, whereby it is ftatured,
That us Man interpiet the Statutes otherwife than
the Maker underflosd. For what can be more
contrary to the taking of them in the Maker's
Senfe, than that every Man fhould obey as far
as he can, and be allowed to take them 1n a gene-
ral Senfe, fo far as they are confiftent with thens-
felves, and the Proteftant Religion, without con-
defcending wherein they do not agree with the
Proteftant Religion? And that they are not bound
not to make any Alteration which they think good
for the States ? For all thefe make the Rule of
Obedience in the Taker, whereas the politive
Law makes it to be in the Maker, Or how could
they be punifhed for Perjury after this Oath ¢
For when he were quarrelled for making Al-
terations againft this Oath, and fo to be perjured 3
he might ealily anfwer, that he took this Oath on-
ly in fo far as it was confiftent with the Proteftant
Religion, and with a Salve, that he might make
any Alteration that he thought confiftent with his
Loyalty. And as to thefe Points, upon which he
were to be quarrelled, he might fay, he did not
think them to be inconfiftent with his Loyalty,
think we what we pleafed, and fo needed not be
perjured, except he pleafed to decide againft him-
felf : For in thefe Generals he referves to himfelr
to be ftill Judge. And this were indeed a fine
Security for any Government, And by the fame
Rule that it lofes this Oath, it fhews a Way of
Jofing all Qathsand Obedience : And confequently
ftrikes at the Root of all Laws, as well as this :
Whereas to fhun all this, not only this excellent
Statute 107, has fecured all the reft, buc this 1s
common Reafon : And in the Opinion of all Di-
vines, as well as Lawvyers in all Nations, Verba
Juramenty intelliguntur fecundum mentem & Inten-
tionem ejus, cui fit juramentum. Which 1s {et down,
as the grand Pofition, by Sanderfon, (whom they
cite) Page 137, and is founded upon that Mother-
Law, Leg. 10. cui interrogatus f. f. de interroga-
tionibus in Ture faciendis 3 and without which no
Man can have Senfe of Government in his Head,
or prac&ife it in any Nation. Whereas on the other
Hand there is no Danger to any tender Conlcience,
fince there was no Force upon the Earl to take the
Oath, but he took it for his own Advantage, and
might have abftained.

1. It is inferred from the above-written Matter
of Faét, that the Earl is clearly guilty of Con-
travention of the 1oth 47, Par. 10. Fames VI,
whereby the Leiges are commanded not to write
any purpofe of Reproach of his Majefty’s Govern-
ment, or mifconftrue his Proceedings, whereby
any Mifliking may be raifed betwixt his Highnels,
his Nobility, or his People. And who can read
this Paper, without feeing the King and the Par-
liament reproached openly in jt ? For who can
hear, that the Oath is only taken as far as 1t 1s
confiftent with itfelf and the Proteftant Religion,
but muft neceffarily conclude, thatin feveral Things
it is inconfiftent with itfelf, and the Proteltant
Religion ? -For if it were not inconfiftent with

itfelf, and the Proteftant Religion, why this Claufe
3 at
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at all but it might have been fimply taken ? For
the only Reafon of hindering it 10 be taken fim-
ply, was becaufe of the Inconfiltency. Ergo there
behoved neceffarily to be an Inconfiftency. Andif
there be any Inconfiftency with the Proteftant Re-
ligion, or any Centradiftion in the Oath wefelf, can
there be any Thing a greater Reproach on the Par-
liament, or a greater Ground of Miflike to the
People ? And whereas it is pretended, that all
Laws and Subfumptions fhould be clear, and thefe
are only Inferences 5 It is anfwered, that there are
fome Things which the Law can only forbid in
oeneral + And there are many Inferences which
are as ftrong and natural, and reproach as foon,
or fooner, than the plainelt Defamations in the
World do : For what is openly faid of Reproach
to the King, does not wound him fo much as
many feditious Infinuations have done in this Age
and the Iaft: So that whatever was the Iarl’s De-
fign (albelt it is always conceived to be unkind to
the A&, againft which himfelf debated in Parhia-
menr) yet certainly the Law in fuch Caies is only
to confider what Effet this may have amongft
the People: And therefore the Alts of Parliament
that were to guard againft the mifconftruing of
his Majefiy’s Government, do not only fpeak of
what was defligned, but where a Difliking may be
caufed 3 and fo judgeth ab ¢ffesfe : And, confe-
quentially to the fame emergent Reafon, it makes
all Things tending to the raifing of Diflike to be
punifhable by the 4 6o. Parl, 6, Queen Mary;
and the gth 47 Parl. 20, Fames V1, So that the
Law defigned to deter all Men by thefe indefinite
and comprehenfive Expreflions : And both 1n this
and all the Laws of Leafing-making, the Judges
are to confider what falls under thefe general and
comprehenlive Words ; nor could the Law be more
ipecial here, fince the Makers of Reproach and
Slander are fo various that they could not be bound
up or expreft in any Law : Butas it evidently ap-
pears, that no Man can hear the Words expreft, if
he believe this Paper, but he muft think, the Par-
liament has made a very ridiculous Qath, incon-
fiftent with itdelf and ae¢ Proteftant Religion, the
Words allowing no other Senfe, and having thar
natural Tendency 3 even asif a Man would fay,
[ love fuch a Man only in {o far as he 1s an honeft
Man, he behoved certainly to conclude that the
Man was not every Way honeft ; fo if’ your Lord-
thips will take Meafures by other Parliaments, or
your Predeceflors, ye will clearly fee, that they
thought lefs than this a defaming of the Govern-
ment, and mifconftruing his Majefty’s Procdeedings.
For in Balmering’s Cale the Juftices find an hum-
ble Supplication made to the King himfelf to fall
under thele Aé&s now cited.  Albeit, as that was
a Supplication, fo it contained the greateft Ex-
preffions of Loyalty, and Ofers of Lifeand For-
tune that could be expreflts yer becanfe it infi-
puates darkly, that the King i the preceding Par-
Jiament had not favoured the Proteftant Religion,
and they were forry he fhould have taken Notes
with his own Hands of what they faid, which
{feems to be moft innocent, yet he was found guil-
ty upon thofe fame very Aés.  And the Parlia-
ment 1661 found “his Lordfhip himfelf guilty of
Leafing-making, though he had only written a Let-
ter to a private Friend, which requires no great
Care nor Obfervation (but this Paper, which was to
be a Partof his own Oath, does) becaule after he
had fpoken of the Parliament in thé firft Part of
this Letter, he thereafter added, tbat the King wonld

ki their Tricks : Which Words might be much
more applicable to the private Perfons therein de-
{igned, than that the Words now infifted on cap
be capable of any fuch Interpretation. And jf
either Interpretations, upon Pretext of exoncrine
of Confcience, or otherwife, be allowed, a Muﬁ
oy eafily defame as much as he pleafes: And have
we not feen the King moft defamed by Covenangs
entered 1nto upon Pretence to make him grear and
glorious, by Remonftrances made to take away
his Brother and beft Friend, upon Pretence of pre-
ferving the Proteftant Religion, and his facred
Perfon? And did not all who rebelled againft him
in the laft Age declare, that they thought them-
felves bound in Duty to obey him, but (till as fap
as that could confift with their Refpeé to the Pro-
teftant Religion, and the Laws and Liberties,
which made all the reft meffeCtual 7 And whercag
it 15 pretended, that by thefe Words, 7 tobe 1w
fame 1 as far as it is confiffcnt with itfelf and th
Proteftant Religion, nothing more is meant, bur
that he takes itas a tree Protellant: His Majeftv's
Advocate appeals to your Lordfhips, and all the
Hearers, if upon hearing this Expreflion they
fhould take 1t in this Senfe, and not rather think:
that there 35 an Inconfiftency. For if that were
poflible to be the fenfe, what need he fay ac all,
as far as 1t 15 confyifent <oith iflf ¢ Nor had the
other Part, as far as it is confistent <cith the Pri-
testant Religion, been necellary,  For it is cither
confiftent with the Proteftant Religion, or other-
wife they were Enemies to the Proteftant Religien,
that made 1t, Nor are any Lawvyers or others in
Danger, by pleading or writing : For thefe are
very difierent from, and may be very eafily plead-
ed without defaming a Law, and an Quth, whin
they go to take it. Bur if any Lawyer fheuld
fay, in pleading or writing, that the 7¢f7 was in-
confiftent, or, which is all one, that it were nct
to be taken by any Man, but fo far as it was con-
Giltent with itfelf, and the Proteftant Religion. ro
doubt this would be a Crime even in pleacing,
though pleading has a greater Alowance than di-
liberate fwearing has.  And as there is nothing
wherein there 35 not {fome Inconventency, fo the
Inconveniency of defaming the Government is
much greater than that of any private Man’s [Ha-
zard, who needs not err except he pleafe,
Whereas It 1s pretended, thar before the Earl
gave in this Explication, there were other Expli-
cations {pread abroad, and Anfwers read to them
in Council 3 and that the Council itfelf gave an
Lxplication. It was anfwered, that if this Paper
be Lealing-making, or mifconftruing his Majetty’s
Proceedings, and treafonable, as is contended,
then a thoufand of the like Offences cannor excuft
it.  And when the King accufed Noblemen, Mi-
nifters, and others, in the Year 1661, for going
on in the Rebellions of that Age, frlt with
the Covenanters, and then with the Ufurpers, i
was found no Defence, that the Nation was over-
grown with thofe Crimes, and that they wese
thought to be Duties in thofe Days, yea, this
were to invite Men to offend in Multitudes, Aad
albeit fometimes thefe who follow the Examples
of Multitudes may thereby pretend chis as an Ex-
cule to many, yet this was never a formal Defence
againft Guilt, nor was -cver the chief of the Of-
fenders favourable on that Head. And it is to be
prefumed, . that the Earl of Argyle would rather

-be followed by others, than that he-would follow
any Example. But his Majefty’s :Advocate does

abfolucly
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decline to debate a Point that may de-
?’fﬂf;ﬁiuf?onﬂant and ftanding Act of Pa_rliaiuent,
by leaving upon Record a Memory of s being
oppofed. Nor werc this relevant, except it could
be {aid, the Council had allowed fuch Explications
which reflefted upon the King qnd the Govern-
ment : For thewriting an Anfwer is no Allowance,
hue 2 condemning :  Nor can .thf: Council allm}r
any more than they can remit: Ar}d though 1t
may juftly be denied thar the Council heard even
the Farl’s own Explanation, yet the hearing or al-
lowing him to fit is no relevant Plea, becaufe they
might very jultly have taken a Time to conlider
how far it was fit to accule upon that Head.
And it is both juft and fit for the Council to take
Time 5 and by exprefs Act of Parliament the
Negligence of the King’s Officers does not bind
them. For if this were allowed, leading Men in
the Council might commit what Crimes they pleafed
in the Council, which certainly the King may
quarrel many Years after, And though all the
Council had allowed him that Day, any one Officer
of State might have quarrelled 1t the next Day.
As to the Opinion of Bellarmine, Sanderfon, and
others, it is ever contended, that the Principles of
the Covenant agrec very well with thofe of the
Jefuits, and both do &ill allow Equivocations and
Evalions: But no folid orthodox Divine ever al-
Jowed, that 2 Man who was to {wear without any
Evafion, thould {wear fo as he i1s bound to no-
thing, as it is contended the Farl is not, for the
Reafons reprefented,  And as they flill recom-
mend, that when Men are not clear they might
sbftain, as the Earl might have done in this Cafe,
fo they ftill conclude, that Men fhould te]l in
clear Terms, what the Senfe is by which they are
bound to the State: Whereas the Earl here tells
only in the general, and in moff ambiguous Terms,
that he takes it as far as he can obey, and as far
a5 it is confiftent with the Proteftant Religion, and
that he takes it in his own Senfe, and that he is
not bound by it from making Alterations, but as
far as he thinks it for the Advantage of Church
or State : Which Senfe is a thoufand times more
doubtful than the 7ef#, and as in Effect nothing but
what the Taker pleafes himfelf, _
Asto the Treafon founded on, his Majefty’s
Advocate founds it firlt upon the fundamental and
common Laws of this and all Nations, whereby it
is Treafon for any Man to make any Alteration
he fhall think for the Advansage of Church or
State:  Which he hopes is a Principle cannor be
denied in the general, And whereas it 1s pretend-
ed, that this cannot be underftood of mean Alte-

Jfor Trealon,
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obey him no otherwife than as far as his Com-
mands are confiftent with the Law of God, of
Nature, and of this Kingdom, and with the Co-
venant : And their T'reafon lies in this, And when
it isafked them, who fhall be Judge in this, they
ftill make themfelves Judges. And the Reafon of
all Treafon being, that the Government is not
fecure, it is defired to be known, what way the
Government can be fecured after this Paper, fince
the Earl 1s flill Judge how far he is obliged, an
what 1s his Loyalty, And if this had been fuffi-
cient, the Covenant had been a very excellent Pa-
per : For they are there bound to endeavour, in
their feveral Stations, to defend the King’s Perfon :
But when the King challenged them, how they
came to make War againft him ? their great Re-
fuge was, that they were themfelves ftill Judges
as to that, And for iluftrating this Power, the
Lords of Jufticiary are defired to confider, guid
Furis, if the Earl, or any Man elfe fhould have
referved to himfelf in this Oath a Liberty to rife in
Arms, or to oppole the lineal Succeffion, though
he had added 7u a lewful manuer : For the Thing
being n itfelf unlawful, this is but tham, and Pro-
teftatio comraria fafle, And if thele be vnlawful,
notwithftanding of fuch Additions, fo much more
muft this general Relervation, of making any Al-
terations, likewife be unlawful, notwithftanding of
thefe Additions: For he that referves the general
Power of making any Alteration, does, 2 fortiori,
referve Power to make any Aleration, though ne-
ver fo fundamental. For all Particulars are in-
cluded in the general; and whatever may be faid
againft the Particulars, may much more firongly
be faid againft the General.

2. The rgoth A&, Par, 8. Fames VI, is ex-
prefly founded on, becaufe nothing can be a great-
er Diminution of the Power of the Parliament,
than to introduce a Way or Mean whereby all
their Aéts and Oaths fhall be made infignificant
and ieffeCtual, as this Paper does make them,
for the Reafons reprefented, Nor are any of the
Eftates of Parliament fecure at this Rate, but
that they who referved a general Power to make
all Alterations, may, under that General, come
to alter any of them,

3. What can be a greater impugning of the
Dignity and Authority of Parllaments, than to
fay, that the Parliament has made Adls for the
Security of the Kingdom, which are in them-
felves ridiculous, inconfiftent with them{elves and
the Proteftant Religion?

And as to what is anfwered again{t invading
the King’s Prerogative, and the Legiflative Power

rations, and of Alterations to be made 1n a lawful
Way: It is anfwered, that as the Thing itfelf is
Treafon, fo this Treafon is not taken off’ by any
of thefe Qualifications; becaufe he declares, he
will with and endeavour any Alteration he thinks
fit: And any Alteration comprehends all Altera-
tions that he thinks fit: nam propofilto indefinita
cquipollet univerfali. And the Word auy 15 gene-
ral in it’s own Nature, and is in plain Terms a re-
ferving to himfelf to make Alterations, both
oreat and fmall. And the Reftriction is not, all
Aleerations thae the King fhall think fit, or are
confiltent with the Laws and Acts of Parliament;
but he is till to be Judge of this, and his Loyalty
is to be the Standard. Nor did the Covenanters
in the lalt Age, nor do thefe who are daily exe-
cuted, decline that they are bound to obey the

King, fimply, but only that they are bound to
Vor, IIL

in Parliaments, in adding a Part to an Qath or
Act, is not relevantly inferred, fince the Senfe of
thefe Words, and this 1 underfland as a Part of my
Oath, 1s not to be underftood as if any thing were
to be added to the Law, but only to the Oath,
and to be an Interpretation of the Qath, It is re-
plied, that after this no Man needs to add a Cau-
tton to the Qath in Parliament, But when he
comes to take the Qath, do the Parliament what
they pleafe, he will add hkis own Part, Nor can
this Part be looked upon asa Senfe: For if this
were the Senfe before this Paper, he needed not
underftand 1t as a Parc of it, for it wanted not
that Part. And in general, as every Man may
add his own Part, fo the King can be fecure of
no Part. But your Lordfhips of Jufticiary are
defired to confider, how dangerous it would be in
this Kingdom, and how ill it would found in any
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other Kingdom, that Men fhould be allowed to
referve to themfelves Liberty to make any Alte-
ration they thought fit in Church or State, as to
the Legality of which, they were themfelves to be
Judges: And how far, from Degree to Degree,
this at lat may come to abfolute Anarchy, and
how fcandalous a thing, as well as unfecure, this
new Way may look in an Age wherein we are
too much .tracing the Steps of our rebeilious
Progenitors in the laft, whofe great Defellion
and Error was, that they thought themfelves, and
not the King, the Authors of Reformation in
Church and State, And no Man ever was barred
by that, that the Way he was upon was not a
Jawful Way : For if 1t be allowed to every Man
to take his own Way, every Man will think his
own Way to be the lawful Way.

As to the Perjury, it is founded on this, firtl,
That Perjury may be committed, not only by
breaking an Qath, but even in the fwearing of i,
viz., to [wear it with fuch Evalions as make the
Qath ineffetual: For which Sauderfon is cited,
Pag, 138. Alterum Perjuris genus est nyvo aliguo cx-
copitato Commeitto Furamenti vim declinare, aut elu-
dere, € Furans tenetur fub pana Perjuril smplere
Secundum Intentionem deferentis y both which are
here. For the Earl being bound by the very
Qath, to {wear in the genuine Meaning, without
any Evafion, he has {fworn fo as he has evaded
every Word, there being not one Word to which
it can be faid particularly he is bound, as is faid.
And it 1s undeniable, that he has not {worn in the
Senfe of the Makers of the Law, but in his own
Senfe, which is Perjury, as is faid.  And confe-
quentially, whatever Senfe may be allowed in am-
biguous Cafes, yet there can be none where the
Paper clearly bears Generals: And where he de-
clares, that he takes 1t in his own Senfe, his Ma-
jelty’s Advacate declares, he will not burden him-
felf, that Copies were difpertt, though it is certain,
fince the very Paper itfeif by the giving in Is char-
geable with all that is above charged upon i,
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Sir John Dalrymple’s Defence and Plea for the Earl
of Argyle, by Way of Reply npon the King’s
Advocale,

S IR Fobn Dalrymple replies for the Pannel, That
fince the folid Grounds of Law adduced in the
Defences have received no particular Anfwers, in
Relation to the common Confent of all Cafufts,
wz, That a Party who takes an Qath is bound
in Confcience to clear and propofe the Terms and
Senfe in which he does underftand the Oath : Nor
m Relation to the {everal Grounds adduced concern-
ing the legal and rational Interpretation of dubious
Claufes. And fince thefe have received no An-
fwers, the Grounds are not to be repeated: Buc
the Proftors for the Pannel do farther infift on
thefe Defences.

1, *Tis not alledged, that any Explanation was
given in by the Pannel to any Perfon, or any
Copy {pread, before the Pannel did take the 7
in Council : So that it cannot be pretended, that
the many Scruples that have been moved concern-
ing the Teft, did arife from the Pannel’s Expli-
cation: But on the contrary, all the Objetions
that are anfwered, and obviated in the Pannel’s
Explication, were not only privately muttered,
or were the Thougls of fingle or illiterate Per-

I
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fons, but they were the Difficulties propofed by
Synods and Prefbyteries, long before the Panne)
came from home, or was required to take the
Teft : So that the general Terms of the Ats of
Parliament founded upon in the L.ibel are not
applicable to this Cafe: For as thefe Laws, in
relation to Leafing-makers, are only relative to
atrocious witful Infinuarions, or Mifconitrutions
of his Majetty’s Perfon or Government, or the
open depraving of his Laws, fo the reftrictive
Claufe, awbhereby Sedition or Miftonftruttions may be
moved, raifed, or engeidered betiixt bis Maefly
and bis Leiges, cannot be applied to this Cafe,
where all thefe Apprehenfions and Scruples were
on Foot, and agiated long before the Pannel’s
Explanation.

As 1t cannot be pretended, that any new Duft
was raifed by the Pannel’s Explanation, fo it i
pofitively offered to be proved, that there is not
one Word contained in this Explanation, but that
either thefe individual Words, or much worfe, had
been publickly propofed, and werdatin read in
Council, without the leaft Difcouragement, or
the leaft Objeltion made by any Member of the
Council.  And wherea Writing, ex propofite read
in fo high a Court, was univerfally agreed upon,
withour the Alteration of a Syllable, how can it
be pretended, that any Perfon thereafter ufing
the faid individual Terms many Explanation, and
far cafier Terms, that they fhall incur the high
and infamous Crimes libelled ? And the Queftion
is not here, whether the Council was a proper Ju-
dicature to have propofed, or impofed a Senfe,
or allowed any Explanation of the 727 to be pub.
lifhed 5 but that is impoffible that a Senfe they
allowed, or being publickly read before them,
and which the King’s Advocate did not controul,
that this fhould 1mport Treafon, or any Crime:
And though the Pannel’s Advocate will not purfue
or follow the Reply that has been made to this
Point, yet certainly no Man of fober Senfe will
think that 1t is fit to infinuate, that {o high a Ju-
dicature might have authorized or acquiefced in
fuch Explanations as the Leiges thereafter {hould
be entrapped to have uled.

If the Pannel had officioufly or ultroneoufly
offered a Senfe or Explanaion of his Majelty’s
Laws, which the Laws themfelves could not have
born, it might juftly have been alledged, that
he was extra ordinem, and meddling in a Matter
he was not concerncd in, but where the A& of
Council did enjoin, and he was required and cited
to that Effeét, it could neither be conftruted as
Oftentation, or to move or encourage Scruples,
or Refiftance, but it was abfolutely neceffary, ei-
ther for to have refufed the T¢ff, or elfe to have
declared what he thought to be the true and ge-
nuine Meaning of 1. And there being fo many
Objettions publickly moved and known, his Ex-
planation was nothing elfe but to clear, that he
did not look upon thele Scruples and Obietions,
moved by others, as well founded and rattonal
themlielves 3 and therefore he was able to take the
Teft in that Senfe the Council had heard or al-
lowed. And it is not controverted, that the Senle
of the Legiflator is the genuine Senfe both of
Laws and Oaths: And if a Perfon were only inter-
preting the Meaning of either a Law or an Oath
impofed, he fhould deprave and mifconftruct the
Law and Oath, if he rendered it wittingly and
wiilingly in Terms inconfiftent with the Meaning

of the Impofer : But there isa great Difference be-
EWIKE




+

1681, Scotland.

twixt taking of Oaths, and interpreting Oaths
for when a Man comes to take an Oath, except
his particular Senfe did agree wih the genuine
Meaning of the Impoler, he cannot take that
Oath, though he may very well interpret and de-
clare what is the Senfe of the Legiflator, which he
may know, and yer perhaps not be able to take

Oath. '
EhEAnd thercfore when there is any Doubtfulnels

in an Qath, and a Party s bound to take it.,_ if
then he gives in an Explication f-‘f the Senfe which
he in his private Judgment dﬂu} apprehend (o be
the genuine Meaning, if that private Senfe be dif-
conform to the Legiflator’s Senle 1n the Oath,
then the Impofer of the Odth,_ or he that has
Power to ofier it to the Party, if he confider the

Party’s Senfe difconform, he ought to rejelt .the
Oarh, as not fulfilling the Intent of the Law im-

ne 1.
Pogu?it is impolfible to ftate that as a Crime,
that a Party thould netcher believe whar s pro-
pofed in the Qath, nor be able to take it; and he
can run no farther Hazard, but the Penalgy im-
pofed upon the Refufer. And therefore in all
Oaths there mult be a Concourfe both 01"_ the
Senfe impofed by Authority, and of the private
Senfe, Judgment, or Conicience of the Pary.
And therefore if a Party thould take an Qath in
the Senfe propofled by Authority contrary to his
own Senfe, he were perjured : Hereby it is evident
that the Senfe of Authority is not fuflicient, with-
out the Acquieicence and Confent of the private
Perfon, And therefore 1t is very firange, why
that Part of the Pannel’s Explanation fhould be
challenged, that he takes it in his own Senfe, the
pofterior Words making it as plain as the Lighe,
that that Senfe of his own is not what he pleafes
to make of the Oath, for it bears exprelly, that
no body can explain it but for hipﬂclﬂ and recon-
cile itas it is genuine, and agrees In it’s own Senfe :
So that there muft be a Reconciliation betwixt his
own Senfe and the genuine Senle, which upon all
Fands is acknowledged to be the Senfe of Autho-
rity.  And if the Pannel had been of thefe lax
and debauched Principles, that he might have
evaded the Meaning and Energy of the Oath, by
impofing upon it what Senfe he plealed, certainly
he would have contented himfelf in the gencral
Refuge of Equivocation, or Mental Refervation,
and he would. never have expofed his Senfe to the
World, in which he took this Oath, whereby he
became abfolutely fixed and determined to the
Oath, 1 that particular Senfe, and fo had no
Latitude of fhuffling off the Energy or Obliga-
tion of the Qath: And it is likewife acknow-
ledged, that the Cafes alledged in the Reply are
true, iz, That the Per{on 15 guilty of Perjury,
Ji aliguo sovo Commento he would elude his Qarh,
or who doth not fulfil the Oath in the Senfe of
the Impoler. But that does not concern this
Cafes For in the forefaid Citation, a Perfon, after
he has taken an Oath, finding out fome new
Conceiz o elude it, he is perjured: But in this
Cafe, the Pannel did at and before his taking the
Teit, declare the Terms in which he underftood
it; fo that this was not wove aligne Commento to
elude it. And the other Cale, where 2 Party
takes it in the Senfe of Authority, but has fome
lubterfuge, or concealed Explanation, it is ac-
knowledged to be Perjury, But in this Cafe
there was no concealed Explanation ; but it was
publickly expreft, and an Explanation given,
Vou. 1iL,

for Treafon.
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which thc: Pahne] defigned, and underflood as
the Meaning of Authority, and had Ground 1o
bEllﬁV? he was not miftaken, fince upon that Ex-
Planation he was received and allowed to fir and
vote In Councjl,

And as to that Part of the Reply, that explains
the Treafon, there can be no ‘T'reafon in the Pan-
nel’s Cafe, becaufe the exprefs At of Parliament
founded upon, doth relate only to the Conftitu-
tion of the Parliament: And I am fure his Maje-
fty’s Advccate cannot fubfume in thefe Terms -
And therefore in the Reply he recurs to the ge-
neral Grounds of the Law, that the ufurping of
his Majefty’s Authority, in making a Part of the
Law, and to make Alwerations in general, and
without the King, are high and treafonable Words
or Deligns, and fuch as the Party pleafes, and
luch Defigns as have been practifed in the late
Times.  And that even the Adjeétion of fair and
lafe Words, as in the Covenant, does not fecure
from treafonable Defigns ; and that it was fo
found in Balmerino’s Cafe, though it bear a fair
Narrative of an humble Supplication,

Itis replied, that the Ufurpation of making of
Laws is undoubtedly treafonable, but no fuch
Thing can be pretended or fubfumed in this Cafe -
For albeit the Pannel declares his Explanation to
be a Part of his Oath, yet he never meaned o
unpofe it as a Part of the Law, or that this Ex.
planaticn thould be a Thing diftin&, or a leparate
Part even of his Oath, for his Explanation being
exegelick of the feveral Parts of the Oath, it is no
diftin€t Thing from the Quth, but declared to be
a Part of the Oath de natura rei,  And it was ne-
ver pretended, that he that alledged any thing to
be de natura sei, did fay, that that was diffind
and feparate, which werc a Contradi®ion, And
therefore the Argument is retorted, the Panncl
having declared, this Explanation was, d2 satura
ret, mplied in the Oath, he neceffarily made this
Explanation no Addition or Extention of the
Oath.  So that for all this Explanation, the Oath
is neither broader nor longer than it was.

And as to thefe Words, 1 do w6t mean to bind
up myfelf 1ty Station, and in a lawful Way, 10
wifl) and endeavour any Alteration T think 1o the Ad-
vantage of Chburch or State, not repugnant 1o the
Protefiant Religion, and my Loyalty. Tt is a firange
thing how this Claufe can be drawn in Queftion,
as treafonable, when it may with better Reafon
be alledged, that there is no good Subject but i
bound to fay it,  And albeit the Words 70 endea-
vour 1 my Station, be Words contained in the
Covenant, yet that is no Reafon why two Words
in the Covenant may not be made ule of in ano-
ther very good and loyal Senfe,  And there is no
Man that fhall have the Honour either to be en-
trufted by his Majefty in his Council, or any
other Judicature, or 1o be a Member of Parlia-
ment, but he is bound by his Loyalty to fay the
fame thing.  And there was never a Chufe more
cautioufly expreft 5 for the Words run, #o endeavour
any Alteration 1 fball think to the Advantage of
Church and State, And though that was fufficient,
yet the Claule is fo cautioufly conceived, that it
contains another Reftriction, wef repugnant to Re-
ligion and bis Loyalty. So that except it could be
alledged, that a Man by lawful Means, to the Ad-
vantage of Church and State, confiftent with his
Religion and Loyalty, could make treafonable
Alterations, and Invafions upon the Government
and Monarchy, which are the higheft Contradic-
Nnn 2 ttons
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tions imaginable, there can be nothing againft the
Pannel.  And albeic the Claule, any Alterations,
might, without the Reftrictions and Qualifications
forefaid, Le generally extended, yet the preceding
Words of law/i! fVay, and the rational Interpre-
tation of the Eimiffion of Words, efpecially before
a folemn Judicatory, leaves no Place or Shadow
to doubt, that thele Alterations were no funda-
mental or treafonable Alrerations, but {uch as the
Frailty of human Afiairs and Conftiturions, and
Viciffitude of Things and Circumf{tances, do con-
ftantly require in the moft exaét Conftitutions un-
der Heaven.  And the Claufe does not fo much
as import, thac there is a prefent Neceflity of Al-
teration, but it was a neceflary and rational Pro-
fpet, that albeit at prefent all things under Hea-
ven had been done to {ecure the Religion and Go-
vernment, yet there might occur Cales that would
require new Helps, Alterations, and Remedies.
And it is not pretended in this Cafe for the Pannel,
that he delires to alleviate, or rake off Words
truly treafonable, or having an ill Defign, by the
mixing of fair and lafe, dutiful and {ubmifhive
Iixpreflions, which indeed are Proteftations con-
trarie faJo, For there 15 nothing in his Kxplana-
tion, that either in his Defign, or in the Words
themfelves, being rationally and naturally inter-
preted, can infer the Crimes libelled, or any of
them, And the Pannel’s known Principles and
known Praflices, do not only clear that Loyaly
that he has profeft before the Lords of Jufticiary,
and Inftructed by unqueftionable Documents, but
they put him far from the Sufpicion of thefe
damnable Principles related in the Reply, of which
the whole Traét of his Life hath been an entire
Evidence of lis Abhorrency and Deteltation.
And in the laft Place, it is thought {trange, why
that fhould be reprelented as an Affront or Dil-
crace 10 the Government, that the Parliament im-
poled a Teff which the Pannel 1s not able to take
fimply.  And it is not pretended, that he hath de-
famed, written or fpoken againdt the Ted felf,
or for the Inconvenience of it s but only that he
hath not been able ¢ ice the good Ground upon
which 1t may be Gmply taken. And this were
to condemn him for want of Sight or Senfe, when
the Law hath punifhed no Man for not taking
the est, but only turned him out of the Govern-
ment.  And it is as ftrange an Inference, that
becaufe the Pannel declares, he believes the Par-
Iwment meaned no Contradiction and would take
the TesZ, n as faras it is confittent, that therefore
he faid, the Parliament impofed Contradi@ions
Which is fo far from a rational Induétion, that the
Contradiction of thefe Subfumptions, in all Con-
gruity of Language and Senfe, is neceffurily true,
And therefore the Jaft Part of that Claufe, in /o
far asit 15 corfulent, 1s a Confequence inferred upon
the former, wiz. I believe the Parliament defigned
to impole no Contradiftions: Ergo, 1 take the Te7
as confiftent, and in fo far as it muft be confiftent,
it the Parliament did not impofe Contraditions,
as certainly they have not; and to convince the
World, that in this Senfe rthis Explanation js re-
cetvable, 1t was propofed in Council, and allow-
ed, and therefore without the higheft Reflection
it cannot now be quarrelled,

Sir Gzﬁrge Lockhart’s fecond Plea for the Farl of
Argyle, by way of Reply upon the King's ddvocate,

11X George Lockhart duplies, That the Defender
repeats and oppones his former Defences,
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which are no ways elided, nor fatisfied by the
Reply made by his Majefty’s Advocate, And
although 1t be ealy for the King’s Advocate, out
of his Zeal, to pretend and argue Crimes of the
highelt Nature upon Inferences and Confequences,
neither confitent with the Pannel’s Defign, nor
with his Words and Expreflions 5 yet there can-
not be a more dangeious Foundatien laid, for
the Security and Intereflt of the Government, ang
the Security and Protection of the Subjeéts, than
that Crimes fhould be inferred but from clear,
evident, and exprefs Laws, and plain, palpable
Contravention of thefe Laws: It being both a-
gain{t the Laws of God and Man, that a Man
fhould be made an Offender for a Word, and
cfpecially tor Expreffions which, according to
Senfe and Reafon, and confidering the Time and
Place where they were fpoken by the Pannel,
viz. as a Member of his Majelly’s Privy-Councll,
ana 1n Prefence of hus Royal Highnefs and the
Members of Council, and when required to take
the Tes?, were fafe and- innocent: And it were
againft all Law and Reafon, to fuppofe that the
Pannel cither did, or defigned to do any thing
which may, or durl import the Crimes libelled
agatn{t him.  And whereas it is pretended, that
the Oath required and impoled by Aé of Par-
hament was for the Security of the Government ;
and that the Pannel, by his Explication, does
evade the Qath, by taking it only fo far as it is
confiftent with the Proteftamt Religion, and his
own L.oyaity, whereof he was Judge, It is an-
{wered, that the Pretence 15 molt unwarrantable,
and the Security of his Majefty’s Government is
not at all endangered (as God forbid it (houki)
though the Pannel, and a thoufand meore had
fimply refufed the ez, or had taken it in a
enle which does not fausfy the Law; it being
competent to publick Authority to  confider,
whether the Pannel’s Quaih, in the Terms: of the
Lixpitcation wherein he did rtake ir, does fatisfy
the Act of Parliament or not; and if not, there
can be no ratonal Confequence inferred there.
upon, but that he 15 holden as a Refuler of the
Ouath, and liable o the Certification of the A&
of Parliament, of not affuming and continuing
in any publick Troft: And no more was intended
or defigned by the At of Parliament itfelf, than
ftriCtly to make the Oath in the true and genuine
Senfe and Meaning of the Parliament, an indif-
penfable Qualification of Perfons admitted to
publick Truft : So that it is not at all material to
difpute, whether the Panncl’s Explication can
¢ looked upon as a full Satisfaction of the A,
which whether it fhould or not, it can import
no Cnime againft him, it not being confiftent
with Senfe and Reafon, that a Perfon who abfo-
lucely refufeth the Te7, upon the Scrupulofity of
his Confcience, albeit he be not capable of pub-
lick Truft, thould be, notwithftanding, looked
upon as guilty of no Crime: And yet another
who was willing to go a greater Length, albeir
he did demur and {cruple as to the full Length,
that he fhould be reputed criminal and guilty of a
Crime,

i1. The Pannel repeats and conjoins with this
the Grounds above-mentioned, contained in his
Defences, wiz. That neither the Crimes libelled,
nor any other Crime, were ever pretended or
made ule -of againfl any others, who did fpread
abroad Objections of an high Nature, which yet
were fo favourably looked upon, as to be con-

ftrued only to proceed from Scrupulofity of Con-
{cience,
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{cience, as alfo the Satisfaction endeavoured, is in
fuch Terms, and by fuch Condefcenfions, .as do
take in and juftify the whole Terms of the Ex-
plication libelled.

It is of great Moment, and whereof the Lords
of Jufliciary are delired to take {pecial Notice,
both for clearing the abfolute Innocence of the
Pannel’s Meaning and Intention, and to take off
all poffible Mifconftruction that can be wrefted
or detorted from the Tenor and Exprflioens of
the libelled Explication, that the Pannel was puc
to, and required to take the Oath, before the
Lords of his Majefty’s Privy-Council did pafs
and publifh their Proclamation explaining the
Qath, and declaring the genuine Sente and Mean-
ing thereof, namely, that it did not tie to the
whole Articles of the Confeffion of Fuith, ratified
by Act of Patliament, Fames VI. and which, as
to feveral Articles thereof, had occalioned the
Scruples and Difficulties, and alledged Inconfi-
ftency and Contradittion betwixt the laft Part of
the Oath and the {aid Confeffion, and betwixt fome
of thele Articles, and the Current of the Prote-
ftant Doctrine, received and contamned in the Syxn-
tagma of the Proteftant Confeflions, And there-
fore if the Pannel at that Time did think fit, for
the clearing and Exoneration of his own Confcience,
to ufe the Kxpreflions in the Explication libelled,
and yet with fo much Duty and Confidence of the
Parliament’s Juftice, as to their Meaning and In-
tention, fhat the Parliament never intended to 1m-
pofe contradiciory Oaths 5 and that he did take it fo
far as it was confiStent with stfelf, and the Prote-
Stant Religron, not knowing then, whether the
whole Confeffion was to be reputed a Part of the
Oath, and doubting there anent 5 and which the
Lords of his Majlty’s Privy-Council and his fa-
cred Majefty by his Approbation fince, have
thought a Difficulty of fo grear Moment, as it
was fir to clear the fame by a publick Proclama-
tion 5 how now is it poflible, that any Judicatory
under Heaven, which proceeds upon the {olid
Grounds of Law and Reafon, and who (it cannot
be doubted) will have a juft Regard to the intrin-
fick Principles of Juftice, and to all Men’ Secu-
rity, that they can now believe all, or any of the
Crimes libelled, fhould be in the lealt inferred
irom all, or any of the Expreflions contained in
the fawl Explication ¢ But that on the contrary it
was a warrantable Allowance, and Chriltian Prac-
tice, condemned by the Law and Cuftom of
no Nation, that having Scruples in the Matter of
an Oxeth which fhould be taken in Truth, Fude-
menty and Righteoufnefs, and upon full Deliberation,
and with a full Affurance and Sincerity of Mind,
that he did plainly, openly, and clearly declare
tne Senfe in which he was willing to take it 3 and
if Authority did allow it as the genuine Senfe of
the Oath, the Pannel to be holden as a Taker of
the Qath : Andif upon farther Confideration, Au-
thority think not, that babetur pro Recufante, and
a Refufer of the Qath, but no Ways to be look-
ed upon as a Criminal or guilty Perfon.

And the Pannel repeats and conjoins with this
Point of the Reply, that Point in his Defence
whereby he pofitively offers to prove, 1. That
his Explication, and the Senfe wherein he took
the Oath, was heard, and publickly given and re-
ceived in Council, and the Pannel thereafter allow-
ed to take his Place, and fit and vote in that
Sederunt,

2. The Pannel alfo offers pofitively to prove,

for Trealon.
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T'hat the Tenor and Terms of his Senfe and Expli-
cation wherein he did take the Oath, is contained
i that folid, Jearned, and pious Vindication,
written by the Bithop of Edenburgh, in anfwer to
the Objections and alledged Inconfiftencies and
Contradiétions in the Oath, and which Vindica-
tion was publickly read in Council, and fo far
approved, that 1t was allowed to be printed and
publifhed, and was accordingly difperfed and
{pread abroad, And it is not of the leaft Import,
that the Proclamation of the Lords of Privy-
Council, although it does only allow the fame to
be taken by the Clergy, yer at the fame Time
they exprefly declare the genuine Senfe and Mean-
ing of the Parliament not to comprehend the
whole Articles of the Confeffion, which was not
cleared before the Pannel’s taking his Oath,

And whereas it is pretended, That the Aéts of
Parliament libzlled upon, againft Leafing-makers,
Depravers of his Majelty’s Laws, do obtain and
take place, where-ever there are any Words or 1£x-
preflions that have a Tendency in themielves, or
by a natural Confequence, and rational Inferences,
to refle€t upon the Government, or milconltrue
his Majelty’s Proccedings ; and that the Lxplca-
nion libelled 1s fuch, and that 1t was found fo
in the Cale of Balmerino, albeit 1t was drawn up
by way of humble Pectition and Addrefs to his
Majefty, and with great Proteflations and Ix-
preflions of Loyalty. It 15 anfwered, the Acts
of Parliament libelled upon are opponed, and
the 43d A%, Par. 8. Fames VI, and the other Adls,
making the depraving of his Majelty’s Laws to
be Crimes, do exprefsly require, that Speeches fo
judged be perverfe and licentious Speeches, ex sia-
tura fiua probrofa and reproachful, and fpoke aniing
defamandi, and which could not recetve any other
rational Conftruction, which cannot i the leaft
be applied to, or fubfumed upon the Words,
or Explication gtven in by the Pannel. And Law
and Reafon never infers or prefumes a Crime,
where the Thing is capable of a fair and rational
Conftruétion, and where it was done pelam and
publickly, and in Prefence of his Majelty’s Righ
Commiffioner, and Lords of his Mujelty’s Privy
Council, whereof the Pannel had the Honour to
be a Member, Perfons commitiing and defigning
to commit Crimes making ufe of Times and
Places, and Companies of another Nature, cn
whom their Suggeftions and Infinuations may pre-
vail. Butit is a Violence to the common Reafon
of Mankind, to pretend, that a Perfon of the
Pannel’s Quality, having the Honour to ferve
his Majefty in moft eminent Capacities, and de-
voted to his Majefty’s Interelt and Service, be-
yond the ftri¢teft Ties of Duty and Allegiance,
by the tranfcendent Favours be had received, that
the Pannel in thofe Circumftances, and In
Prefence of his Royal Highnefs and Lords of
Privy-Council, thould defign to declaim, and dr
faflo, declaim againft and defame his Majelty’s
Government : To fuppofe this is abfolutely con-
tradictory to the common Principles and Pradtices
of Law, and common Topicks of Realon,

And as to Balmering's Cafe, it is anfwered,
that the Lords of Jufticiary are humbly deflired
to call for and perule the faid Pctition and Books
of Adjournal, which was certainly a defamatory
Libel of his Majefty’s Father, of blefled Memo-
ry, and of the States of Parliament in the higheft
Degree, bearing exprefsly, that there was nothing
defigned but an Innovation of the Proteflant Re-
3 ligiom,
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ligion, and the Subverfion and over-turning the
Liberties and Privileges of the Parliament, and
the Conftitutions of the Articles, and other Things
of that Kind, which made certainly of itfelf a
moft villainous and execrable L.ibel, containing the
highelt Crimes of Treafon and Perdrellion, and was
not capable of any good Senfe or Interpretation,
but was abfolutely pernicious and deftructive : Se
that it is in vain to pretend, that the fatd Libel did
contain Prefaces and Proteftations of Loyalty,
which no Law regards, even s fimplict vijuria &
maledifio, though committed by a private Perfon,
ctm prafatione falvo honore, or the like, and which
were certainly ridiculous to fpftain in a Libel con-
cerning Crimes of Treafon,

And whereas it 13 pretended, that though others
were gulley of thefe Crimes, it does not excuole
the Earl: And that the Lords of Privy-Council
cannot remit Crimes 3 and the Neghgence of the
King’s Officers cannot prejudge his Intereft, It
is anfwered, The Pannel is very confident, that
neither the Lords of his Majelty’s Privy-Council,
confilting of Perfons of emiment Loyalty and
Judgment, nor his Majefty’s Officers, were capa-
ble of any fuch Efcape as is pretended : And 1t the
Tenor of the Pannel’s Liplication did in the
leaft import the high and infamous Crimes libel-
fed, as beyond all peradventure it does not, it
were ftrange, how the {ame being contained 1
the forefaird Vindication, and the whole Clauiss
thereof juftified, that this fhould have been look-
ed on as no Crime, and allowed to be publifhed.
And the Pannel neither does, nor needs to malke
farther Ule thereof, but to convince all difinte-
refted Perlons, that his Explication can import no
Crime,

And whereas 1t is pretended, That the Crime of

Trealon 15 nferred from the fundamental Laws
of the Kingdom, and from that Clavfe of the
Pannel’s Explication, whereby he declares, he is
w0t bound up by any Thing i this Oath nof to eidea-
vour any Alleratisi in o lasoful Way : Which being
an indefinite Propolition, is equipollent to an uni-
verfal, and 15 upon ¢ Matter coincident with a
Claufe which was rebeHious in it’s Confequences,
contained 1n the folemn League and Covenant,
It 15 anfwered, that it is ftrange, how f{uch a
plain and innocent Claufe, whereby, beyond all
Queftion, he does exprefs no more than was na-
turally imported i the Oath itfelf, whether ex-
prelt or not, thould be made a Foundation 1o
import the Crime of Treafon, which no Lawyer
cver allowed, except where it was founded upon
exprels Law & Luce Meridiana Clarior : And in-
deed if fuch Stretches and Inferences can make
Men guilty of Trealon, no Man can be fecure,
And the Words in the PanneP’s Declaration are
plain and clear (yet #on funt cavillanda) and import
no more, but that, 1n his Station, and in a lawful
Way, and confiftent with the Proteftant Reli-
gion and his Loyalty, he might endeavour any
Alteration to the Advantage of Church and
State. And was there ever any loyal or rational
Subject, that does, or can doubt, that this is the
natural Import of the Qath? And indeed it were
a ftrange QOath, 1f it were capable of another
Senfe, and being defigned for the Security of the
Government, fhould bind up Men’s Hands to
concur for its Advantage, And how was it pol-
fible, that the Pamuel, or any other in the Capa-
city of a Privy Councillor, or 2 Member of the
Parliament, would have fatisfied his Duty and

109. The Tr1al of the E.of Argyle, 535 Car, 11,

Allegiance m other Terms 7 And whereas it is
pretended, That there was the ke Cafe in the
pretended League and Covenant, it is anfwered,
The Affertion 15 evidently a Miftake 3 and though
it were, the Argument 15 altogether inconfequent-
tal: For that Lenove and Covenant was treafon-
able in itlelf, as beisg a Combination entered
into withour his Majelty’s Authority, and was
treafonable in the Glofies that weve put upon I,
and was 1mpoled by abfohue Violence on the
Subjects of this Kingdom, and how can the 21s-
nel be in the leaft fuppoled 10 have had anv Re-
fpect to the faid League and Covenant, when he
had fo ofien taken the Declaration, drewning
and renouncing it, as an unlaw!ul and finful Outls,
and concurred i the many excellent Laws ani
Aéts of Parlament made by his Majelty, con-
aemnlng the fame s feditious and treafonable ?
And whereas 1t s pretended, that the Pasne i
gutlty of Penyury, haviog taken the Oath in an-
other Senfe tmn was conliftent with the genuine
Senfe of the Parlament, and that by the Au-
thority cited, he doth comieito eludeie “fure-
mentem, which ought always to be taken in the
Senie of him thar impofeth the Oath: It is an-
fwered, the Pretence is medt groondlefs, and Per-
Jury never was, nor can be inferred, buc by the
Commiftion, or Omilfion of fomething direiy
contrary tothe Oath.  And although 1t is true, i
where ap Outh is taken, without any Declaration
of the exprels Senfe of the Perfons who tke x,
it obhiges fub faia Perjuiiiy in the Senfey not of
the Taker, but of the Impofer of the Qath, be-
caufe exprefling po Senfe, Law and Realon pre-
fumes there s a full Acquiefcence 1n the Senle
and Meaning of the Impofer of the Quth @ Arnd
then 1t an Oath be not {o taken, he that takes it
is guilty of Perjury, Yet there was never Lawvyer
nor Divine, Popifth or DProteftant, bur agree in
this, that whatever be the Tenor of the Oath,
if before the taking thereof, the Party in expreis
Terms does publickly and openly declare the
Senle in which he takes i, it is impofhible it caa
infer the Crime of Perjury againft him in any
other Senfe, this not being Commentum excogila-
tuin, after the taking of the Qath,  And if this
were not lo, how is it pefiible, in Senfe and Rea-
fon, that ever any xplication or Senfz could folve
the Scruples of a Man’s Confcience 2 For it
might be always pretended, that notwithitanding
of the exprels Senfe wherein he took i, he fhould
be guilty of Perjury from another Senfe.  And
that this 15 the irrefragable Opinion of all Diviacs,
of whatever Perfuafion, is not only clear from
the Authority above-mentioned, even thofe who
allow of referved Senfes, but more efpecially by
the univerfal Suffrage of all Proteftant Divines,
who though they do abominate all Thoughts of
Subterfuges or Fvafions, after taking of the Oatl,
yee they do alwavs allow and advife, for the
Safety and Security of a doubting and {crupulous
Conlcience, that they fhould exprefs and declare,
before the taking of the Oath, the true Senfe and
Meanmg wherein they bave Freedom to take its
and for which Sawdeifonr de Furaments is cited.
Prelect. 6. 8¢f3. yo. Page 75. where his Words
are, faite uf inter Furandum omiia reffe flait, €x-
pedit ut de wverborum fenfiu iuter omnes paites gua-
rum inlerest liquido conflet, qued weteribus diffuin,
lignido Jurare. And an Ouath being one of the
highe{t Aéts of Davotion, containing Caultam La-

srie, there is nothing more confonant to the Na-
. ture
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rure of all Qaths, and to that Candour, Ingenui-
ty, and Chriftian Simplicity, which all Law and
Religion requires in fuch Cafes.
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The King's Advecate’s third Plea againft the Earl
of Argyle,

thing to an{wer, as to Depraving, Leafing-
making, and Mifinterpreting, &c. fave that this
Oath was only defigned to exclude Recufants ;
and confequently the Pannel may thereby be de-
barred from his Offices, but not made guilty of
a Crime. To which he triplies, 1. If ever the
Farl had fimply refufed, that had been true 5 but
that did not at all excufe from defaming the Law,
for a Defamer is not punifhed for refufing, but for
defamning,

2. If he had Gmply refufed, the Government
had been in no more Hazard ; but if Men will
both retain their Places, and yet take the fame
in fuch Words as fecure not the Government, 1t
were ftrange to think, that the Delign of the
Law being to fecure againft Men’s poflefling who
will not obey, that yet it fhould allow them Pof-
eflion who do not obey. Nor is the Refufer
here in a better Cafe than the Early and others,
who offered to obey, becaufe it is the defaming
the Law, as ridiculous and inconfiftent with that
Proteftant Religion, and Leafing-making betwixt
the King, the Nobility, and the People, the mif-
conftruing, and mifreprefenting, as hath been for-
merly urged, that puts the Earl in a worfe Con-
dition. And all thofe Arguments might be as well
urged for any who had uncontrovertedly contra-
vened thefe Aéls, as for the Paawel,

Whereas 1t is pretended, That the King emit-
ted a Proclamation to fatisty Diffenters ; it is an-
fwered, That the Proclamation was deligned for
none who had been Members of Parliament, and
fo fhould have known the Senfe ; but it was de-
figned for meer Ignorants, not for fuch as had
defamed the Law, which is ftill here charged up-
on the Painel,

As to the Article of Treafon, it 1s concetved,
That 1t is unanfwerably founded upon the Com-
mon-Law, dilcharging all Men to make Altera-
don of the Government, Asto which there needs
no exprefs Statute, that being the very Effence
of Government, and needing no Laws, Like as
it falls pofitively under all the Laws that dif-
charge the affuming the Royal or Legiflative
Power ; for to alter the Government is infepara-
bly united to the Crown. Likeas the Subfump-
tion 15 as clear, the exprels Words not bearing,
That the Earl referves to him{elt a Power to pro-
pole to his Majelty any Alterations, or to con-
cur to ferve his Majelty in making Alterations;
but owning in moft general and arbitrary Terms,
to with and endeavour any Alterarion he fhould
think fit for the Advantage of Church or State,
and not determining any Thing that could bind
him otherwife than according to his own Plea-
ture : For the Word [lawfud] 1s ftill fubje&ted to
himfelt, and has fubjoined to it, as be fhould think
#ty which governs the whole Propofition ; and in
that Senfe, and as the Words are here fet down,
the greatelt Rebel in Scotland will fubfcribe that
Explanation : For there is no Man but will re-
ftrict himfelf to a lawful Obedicnce, providing

H IS Majelty’s Advocate conceives he has no-

for Treafon.

463
he be Judge of the Lawfulnefs, And feeing all
Qaths propofed for the Security of Government
require a certain depending upon the Legiflator,
and not upon the Taker, it is impoffible that
that End could be attained by any Qualification,
how fpecial foever, which is made to depend ab.-
folutely upon the Taker, and not upon the Le-
giflator, And we have often feen, how little Se-
curity there is in thole fpecious Words, the very
Covenant itfelf having not only the very Words
above-repeated, but attefting all the World to be
Witnefles to their Loyalty and Sincerity,  And as
to the former Inftances, viz. rifing in Arms, or
oppofing the lawful Succeffor, there is no Co.
venanter in Scotland, but will fay, he will do nei-
ther, but in a Jawful Way, and in his Station,
and in a Way confiftent with his Loyalty, for
a Man were mad to fay otherwife : But yet when
they come to explain this, they will only do it
as they think fit, and will be Judges themfelves ;
and then will tell us, that defenfive Arms are
lawful, and that no Popifh Succeffor fhould fuc-
ceed, nor no Succeffor, uniefs he {ubfcribe the
Covenant. And whereas it is pretended, that no
Claufe in the Teft does exclude a Man from mak-
ing Alterations 5 it is anfwered, that the Aliera-
tions which the 72§ allows are none at all but
in Subordination to Authority., And as to the
two Points above-mentioned, it excludes all Al-
terations as to thefe Points, And as to the mak-
ing fundamenral Alterations, this Refervation al-
lows to make any Alweration, and confequentdy
fundamental Alterations ; to preclude which Li-
bertinifm, this excellent Law was invented.

Whereas it is pretended, that the Paurel deligns
not to add any Thing asa Partof the Law, but as
a Part of his Oath, it s duplied, fince the Oath
15 a Part of the Law, whoever adds to the Oath,
adds to the Law, .

Whereas it is pretended, that the Crnime of
Perjury cannot be inferred here, becaufe all Di-
vines allow, that the Taker of an Oath 15 {lill al-
lowed to declare in what Senfe he takes the Oath
and that this is clear from Sunderfon, Page 175, [t
is triplied, that where there are two dubious Sen-
fes, Lawyers and Divines allow, that the Taker
fhould clear himfelf, which of the two he fhould
take 5 which is very juft, becaufe to which {oz-
ver of the two he determines himfelf, the Legif-
lator in that Cafe is fure of him. But here 1t 13
not pretended, that there are two Senfes ;5 nor
does the Pannel declare in which of the two he
takes it, or in what clear Senle at all he takes ir,
which is indeed /ignide Furare. But here the Pan-
nel neither condefcends, whae particular Claule of
the T¢f is unclear ; nor after he has condefcend-
ed upon the Articles, does he condelcend upon
the Senfe, but in general myfterious Words,
where he can neither be followed nor found ou,
he only takes it in fo far as it is confiltent with
itfelf and the Proteltant Religion, referving the
{quaring all by his own Loyalty, as he did in the
beginning declare, that he took it in his own
Senfe ; by which general Senfe, neither is the Ge-
vernment fecure of any Thing it does enjoin, ror
could he be punithed if he tranfgrefied. Nor can
it be doubted, but Perjury may be inferred by

-any equivocal or evading Senfe, infer Furandum,

as well as by breaking an Qath afterwards :
Which is very clear from Sanderfon, Pag. 138,
The Words whereof are, alterum Pevyuriv Fenys

eft inter Furandum detorguere verba 3 and which
1y
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15 farther clear by the 28th Page; but above all,
from the Principles of Reafon, and the Necefiity
of Commerce and Government : For if Men may
adhibit fuch Gloffes, even whillt they fwear, as
may make the Oath ufele(s, what Way will either
Government or Commerce be maintained? And
he deceives as much that deceives 1n {wearing
falvis verbis, as he who after he has fworn, does
break the Qath, nay and more too, becaufe the
Breaking may come from Forgetfulnefs, or other
Accidents : But the evading by general Claules,
which bind no Man, does from the firlt Inftance
originally make all Qaths ufelefs and dangerous,
and that this Interpretation eludes the Oath abfo-
lutely is very clear from what hath been former-
Iy debated. For it may be argued, that the Earl
broke the Qath in fo far as the firlt Day he
{wears the Oath, which bears to be without any
Evafion (and muft be fo, notwithftanding of
whatever he could fay ;) and the next Day he
oives in this Evafion, which is a downright Vio-
lation of that Oath, and inconfiftent with 1.
Nor was this Qath forced, but voluntarily emit-
ted, to keep his own Places. And 1t was the
greater Crime that it was done m the Council,
becaufe that was to make it the more publick,
and confequently the more to mifreprefent the

CGovernment.,

After this Debate, which, according to the
Cuftom of the Court, was verbatim ditat by the
Advocates of eitlier Side, and written by the Clerk,
and fo took up much Time, and the Court having
fat at leaft twelve Hours without Intermiffion, it
adjourned till the next Day, being Tuefday the 13th
of December, at two of the Clock in the After-
noon : And then the Earl being again brought 1o
the Bar, the following Interlogunionr (thatis Judg-
ment and Sentence) of the Lords of FuSticiary, on
the foregoing Debate, was read, and pronounced
in open Court.

Iidenburgh, December 12, 1681,

The Interloguutonr of the Lords of Fufticiary.

HE Lords, Juftice-General, and Commif-

fioners of the Jufticiary, having confidered
the Libel and Debate, they fuftain the Defence
proponed for the Earl of Argyle, the Pannel, in
relation to the Perjury libelled, vz, That be emit-
ted this Explanation at, or before bis taking the Teft,
firlt before bis Royal Highuefs, bis MajeSty's High
Commifftoner, and the Lords of bis Majefty’s Privy-
Council, relevant, to elude that Article of the
Libel.

The Lords {uftain the Libel, as being founded
upon the Common.Law, and Explication libelled,
and upon 4% 130. Parl. 8. Fames V1 to infer
the Pain of Treafon.

They likewife fuftain the Libel, asfounded up-
on the 1oth 42, Parl. 10. Fames VI, to infer the
Pain of Death, and likewife fuftain that Part of
the Libel anent Leafing-making, and Leafing-tel-
ling, to infer the particular Pains mentioned in the
feveral Adts libelled.

And repel the whole other Defences, Duplies,
and Quadruplies, and remits the Libel, with the
Deferces anent the Perjury, to the Knowledge of
an Alffize.

x09. Zhe Trial of the E.of Argyle, 33 Car. I,

Thereafter the 4ffize, that is the Fury, being con-
ititute and {worn, wiz.

Lift of the Affizers,
Marguis Montrofe, Lord of Lindoors,
E, of Middleton, Lord Sinclare,
E. of Airlie, Lord Bruntifland,

E. of Perth, P, C.
E. of Dulboufie,

E. Roxburgh, P. C.,
E. Dumfries,

E, Linlithgow. P. C,

Latrd of Gosfooid,
Laird of Claverboufz,
Laird of Bainameos,

Laird of Pari Goidss,

1S Majefty’s Advocate adduced four Wit-
8 J nefles to prove the Points of the Indictment,
remitted to the Knowledge of the Afize, wix.
Jobn Drummond of Lundie, then Governor of the
Caltle of Edenburgh, now Treafurer-depute, Sir
William Paterfon, and Mr. Patrick Menzies, Clerks
of the Privy-Council, and H, Stevenfon, their Un-
der Clerk 5 who deponed, That on 1he 4th of No-
vember, the Earl did give in an unfubferibed Expla-
nation of the Telt, which be refufed to fign 5 one
of the Witnefles alfo adding, that be beard him
make the fame Explanation the Day before in Coun-
ctly and that it was there accepted.

Then his Majefty’s Advccate afked, if the Farl
would make Ule of his Exculpation for eliding the
Perjury libelled, 20 wit, that he had emitted the
fame Explacation, before taking the T:57, in Pre-
fence of his Royal Highnefs and the Council. To
which the Earl anfwered, that, feeing they had
fuftained the Libel, asto the alledged Treajon, he
would not trouble them about the Perjury : Ef
pecially the Matter of - Fad, referred by the Jirer-
loquutonr to his Probation, being of itfelf fo clear
and notour.

Upon this Silence, the Advocate, taking In-
{truments, Protefts, {or an Afize of Ervor, in
Cafe the 4ffizers thould affoil or acquit, Where-
upon the Afize removing was inclofed : And, after
fome Time, returned fheir Ferdid, which was
read i open Court of this Tenour,

The Verdit of the Affize.

HE Affize baving eleited and chofen the Mar-
quis ¢f Montrole 6 be their Chancellor,
they all in one Voice find the Earl of Argyle Guilty,
and culpable of the Crimes of Treafon, Leafing-
making, and Leafing-telling, and find, by Plura-
lity of Votes, the faid Earl Innocent and not Guilty o

Perwry.,

And then the Conrt again adjourned : And the

Privy-Council wrote the following Letter to his
Majefty.

Halyrudhoufe, December 14, 1681.

The Council's Letter to the King, defiring Leave 16
pronounce Sentence againft the Earl of Argyie.

May it pleafe your Sacred Maijclty,

N Obedience to your Majefty's Letter, dated the
15thof November last, we ordered your Maje-
Joy’s ddvocale to infift in that Procefs, raifed at yous
Inttance, againft the Earl of Argyle: And bavirg
allowed bim a long Time for bis Appearance, and any
Advocates be pleafed to employ, and Letters of Ex-

culpation, for his Defence : He, after full Debate,
1 and
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and clear Probation, was fennd guilty of Treafon,
Leafing-making betwixt your Majefty, your Parlia-
ment, and your People, and the reproaching of your
Lawws and Ags of Parlfﬂ_:«uent. but becaufe of your
Majefty’s Letter, ordaining us to fend your Majesty
a particular Account of what be fhould be found
guilly of, before the pronouncing of any Sentence
againft bim, we thought 1t our Duty to Jend your
Majefty this Acconnt of our a:_:d your Fuftices Pro.-
ceedings thereins and 19 ﬁgﬂy_’y to your Magjefty,
with all Sybmiffion, that it 1s ufual and moft fit for
your Majefty's Service and the Advantage of the
Crown, that a Sentence be pronounced, upoi the
Verdift of the Affize, without which the Procefs
will be fiill imperfecd,  After which, your Majefty
may, as you in your Royal Prudence and Clemeny
Jhall think fit, ordain all farther Execution to be
Sifled, during your Majefty’s Pleafure: Which Jfhall
be dutifully cbey’'d by

Your Majefty’s moft humble,
meft faithful, and moft obedient,

Subjects and Servants,
Sic Subfcribirur,

Alex. St. And, )y Roxburgh, Dalziell,
Athal, Dumfries, Geo. Gordon,
Douglas, Strathmore, Ch, Maitland,
Montrofe, Airlie, G. Mekenzie,
Glencairn, Ancram, Ge, Mekenzie,
I ntonn, Livingstoun, Ramfay,
Lulithgewo, | Fo. Edinburgenf. {¥. Drummond.
Perth, LipbigStonn, |

The King’s Anfwer to the Council’s Letter.,

C R, 18 Decemb, 16871,

MO ST dearly, &c. having this- Day received
Jyour Letter of the 14th Inflant, giving an Ae-
connt that onr Advocate having been ordered by you
b iifift in that Procefs raifed af our Inflance againft
toe Barl of Argyle, he was, after full Debate and
dear Probation, found guilty of Treafon, and Iea-
fing-making, betwixt us, our Parliament, and our
People, and the reproaching our Laws and At
of Parliament: We bave now thought fit, notwith-
franding of what was ordercd by us in our Letter 1o
jou of the 15th of November las?, bereby to autho.
712¢ you to grant a Warrand to our Fustice Geieral,
aid the remanent Fudges of our Fustice Court, Jfor
proceeding to prosounce a Sentence, upon the Verdiét
of the Fury, against the faid Barl 5 neverthelef it is
our exprefs Pleafure, and we do bereby reguire you,
0 taxe Care, that all Execution of the Sentence be
Hopped, until we fhall think fit to declare our further
Pleafure in this Affair : For doing whereof, &,

Which Anfwer being read in Cousncilon the Thury-
day, and the Conrt of Justictary, according to it’s
Iaft Adjournment, being to mect upon the Friday,
after a litle Hefitation i# Council, whether the
Court of Fusticiary could proceed to the Sentence
of Forfaulture againlt tbe Earl he being abfent, it
was refolved in the Ajfirmative; and whar were
the Grounds urged, either of Hefitation or Refoly.-
fon, 1 cannot precifely fay, there being nothing
on Record that 1 can learn. But that you may
have a ful] and fatisfying Account, I fhall briefly
tell you what was ordimarily difcourfed, a Part
whereof I alfo find in a Petition

Vou, 1lI,

- for 'Treafon.

given in by the
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Countefs of 4rgyle to the Lords of Jufticiary, be.
fore pronouncing Sentence, but without any Ap-
fwer or Effet, It was commonly faid, that by
the Old Law, and Cuftom, the Conrs of Justiciary
could no more in the Cafe of Treafon than of any
other Crime proceed further againit a Perfon not
compearing, and abfent, than o declare him Ops.
Lawand Fugitive: And that, albeit it be (ingular,
In the Cafe of Treafop, that the Trial may go on,
€ven to a final Sentence, though the Party be ab-
fent, yet fuch Trials were only proper, to and
always referved for Parliaments : And thar {o it
had been conftantly obferved until after the Re.
bellion in the Year 1666: but there being feve-
ral Perfons swotourly engaged in that Rebellion,
who had efcaped, and thereby withdrawn them-
{elves from Yustice, it was thought, thar the
Want of a Parliament, for the Time, ought not
to afford them any Immunity; and therefore it
was refolved by the Conncil, wirh Advice of the
Lords of Seffion, that the Court of fufticiary thould
fummond, and proceed to Trial, and Sentence, a-
gainft thefe Abfents, whether they compeared or
not, and fo it wasdone : Only becaufe the Thing
was new and indeed an Innovation of the old Cu.
ftom, to makeall fure, in the Jirst Parliament held
thereafter, in the Year 166g, it was thought fit to
confirm thefe Proceedings of the Fusticigry, in
that Point, and alfo to make a perpetual Statuee,
that, in Cafe of oper Rebellion, and rifing in drms
againtt the King and Government, the Treafou,
in all Time coming, might, by ar Order from his
Majefty’s Council, be tried, and the Aors pro-
ceeded againft by the Lords of Jusiiciary, even to
final Sentence, " whether the Traitors compeared
or not, ‘I'his being then the prefent Law and
Caltom, it js apparent in the firé Place, that the
Earl’s Cafe, not being that of an opeir Rebellion,
and rifing in Arms, is not at all comprehended in
the At of Parliament, fo that it is without Que-
ftion char, if in the Beginning he had not entered
himfelf Prifoner, but ablented himfelf, the Loras
of Justiciary could not have gone turther, than,
upon a Citation, to have declared him fugitive.
But athers faid, that the Farl having both entered
himfelf Prifoner, and compeared, and after Debate
having been found guilty, before he made his
Efcape, the Cafe was much altered,  And whether
the Cort could, notwithftanding of the Farl’s
intervening Efcape, yet go on to Sentence was
ftill debatables for it was alledged for the Affirma-
trve, that fecing the Earl had twice compeared,
and that, after Debate, the Court had given Judg-
ment, and the Affize returned their Verdif?, fo thag
nothing, remained but the pronouncing of Seutesce,
it was abfurd to think that it fhould be in the
Power of the Party, thus accufed, and found guilty,
by his Efcape to fruftrate Juftice, and withdraw
himfelf from the Punifhment he deferved. Bur
on the other Hand it was pleaded for the Earl;
that firft, it was a fundamental Rule, fhat until
once the Canfe were concluded, ne Sentence coyld be
prononnced : Next that it was a fure Maxim in Law,
that in criminal Aftions there neither is nor can be
any other Conclufion of the Cayfe than the Party's
Prefence and Silence; fo thar, after all that had
paft, the Earl had ftill Freedom to add whar he
thought fit, in his own Defence, before pronoun-
cing Sentence, and therefore the Lords of jfzfﬁz;;;fry
could no more proceed to Sentence againft him
being efcaped, than if _he_ha@“ been” abfent fr om
the Beginning, the Canfe begg in both Caféicqualla

- co Y
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ly not concluded, and the Principle of Law uni-
formly the fame, viz. that in Criminals (ex-
cept in Cafes excepted) #o jinal Sentence can be
given in Abfence : for, as the Law, in Cafe of Ab-
fence from the Beginning, doth hold that jus? Tem-
per as neither to fuffer the contumacions to go al-
together unpunithed, nor, on the other Hand,
finally to condemn a Party nnbeard, And there-
fore doth only declare him fugitive, and there
ftops : So in the Cale of an Lfcape, before Sen-
tence, where it cannot be faid the Party was ful-
ly heard, and the Caufe concluded, the Law doth
not diftinguifh, nor can the Parity of Reafon be
refufed.  Admiuing then that the Carfe was fo
far advanced, againft the Earl, that he was found
Guilty 3 yet, 1. Thisis but a declaring ot what the

given In by the Countefs of Argyle 1o the Court fop
a Stop, pronounced Sentence, firlt in the Conrt
and then caufed publith the fame, with all-Soley,.
nity, at the Mercat Crofs of Edenburgh,

OR asmuch as it is found by an Afze 3,

Archibald Earf of Argyle 5 ';Hf!{y cf.:d r:;{y;f
ble of the Crimes of Treafon, Lealing-making. aid
Lealng-telling, for which be was detained :a]z:ffbffz
the Caftle of Edenburgh, ont of which be has now
Jinee tbe fasd Verdik made bis Efeape: Therefore the
Lords Commiffioners of Julticiary difrern and a4-
gudge the faid Archibald Ear! of Argyle 19 be exe-
cule to the Death, demained as a Traitor, and 1o uy.-
derlye the Pains of Treafon, and other Punifbments
appointed by the Laws of this Kingdom, when be flafl

Law doth as plainly prefume again{t the Party ;.!)_e apprebended, at fuch a Time and Place, and iy
abfent from the Beginning, and confequently, of  fuch Manner as bis Majefly in bis Royal Pleafyre

itfelf, can operate no further. 2dfy, The finding
of a Party Guilty is no Conclrfton of the Caule.
And, 3dly, As it was never feen nor heard thata
Party was condemned in Abfence (except In ex-
cepted Cafes) whereof the Earls i1s none, fo he
having efcaped and fhe Caxfe remaiming thereby
ziconcluded, the general Rule did full hold, and
no Sentence could be given againft him,

It was allo remembered, that the Diets and Days
of the Fuftice Court ave peremplonr 3 and that In
that Cale, even in Civil far more in Criminal Courts
and Caufes, a Citation 1o hear Seirtence 1s conltantly
required : Which induced fome to think, that at
lealt the Ear! {hould have been lawlully cited to
hear Sentence, before it could be pronounced, But
it is like this Courfe, as confefling a Difficulty,
and occafioning o long a Delay, was therefore
not made ule of, Fowever, upon the whole, it
was the general Opinion, that feeing the denoun-
cing the Earl Fegitive would have wrought much
more iz Law than all that was commonly faid,
at frft, to be deligned againft him: And that
bis Cafe did appear every way fo favourable,
that impartial Men flill wondered how 1t came
to be at all queftioned, it had been better to have
fifted the Procefs, - .th his Efcape, and taken the
ordinary Courfe of Law, withour making any

more Stretches,
But, as I have told you, when the Friday came,

the Lords of Fufticiary, without any Refpet, or
Anfwer given to the Petition above-mentioned,
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Joall think fit to declare and appoint : And bis Name,
Memory, and Honours, to be extintt: And bis
Arms 1o be riven forth, and delete out of 1he Books
of Arms, fwa that bis Posferity may never haye
Place nor be able bereafler to bruick or joyfe any
Honour, Offices, Titles, or Dignities, swithin this
Realm in Time coming and to have Jorfaulted, ami-
tedy and tint, all and Jundry bis Lands, Tenements,
Annual-Rents, Offices, Titles, Dignities, Tacks,
Steedings, Rowmes, Pofleflions, Goods, aud
Geere what fumever pertaining to bim, to onur So-
vereign Lord, fo remain perpetrally with bis High-
nels in Property. IWhich was pronouiiced for Dogni——
23 December 1687.

After the reading and publifhing whercof, the
Earl's Coat of Arms, by Order of the Conrt, was
alfo torn and ranverfed, both in the Conrt and ar
the Mercat Crofs: Albeit fome thought that this was
rather a Part of the Exeention, which his Majefly's
Letter dilcharges, than a neceflary Solemnity, in
the Publication 3 and the Advocate himfelf';fays,
p. 61. of his printed Criminals, that it fhould only
be practifed in the Crime of Perduellion but not in
other Treafois.

He was afterwards retaken upon his Invafion of
Scotland, 1 Fac. 11, and without any farther Trial
was executed by virtue of the above-mentioned
Sentence .

BEEERD

¢ * " *\ . 4 :

CX. The Trial of George Borolky a/ias Boratzi, Chriftopher
Vratz, and John Stern, and Charles- John Count Coningf-
mark, ot te Old-Baily, for the Murder of Thomas Thynn,

Efg; February 28, 1681.

HERE having been an Indictment found
at Hicks’s Hall by the Grand-Jury for the
County of Middlefex againft Charles-George Borofky,
ChriStopher Fratz, and Fobn Stern, for murdering
Thomas Thynn, Efg; and againft Charles Fobn
Count Coningfmark, as acceflary before the Fadt,

the faid Perfons being in Newgate, were brought

34 Car. 11,

to the Bar to be arraigned and tried : And they be-
ing Foreigners, an Interpreter was fworn to ac-
quaint them, in a Language they underftood, what
they were accufed of,

Clerk of the Crown. Charles Borofky, hold up thy
Hand, (Which be did.) Chriftopher Pratz, hold

¥ Durser’s Hiftory of bis own Times, Vol. I, p. 631=633,
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up thy Hand., (Which be did.)  FobuStern, holl
up thy Hand.  (Which be did.) Charles-Fohn Co-
ningsmark, hold up thy Hand.  (Which be did.)

You fland indifted in 1he County of Middlefex by
the Names of Charles-George _Bnrofk)r, late of the
Parifb of St. Marun’s 1 the Fields, in the Connty of
Middlelex, Labourers otherwife cafled Georgge: Bo-
ratzi, of the fame Parifl and County, Labourer
Chriﬂobhur Vratz. of the fame Parifb and County,
Gentleman 5 John Stern of the fame Parifh ard
Conily, Gentleman 5 and Charles-John Coningf-
mark, of 1he fame Parifl and County, Iifgy olheracife
called John Coninglmark, of the fame Parifhy ana
County, Lifquire : For that you the faid Charles-
George Borofky alias Boratzi, Chriftopher Vratz,
and John Stern, ot baving God before your Byes,
but being moved and feduced by the Infligation of the
Devil, upon the twelfth Day of February, in the
thirty fourth Zear of the Rewgn of our Sovereign
Lord King Charles the Second, wwith Force and Avins
in the Parifh of St. Marun’s iar the Fields in the Conn-
iy of Middlelex aforefaid, in and upon Thomas
Uhynn, Efguirey in the Peace of God, and eur faid
Sovereipn Lord the King, theit and there betng, fe-
Iomtoufly, wilfully, and of your Malice afcictboupht,
did make an difardt.  dnd that than the faid (eorge
Borofky alias Boratzt, a certain Blundeibufs of the
Value of frve Shillings, the faid Blunderbufs being
then charged with Guupotoder, and four Leaden
Bullets 5 schich faid Blunderbufs ther the faid George
Borotky alias Boratzi in be!h thy Hands fo as afore-
faid, loaden to aind againft the fsid Thomas Thynn
then and theve badft and beldeft,  And that thou the
aforefaid George Borofky alias Boratzi, knowing
the Blunderbufs aforefaid, to be fo as aforefaid,
charged with Gunpowder and Leaden Bullets, to and
againft the faid Thowas Thynn their and there,
wwith Force of Arms, felonioufly, wilfully, and of thy
Malice aforethonght, didf diftharge and fhoot off.
And that thou the fard George Borofky alias Bo-
rutzl, with the faid Leaden Bullets fliot and jent out
sf the Dlundevbufs - aforefaid, by the Violence and
Force of the Gunpsceder aforcfaid @ And by thee the
faid George Borofky alias Boratzi fo a5 aforefaid
Jilchaiged and fbot off, the faid Thomas Thynn in
aird 1 pon the right-fide of the Body of the faid Thomas
Thynn, uear the fhort Ribs of the right-fide of the
Body of the faid Thomas Thynn, then and theie
felantonflv, <wiftully, and of thy Malice aferethonght
didft firtke and wonnd 5 giving unto bim the faid
Thomas Thynn then and there with the Leaden
Bullets aforcfaid, fo as aforefaid fbot and jeit out of
the Blunderbufs aforefaid by Force and Vidleice of the
Guapotoder aforcfaid, by thee the faid George Bo-
rofky alias Boratzi, fo as aforefaid dijcharged and
fent onty din and upon the right fulz of the bedy of
bun the faid Thomas Thynn, wzear toe foort Ribs,
on the right. fide of bim the faid Thomas Thynn
fouir mortal [Wounds, cvery one of thom of the
Breadth of one Inch, and of the Depto of fis Inches
of which faid mortal IVounds, be the faid Thomas
Thymn from the faid twellth Day of February i
the thirty fourth Jeer aforefaid, unto the thirteenth
Dav of the fame Month of Febraary, at the Parifh
of 8t. Maruwn’s in the Fields aforcfaid, did languifb
and ltved languifbing : On which faid thirteenth Day
of Febroary, 7u the thirty fourth Year aforefaid, he
the faid Thomas Thynn af the Parifh of §t. Mar-

un’s in the Fields aforefaid, of the mortal Wounds

Jo as aforefaid given, died.  And that you the faid

Chriftopher Vratz and John Stern, then, that is to
Vou. III.

Jay al the Time of the Felouy and Murder aforclaids
by the faid George Borofky alias Boratzi; fo as
aforefaid felonionfly, wilfully, and of Malice afore-
thought, doite and committed, then and there feloni-
oufly, wilfully, and of your Malice aforethiought, by
Foree and dvins were prefent; aiding, comforting;
avelting, affifling and maintaining the faid George
Boiofky afins Boratzi, the Felony and Murder
aforefasd felonionfly, wilfully, and of bis Malice afore-
thougbt, to do and commit.  Aid fo you the faid
George Borofky dlias Boratzi, Chrittopher Vratz
and John Stern, the faid Thomas Thynn in Mau-
ner and Form aforefaid, feloniokfly; wilfully, and
of your Malice aforethought didft kill and murder;
agatnft toe Peace of our Sovereigin Lord the King,
bis Crown and Dignity.  And that thon the faid
Charles- John Coningfmark before the Felony and
Murder aforefaid, by the faid George Borofky alias
Boratzi, Chritopher Vratz s#sd John Stern i
Manner and Form aforefaid, felontoufly, wilfully,
aid of their Malice aforetheught, done and commit-
tedy towit, the faid twelfth Day of February, in
the thirly fourth Year aforefaid, at the Parifp of
8t Martn's in the Fields aforcfaid, them the faid
George Borofky afias Boratzi, Chriftopher Vratz
and John Stern the Felony and Murder aforefaid, in
Manner aird Form  aforefuid felononfly, to do and
commit, felomoufly, wifully, and of thy Malice afore-
thought, didft flir up, counfel, perfuade and procure,
azatnfe the Peace of onr Sovereigin Lord the King,
bis Crewn and Dignily,

L.C. 7. Whyyou muftread thisto  Sir Francis
them now in their Language, or clle Fenberton
they can’c underftand .

L. C. ¥. North, You that are the Interprerer,
tell them that you are going to interpret the Indict-
ment to them by Degrees.

Mr. Vandore, Yes, my Lord, I will.

L. C. 7. Don’t read all the Circumftantials, but
only the Subftance of the Indiftment,

Then the Clerk of the Crown went near the Bar,
and diftated to the Interpreter deliberately,
who iuterpieted it to the Prifoners.

L.C. 7. Well, you have told them the Subftance
of it, that they are indicted for killing Mr. Thym.

My, Vaidore, Yes, |

L.C.¥F. Well, what fays the firft Man¢

Cloof Cr. Tafked him if he be Guilty of the
Murder whereof he ftands indiéted, and he fays he
15 Not Guiley.

L.C.7. Does he fay fo?

Mr, Vandore, Yes, he fays he is Not Guilty.

L.C. 7. Why now tell him the Formality, thac
he muft puc himlelf upon the Jury here,

[ Then Sir Nathanael Johnfon was fworit Interpreter. |

L. C. ¥ Afk him this Queftion. Tell him he
is accufed of the Murder of Mr. Thomas Thynn 3
afk him if he be Guilty or Nor Guilty.

Mr, Vandore, He fays he is Not Guilty, my
Lord. Iafked him juft now.

L.C. ¥. Then Sir Nathanael Fobnfon, 1t you
can make him to underltand it, tell him, that
our Manner of Trial here is by Twelve Men, and
that is by putting himfelf upon the Country, and
therefore afk him, how he will be wied. Tell
him that the Method is by faying, By God and the

Country. ‘ '
Ooo2 Sie
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Sir N. Fobnfon. My Lord, he is a very dull kird
of Man, he knows not how to anfwer, nor what
to fay ; nor won't fay any thing ; that is the Truth

f it
’ L.C. ¥ Afk him if he be willing to be tried
after the Manner of the Englifh. .

Sir N. Fobufn. Yes, he fays he is wiliing to be
eried according to the Fafhion of the Euglifh.

L.C.¥. North. He hath pleaded Not Guilty,
and the other follows of courle.

L. C. ¥. Afk the other, the Captain, the fame
thing.

Sir N, Fobufon. He defires a French Interpreter,
for he fpeaks French.

L.C.¥. Surely here are enough People that
underftand French, but afk him if he does not un-
derftand Englifp,

Sir N. Fobufon. He can underftand fome, he 1}1}:5.

L. C. ¥. Then afk him, whether he be Guilty,
or Not. ' |

Sir N. Yobufon, He fays he is Not Guilry, my
Lord,

L.C. 7. Now afk Mr, Steri, but firft, afk the

Captain how he will be tried. *

Sir N. Yobnfon. He fays he will be tried by God,
and half his own Country, and balf Eigli/h.

L. C. 7. He fhall have his Requelt.

Sir N. Johufor. He delires one thing further.

L.C.7. Look you, Sir Nathaunasl fobuyon, you
muft tell him this; he thall be tried by half Fo-

reigners and half Euglifp 5 that is it, [ fuppole, he

delires.
Sir N, Yobnfon. My Lord, he deflires that there

may be none of the Jury that are any thing a Kin-
dred or Relation to Mr. Thomas Thynn, nor any
particalar Friend of his, and he 1s {acisfied.

L. C. ¥. No, there fhall not, we will take Careof

that. Now aflk Mr. Stern then the like Queftion,

Sir N. Yobufon. My Lord, he fays he 1s Not
Guiley. _ |

L. C. ¥. Afk him too, how he will be tried ;
whether by a Jury ¢

Sir N. Fobufon. He fays, he’s content to be tried
as the othersare, by ha'* Srangersand half Euglifb.

L. C. . Now then afk my Lotd Coningsmark
what he fays.

Mr, Thynn. He fpeaks Euglifs, my Lord.

L. C.¥. But not well enough, may be, to un-
derftand the whole,

L. C. F. North, Sir Nathanael, what does he
fay?

YSir N. Fobafon. My Lord, he fays it isa Con-
cern of his Lite, and therefore he delires he may
have not only one Interpreter, but others: He
defires he may have two or three, that they may
make no Miftake.

L.C.#. Very well.

Sir N. Fobufon. He fays that I underftand the
Dutch Language 3 but his Life and Honour are
concerned, and therefore he would have three or
four.

L. C.¥. Who would he have ?

Sir N. Yobufon. Sir Thomas Thynz faid they had
one that was brought by them.

Mr. Thyin, That is Vaudore, who is fworn al-
ready.

L.C. ¥. Look you, Sir Natbanacl, well myLord,
if he pleafes, he fhall have a Freich Interpreter;
for I know he fpeaks that Language very well.

‘Sir N. Fobinfon. My Lord, he fays, that High-
Disteh is 1is nawurdl Language, and he can exprefs
himfelf beft 1 that,

2

110. TheTrial of €. Coningfmark and others, 54 Car.H.

[Then one Vanbaring twas called for by the Connt,
but did not appear.]

L.Ch. Bar, Sir N. Fobnfon, you muft
afk the Count whether he be Guilty of - Monia-
the Indictment, as acceflory before the &% M@
Faét.

Sir N. Fobnfon. 1 have afked, my Lord, and Nog
Guilty he anfwers,

Cl. of the Cr. How will you be tried ?

Sir V. Jobrfon, Fle fays, he will be tried by
God and halt his own Country, or half Foreigners
and halt Englifb 5 and he delires they may ba
Per{ons of fome Quality, as they ule to treac Per-
{ons of his Quality, and Strangers,

L. C. #. There fhall be fuch Strangers, tell him.
You have Merchants of good Account, I fuppofe,
upon this Pannel ?

Under-Sheriff. Yes, my Lord, they are all fuch,

Sir N, Fobufon, He delires he may be tried di-
flinctly from the others.

L.C.¥. That cannot be: But look you, Sir,
Pray tell my Lord this, that though the Evidence
muft be given, and the Jury muft be charged all
together, yet in this Cale we will diftinguith his
Cale to the Jury, if there be Occafion.

L. C. Bar. Andhis Evidence will come diftinét,

Mr. Vandsre, My Lord, he afks this Queftion
of your Lordfhip and this Honourable Court, if
it be agreeable, and according to the Juftice of
this Naton, that my Lord may be allowed two
or three Days Delay, becaufe he is to prepare him-
felf and Witnefles for his Trial.

Sir N, Fobufon, My Lord, he fays this 5 his Wit-
nefles are not prepared, and he not having had
Time to recollet himfelf, fo as to fit himfelf for
his Defence, therefore he begs the Favour of the
Court, that he may have a Day or two’s Time to
recolle€t himfelf. Ee fays he 1s to anfwer Circum-
ftances with Circumftances, my L.ord ; he fays he
has fome Witnefles as to Circumitances that are
very material to anfwer {uch Circumftances as are
brought againft him 3 he doe¢s not underitand the
Law, my I.ord, nor has had no Time to have
any Counfel to inform himfelf.

L. C. . You muft tell him this, that which ne
is charged with 15 Matter of Ivact, that none can
inftruét him i but himielf ; Counfel can do him
no good in fuch a Cale as this.

Sir N, Fohufon. My Lord, he fays, the Matters
that are objefted againft him are only Circum{ltan-
ces, my Lord, and they require an Anfwer, which
he can do by other Circumftances, and he defires
Time to recolleét himfelf, two or three Days Re-

fpit; he defires, it it were but a little Time, 2
Day or two,

Mr. Thynir. My Lord, our Witnefles are all
ready, and the Counfel inftructed, and wait here
(o €o on.

L. C. . North, Look you; pray will you tell
him, when the Trial is once begun, the Jury
can neither eat nor drink till they have given their
Verdit; that is the Law, and we can’t change
the Law, therefore we cannot allow him the T'nie
he defires.  He knows what he is accofed of, and
has known it a good while, and has had Time to
recollect himfelf and prepare himfelf.

Sir N, Fobufon. My Lord, he fays, the Jury are
not yet together, nor charged with him, and
therefore all the Jary are charged, he thinks he
may have Time, if vour Lordfhip pleafe to als
low it.

L. C. 7.
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1. C. 7. Look you, you mut tell him, that
Le is to underftand that here s but one Indictment
Loqinft the Principals and himfelf, and we cannot
trtir this by Piece-Meals 5 we cannot try the Prin-
cipals now, and my Lord Ceninfgmark another

L
Tlg;: N. Fobnfon. If it mutt be fo, he fa}fs, he
muft throw himfelf upon your Lorc!ﬂl_lp : he
hopes he (hall have nothing but what is juft -and
fair, and he hopes your_Lord{h:g will be of (_f.‘oun-ﬁ
ol to him, as the ralhion of this Country is; it
any Thing arifes of Matter o_f Law; he defires he
may have the Advantage of it : And if he can’t
have a Day or two, he fays the Innocency of his
Cafe will protect him, Count Cm_m,ygfmrk know-
ing how Innocent he 15, Won' ftick for a Day or
ewo, but he will be ready to be tried as your Lord-
hip fhall think fit 3 he has Innocence on s Side,
and that will proteét him.

L. C.7. Letmy Lord know, that we will be
careful in examining all Things that concern him,

Sir N. Yobufon. Fle-fays he does not fear it,
my Lord, having to do with fuch honourable
Perfons, nor doubt it at all.

L.C. 7. Then{weara Jury. Butlook you my
Lord Coumngfinark, conlider this ;5 as the Gentle-
men of the Jury come to be fworn, 1if you do dif-
like any of them, you may except againft them.

Sit N. Yobnfon. My Lord, he fays, being alto-
gether a Stranger here in Eigland, and not know-
ing any of the Perfons, he begs the Favour of the
Rench that he may have the Names of thofe that
are returned of the Jury, and a lictle Time to con-
fider of it.

L. C. F. That we cannot do: All we can do
for you 15, we will take as much Care as we can,
that you may have indifferent Perfons, and Perfons
of Quality.

L. C. 7. North. Praytell him, the Law gives
him the Privilege of a peremptory Challenge,

Sir N. Fabnfon. He fays, my Lord, he does not
know who they are, but they may be Perfons that
are touched, and may have fomething of Evil-
Will or Spleen aganft him. His Father ferved
again@t the King of Deumark, and againft the
Poles and the Papilts, and his Father was a Pro-
teftant, and ferved the Proteftant Caule,

L. C. 7. What Countrymen are they, Mr.
Sheriff ¢

Uider-Sheriff. They are French and Duteh moft
of them, I do not believe there is ever a Daue
amorg(t them.

L. C. 7. We will call all Frenchmen, if he
had rather have them than Duich,

Sir N, Jobnfon. He would very gladly have
them all High Dutch 5 it not, that he may have
lome,

L.C. 7. 1 thought he had excepted againft the
Dutch.

Sir V. Fobufon.  No, againft the Danesy for
his Father in the Wars burnt their Towns,

L. C. 7. LExamine them, as they come to the
Book, it there be any of the Roman Catholick
Religion, and don’t let any fuch be fworn.

My, Shenitt’ Pilkington, There is none fuch a.
mong them, I dare fay.

L.C. }. Sir N. Fobufou, tell my Lord, he fhall

have no Roman Catholicks at all.
Sit N. Fobufon. He thanks your Lordfhip, He

for the Murder of Mr. Thynn:

aefires he may have. the:Pannel-to fook- upon, and
he hopes that 15 an ealy Favour.
L. C. F. Lethim have the Pannel; if it will

do lum any good, He isa Srranger, ladisfy- him
in what we can.

IV bich was delivered to hine, and-be looked it
over. |
L. C. 7. Tell him, as the Jury iscalled, he fiall
have every one of the Outlandifsmen and Englifh-
ey brought before him,

Sic N. Fobnfon. My Lord, he thanks-you for
this Favour,

L. C. B. Sir N. Fobnjon, tell the Count, they
call hrft an Enuglifbinan, then a Forcigner, and
they fhall be breught to view.

L.C.¥. Pray, have you told the other Rerfons,
that their Time to Challenge is before the Jury is
{worn ?

Sir V. fobifonr. "The Pelander fays he can chal-

Jenge none, becaule he knows none.
L. C. 7. Whart lay the reft ?

Mr. Vandere. They fay they know no Body,
and can except againft no Body.,

Cloof Cr. Call Sir Wil Roberts.

[i7ho appearing, Slood 1p.]
L. C. /. My Lord Coninfgmark, there is the
Foreman.,

Sit N. Fobufon.  He has nothing to fay againft
him,

L. C.J. Thenhold him a Book, and fwear him.

[/Vlich was done.)
Cl.of Cr. Call Mr, Dowuing,

Interpreter.  He fays he 1s no Foreigrer,

L.C.7. Then he muft not be fworn,

Cl.of Cr. Mafes Charas. [#7bo appeared.]

Interpret,  He has nothing to iy againtt him.
But he himlelf fays, he does not fpeak Englifh,
bot he defires to fpeak Freneb,

Cl. of Cr. Then tell him in Freucd, he muft lay
his Hand on the Book and be fworn, and hearken
to his Oath.

Sie Fr., Winnington, We challenge him for the
King,

L. C. . For what Caufe ?

Sir Fr. Winnington. My Lord, we take it that
we need not fhew any Caule, unlefs there be any
Want of the Number in cthe Pannel.

L. C. . Then we mult do him right, and tell
him what Advantage the Law gives him, Tell my
Lord, you that underftand Zuglifh, that this Gen-
tleman 15 challenged for the King ; and if the King
fhew any good Caule for it, he muft not be {wora,
elfe he muft,  And the Way for him to caufe the
King’s Counlel to thew their Caufe, (if he defire
ir) 1s to challenge all the reft.

My, 7illiaims, We wave our Challenge 5 tor the

Reafon why we challenged him was, becaufe he

dil not underftand Exglifb, which will be no Rea-
fon at all.

| [Theit he was favern.]
Cl. of Cr.  Sir Heary Tugoldfy.
Sie N. Fobufon, He challenges him, my Lord.
Cloof Cr. Sir William GulSion.
S N, Fobufon. He excepts agaft him, my
Lord,
L. C. ¥ Does he challenge him in refpe@ of
what I faid to him about the Owtlandifh Gentle-

men, that the King is to thew Caufe? Or how does
he challenge him ?

_ ¥ Molt certainly they might, and it is frequently dere, although there be but one Indi@ment, asin the Cafe of the Regi-
cudes and many other Cafes ; but it was more for the Intereft of the Count to try him then, though he was not aware of it

hmfielf,

Tnterpret.
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Intespret. My Lord, he fays he hears he is a
Friend to Mr. Thyna,

L. C. 7. Well, let him be paflfed by then,

Cl. of Cr. Sir Fobn MuSters, [ IWho did not appear.]

Sir. N. Fobnfon. He fays, my Lord, he only
defires indifferent Perfons,

Cl. of Cr. Henry Herbert, Efqs

Sir N. Fobufon, He challenges him,

Cl. of Cr. Richard Paget, Elq;

Sir N, Fobufon. He delives to fee him.

L. C.¥. Let him be brought into the Middlc,
that he may look upon the Prifoners.

Ipterpret,  Fle has nothing to fay againft him,

[Then be was fworn.]

Cl.of Cr. Fames Bucgone.

Interpret.  He accepts againft him,

Cl.of Cr. Clandins Derolee.

Interpret,  He excepts again{t him too.

Cl. of Cr. Charles Becloto,

Interpret. Fle fays he looks like a Man, and he
does not except againft him, [ dad he was fworn.]

CL of Cr. Ralph Buckuall, Elq;

Interpret.  He challenges him.

Cl.of Cr. Thomas Earfly, Liq;

Interpret. e challenges him too.

L. C.¥. Look you, Sir Nath. Fodufou, pray
tell him he can challenge bur twenty.

Ste N, Febifon. He fays very well 3 he will not
do any more. Ile defires the Favour, that thofe
that he challenges may not come near thole that
are {worn.

L.C. 7. Well, it fhall be fo; we will take
Care of Ir.

Cl. of Cr. Richard Gowre, Elq;

St N, Fobirfen. e excepts againft him.

Cl.of Cr. George Hocknall, Elqs

literpret, e challenges him. [ But then the

Count lookins iz bis Paper, retrafted the
Challeage, aind be was fivorn.]
Cl.of Cr. Peter Iandenbagen,
Interpret, e lays nothing o him,
| Thein be seas fworn,]

Cl.of Cr, Walt: Moyle, Elqs

Interpret,  He does not challenge him.

[ £e wwas fworn.]

ClLof Cr. Chriftopher Ripley.

Interpref.  He does not challenge him.

[ He was fworn,]

Cl. of Cr. Thomas Henflow, Ydq;

Interpret,  He does not except aginft him,

[ Then be was fiwvorn.’

Cl. of Cr. Lewis Doncarr.

Taterpret.  He challenges him.

Cl. of Cr. Peter Lecane. [ He did not appear.)

Davia Collivaux,

Interpret. e challenges him, becaufe he knew
r, Thynn, they fay.

Cl. of Cr. Aundiciv Lodderley.

Interpret,  Fle challenges him,

Cl. of Cr. fames Burk.

Interprer.  He challenges him,

Cl. of Cr. Daniel Griggion,

Interpret.  He does not challenge him,
[So be was fivorn.]

Cl. of Cr, Robert Jordan, Efq;
Interpret.  He challenges him.
Cl. of Cr. Lucy Knightley, Elqs
Interpret,  He callenges him.
Cl. of Cr. Fobn Haynes, Efq;
Interpret,  Te does not except againft him,

- [ He was fuorin.]
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Cl, of Cr. Lewis le Count,
[uterpret,  He callenges him,
Cl.of Cr. fobn Belliew,

Interpret.  He challenges him,
Cl. of Cr. Fames Frontein,

Mr, [Falliams. We challenge him for the King,

Cl. of Cr. Jobn Maffey.

Interpret,  Ile challenges him.,

Cl. of Cr. rudrews Primow,

[ieipret,  Ile challenges him.

Cl. of Cr. Nicholas Benfor.

Interpret. He challenges him. e fays they are
al Walloons, and therefore he challenges them,

L. C. 7. Why does he except againdt 7Faliogns ?

Interpret,  Becaufe they have always ferved a-
aaindt the Swedes.

Cl.of Cr. Joom Lebarr.

Interpret.  He does not except againft him.

[ Aund fo be was freri)
Cl. of Cr. Ciyer, reckon thele, &,

Sir 77ill. Roberts, Bart.
Mofes Charas, Genr,
Richara Pagett, iy,
Charles Beclpo, Gent,
Geo. Hocknall, Ligs
Pet, Vandenbagen, Gent,

IValter Moyles, 1fa;
Chr. Riplkev, Genr.
Tho, Henflew, Ffg;
Dan, Griggien, Gent,
Jobu Haynes, Efgy and
Fobit Lebarry Gent.

Their Proclamaion far Information and Prfecutios
was maae : did @ Chair scas [ for the Count,
at bis Requeft.

Cl.of Cr, Fnilernen, Look upon the Prifoners,

you that are fworn, and hearken

to their Caule ; they ftand inciéted prous in the

IndiCtment, mumtatis mutandis acain{t the

Peace of our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown

and Dignity.  Upon this Indidiment they hae

been arraigned, and thereunto have feverally
pleaded, Not Guilty : And for their Trial, have
put themiclves upon God and their Country ;
which Country you are, Your Charge is to en-
quire, whether they, or any of them are Guilty
of the Oflences whereof they ftand indited, or

Not Guilty.  And if you find them, or any of

them Guilty, you are to find what Goods or

Chartele, Lands or Tenements they had at the

Time of the Felony and Murder committed, or

at ary Timce fince, It you find them or any of

them Guuty, you are to enguire, whether they
or any of them Ped for it : If you find that they,
or any of them Hed for it, you are to enquire of
thetr Goods and Chatels, as if you had found
them Guilty 5 1f you find them or any of them Not

(Gutlty, nor that they dia fly for it, you are to fiy

fo, and no more, and hear your Evidence, But

if you acquit any one of the Principals

L.C.7f. That 1y a Millake, 1t muft be all the
Puircipuls,

ClLoof Cr. Il you acquit the Principals, youare
not to enquire of Charles-Fobin Coningfmark as Ac-
ceffary betore,

Mr, Keene.  May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and
you Gentlemen that are fworn of this Jury, Gesrpe
Borofky alias Boratzi, Chrisiopber Viatz, and fobu
Stern, the Prifonersatthe Dir. fland here inditted 3
for that they not having the Fear of God before
thetr Kyes, but being moved and feduced by the
Inftigation of the Devil, the 12¢h Day of February,
in the 34th Year of the Reign of this King, fclo-
nioufly and voluntarily, and of their Malice atore-

thought, did make an Affaultupon Thomas T /.E?{?fr
L1Q5
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Efg; at the Parifh of St. Martin's in the Fields in
this County 5 and that the faid George Borofky hav-
ino in his Hands a Blunderbufs, which he knew
to be charged with four Leaden Bullets, did dif-
charee it at Mr. Thyan, and gave him four mortal
Wounds, of which Wounds he languifhed till the
th Day of February, and then died : And that
they the faid Christopher Vratz and Fobu Stern
were there prefent, aiding, aflilling and abetting
him to commit the faid Felony and Murder ; and
fo that they the faid Gecrge Borgfky, Christopher
vratz, and Fobn Stern, did of their Malice afore-
thought, in Manner aforefaid, murder the faid
Thomas Thynn,  And Charles- fobn Contugfmark,
the other Prifoner at the Bar, flands indicted, for
that he before the Felony and Murder aforefaid,
fo done and committed, to wit, the 12th Day
of February aforefaid, did of his Malice afore-
thought, move, incite, counfel, perfuade, and
procure the faid Borofy, Vratz, and Slern, to do
that Murder, againft the Peace of the King, his
Crown and Dignity. To this Indi€tment they
have feverally pleaded Not Guilty 5 and you are
to enquire, whether they are Guilty, as they are
charged, or no.

Sir Francts Fithens, My Lord and Gentlemen,
I am of Counfel in this Cafe for the King, againft
the Prifoners at the Bar. There are three of
them indicted as Principals m this Murder, the
fourch as Acceffary before. In this Cafe that is
now bufore you, Gentlemen, I cannot choofe bue
take Notice unto you, that a Murder of this na-
ture has never been heard of to be perpetrated
upon Englifp Ground, both in refpe¢t of the
Perfon murdered, and in refpect of the Circam.
ftances of the Fadt. For the Perfon murdered,
was a Gentleman of that Quality and Eftate, that
he hath left but few Equals behind him.  Thac this
Man being in his Coach, fhould be way layed,
furprized, and murdered, and this Murder com-
mitted in the mid{t of our Streets, i1s that which
works Amazemeat in all Euglifh Hearts. And
our only Comfort upon this fad Occafion 1s, that
there s not one Native of this Country found a-
mongft all thofe that are accufed to be Inftru-
ments in this barbarous Fadt,

[ did obferve to you, Gentlemen, before, that
there are three named to be Principals 5 Borgfly,
whom for Diftin&tion fake, I fhall call by che
Name of the Polander, Vvatz, who 1s called the
Captain, and Sters, who is called the Lieute-
nant, Borofkythe Polander, we fay, was the Man
that difcharged this Blunderbufs againft this wor.
thy Gentleman that was {lain 5 but though he
was the only Man that difcharged it, yer if we
can fatisfy you that Vratz and Siern were with
him at the fame Time, aiding and aflilting him
when he gave the Blow, they are as much Prin-
cipals as he that fhot off the Gun. It will be
natural to open to you what is faid againft this
Captain Vratz 5 he is a Swede by Birth, and did
formerly belong to Count Ceninfrmark 3 he was
a Retainer to him. Afterwards, I think in the
War he was made a Captain. This Gentleman
had been formerly in England, but at the laft
Time he came, which was three Weeks, or there-
abouts, before the Murder was committed, his
Lodging was in King-Street at Westminster. This
Captain Pratz, we fhall prove, did often difcourfe
that he had a Quarrel with Mr, Thysn, that feve-
ral Times before this Murder was aftually done,
he ordered his Svrvant to way-lay his Coach s
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and upon that very fatal Day, the 12th of Fe.
bruary, when this unhappy Accident fell out, hav-
ing Iniormation that Mr. Thyar was gone out
in his Coach, immediately he puts on his Boots,
gives Order to his Servant to bring his Clothes
to him at fuch a Place, becaufe he fhould remove
his Lodging, he faid, that Night, that he fhould
bring his Clothes to the Black-Bull Inu in Holborn,
and bring his Horfe thicher too. When he weng
from his Lodging, the Polander went along with
him, and they*came to the Black-Bull in Holbors,
where they met with Stern. We (hall thew you,
that thefe three Gentlemen being thus armed, one
with a Blunderbafs, the fecond with Piftols, and
the other very well provided, rid out abour fix
of the Clock, the Murder being committed about
feven or eight, At their going out, they enqui-
red which was their Way to Zemple-Bar 5 they
were feen to ride through the Strand to St. Fames’s,
the Fact was done in the Pall-Mall, and we (hall
fhew you the Way of it was thus ; Mr, Thynu
pafling through the Street o go home in his
Coach, three Perfons came riding up to the Coach
Side, and while the one ftopped the Horfes, im-
mediately the Blunderbuls was difcharged into the
Coach againft Mr, Thynn, and gave him thofe
Wounds, of which the next Morning he died.
Prefently thefe three Men ran away, but one of
them let fall a Piltol upon the Place, which I fhall
obferve as a material Circumftance againft thefe
Perfons, becaufe we fhall prove whote the Blun-
derbufs was. Thele Things being done, this
Murder commiited, and they gone away, it be-
gan to work in People’s Thoughts, and Circuns-
ftances began to come out, that this Blunderbufs
fhould be ordered to be brought by Captain Zrasz,
who had dilcourfed with many Perfons about the
Quarrel he had with Mr, Thyun, and given Order
to his Servant to way-lay his Coach ; and thefe
Perfons being rid our at that Time, there was a
great Sufpicion that they did it, Great Care there
was taken, and great Means ufed, as no doub
there would be, to apprehend the Malefactors
and by great Providence it was found our at laft,
that this Captain Fratz, according to his Word,
had altered his Lodging, and was gor te 2 Doc-
to’s Floufe, that lived, I think, in Leicester-
Fields, Being there furprized, and coming upon
his Examination, ke did not deny but he was chere
one of the three that was ar the Place when and
where Mr. Thyan was murdered, but he pretend-
ed, he did intend to fight him in a Duel, and kill
him fairly, as he called it, But, Gentlemen, I
muft obferve this to you, in my fmall Time of Ex-
perience of the World, I never knew a Man go to
ficht a Ducl, and carry out with him a Second
with a Blunderbufs. *Tis not pofiible he thould
co with fuch a Deflign as he would infinuate, but
rather with an Intenticn of Murder,  For the Po-
lander, he came into Eugland but the Friday be-
fore, and fo we fhall prove to you that which will
ftick hard upon the Count. Upon Friday, he be-
ing landed, he enquires for the young Count’s
Tutor, which wasatan Academy of one Monlicur
Faubert’s 3 and there he enquires for the Counr’s
Secretary 5 he lay there, I think, that Night, and
upon Saturdey he was conveyed to the Count’s
Lodgings, There alfo he was lodged for one
Night. The Count was pleafed to befpeax him
a very good Sword, and a Coat for him, that he
might be well armed, and thefe he lay on Sazur-
day Night, as I faid, the Night betore the Murder

was:
4
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was committed. Upon Sunday, Gentlemen, there
being a Meflage fent to this Doltor, where Vratz
lay, the Nighe following that the Count would
{fpeak with the Doétor, the Doétor came, and the
Doltor and the Polander went away to Captain
Vratz’s Lodging, and from thence to Holbors,
to the Black-Bull, and the Captain was carried in
as much Secrecy as he could, for he was carried
in 2 Sedan 3 and I think we fhall be able to prove,
by the Perfons that carried bim, that this was the
Man, Forthe other Gentleman, Stern, the Licu-
tenant, as they call him, he was an ancient Ac-
quaintance of Captain Pralz’s, had known him
long ago in Ewngland, and complained to him,
that Lodgings might be very dear; but the Cap-
tain told him, be had a Defign ; and if he would
affift him as a brave Fellow, would maintain him,
and he fhould nor want Money to bear all his
Charges. But we fhall prove that this was the
third Perfon that rid our with the Polander, and
the Captain in this Garb that I told you of, this
Night that the Falt was done, And indeed, Gen-
tlemen, upon their Examination, they have every
one confefled the Faét; even the Polander confefled
that he did fhoot off the Blunderbufs ; and Viaiz
confefled that he was there, and the Lieutenant
Stern 5 fo that if there had been no more Evi-
dence, it would have been fufficient to maintatn
the Iffue, and in our Circumftances, it is more
perhaps than could be expeéted, This, Gentle-
men, is the principal Sum of the Evidence that
wiil be given againft the three Principals. For
the fourth, Gentlemen, Count Cousnfemark, he is
a Perfon of great Quality, and I am extraordina-
ry forry to find the Evidence fo ftrong againft
him, as my Briet impores 5 1 with his Innocence
were greater, and our Evidence lefs 3 for he is a
Perfon of too great Quality, one would hope, to
be concerned in 2 Thing of this Nature 3 but that
he was the main Abettor and Procurer of this
barbzrous Bufinefs, we fhall prove upon thefe
Grounds : Firlt, That he had a Defign upon Mr,
Thyna’s Life ; for, Gentlemen, coming into Eng-
land about three W: s before this Matter was
tranfacted, firft he lies in Difguife, and lives pri-
vate, and removes his Lodging from Place to
Place frequently 3 that he fent a Perfon to en-
quire of the Swedifh Refident, whether, or no,
if he fhould kil Mr, Thyin in a Duel, he could
by the Laws of England afterwards marry the
Iady Ogle 7 So that Mr. Zhysn’s Death was in
Proipett from the beginning, Gentlemen, we
fhall prove to you, as I did in fome Mealure
open before, that the Count himfelf was pleafed
to give exprels Order, that the Polander thould
have a good Sword bought him 5 that before he
came into Eugland, he was very much troubled,
by reafon of the {tormy Weather, for fear he
fhould be caft away 5 that he lodged him in his
own Lodging the Night before this A¢t was per-
petraied 3 and that Captain Pratz was the Morn-
ing before, and immediately after, with the Count,
Another thing, Gentlemen, thac I had almoft for-
got : The Count was willing to be inftruted in
the Laws of Eugland, and enquired, Whether 2
Man might lawfully ride out upon a Sunday 2 And
being told, Thar after Sermon he might 3 he was
very well fatishied ; and the Day he enquired of i,
was the Day that the Murder was committed,
Atter the Thing was done, Count Coninfemark, the
next Moraing, pretended he was to go to #indfer,
and leaves his Lodging ; but inftead of going to

1

Windfor, (bewng full in his Difguife) he goes to
Rotherbith, by the Water-fide, and there, I think,
he continues two or three Days in a black Peruke,
(and that is Difguife enough for fuch a Gentle-
man) and afterwards he goes to Gravefoud ,
but, I think, he was upon the Water fome Time,
before he thought it convenient to land ; ang
there he was furprized in this Dilguife, And
when he was furprized and taken, he fhewed hir.
felf to be in great Diforder ; but being charged
with the Fact, acknowledged nothing of the
Matter. Buot how it fhould come to pafs, that
he fhould lie fo long difguifed, upon no Pretence
that can be known, and afterwards to pretend
that he had a Bulinefs toeflet, and then he was
to go into France, that will lie upon him to apn-
{wer, But thefe are the inducing Evidences that
we give to you ; his keeping the Polander in his
Houfe, his difguiling of himfelf, and his enquir-
ing, Whether if he killed Mr. Thyun, he might
not marry my Lady Ogle 2 His flisht the next
Day, and pretending to go to /7

wdfor, when he
went quite the other Way, and all in a Difguife ;
and thefe Perfons not having any Appearance, os
any Reafon whatfoever, for any particular Quar-
rel to Mr. Thyan, but the Count having fome Dif-
guft to him, upon the Terms that the Witneffes
will tell you of by and by, and being related to
the Count, we muft leave it to you to judge, whe-
ther thefe Gentlemen did it fingly and purely vpon
their own Heads, or whether they were not fet up-
on it by the Count,

Sir Fra. Winn. My Lord, I fhall not trouble
you with repeating of our Evidence, but we will
begin and call our Wimefles, direétly to prove
the Murder done by thefe Gentlemen ; we will
prove the Fact dewnright upon them, and then
we [hall afterwards come to the Couat,

Mr., IZidliams. My Lord, firft we will direct
Evidence to the Principals, and then to the Ac-
ceflary.  Call William Cole and William Ellers,

L. C. J. Swear fome Perlon to interpret the
Evidence that fhall be given: Ido it for the fake
of the Aliens that are of the Jury 3 for fome of
them underltand no Eugfifh, and they will not
know what to make of the Evidence, if they do

not repeat it to them in their own Language,

Then Vandore and Wright were frworn for the
Kiug,

Sir N, Fobnfon. My Lord defires that the Doétor
and the Taylor that are in Prifon may be fent for,
to be here, for they are Witnefies for him,

Sit Fra. Winn, We defire they may be here too,
for they are Witnefles for the King, and I believe
they are here, my Lord,

Sit N. Fobufon. Mr. Vandore does not {peak
French.

Sit Will. Roberts, Mr. Craven {peaks Duler
and French very well,

Mr. Craven was fworn.

Sit N, Fobnfon. The Count defires the Favour
of Pen and Ink.
L. C. 7. Let the Count have Pen and Ink.
Mr., Williams. Call William Cole and William

Ellers,
(WWho appeared, and were fworn.)

Which s William Cole 2 Set him up. Acquaint
. my
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my Lord and the Jury ht;WMr. Thynn was affault-
ed, and the Manner of it ¢ |

Cole. My Lord, my Malter was coming up
St, Fames's-fireet from the Countefs of Northuni-

nd’s.
bﬁréﬂir Fvan. Winr, Name your Mafter,

Mr. Williams. Who was your Mafter ? ‘

Cole. Mr. Thyns. And had a Flambean in my
Hand, and was going befgre the Coach, and com-
ing along, at the lower End of St, Albans-firect,
heard the Blunderbufs go off; {o upon that I
warned my Face back, and faw a great Smoke,
and heard my Mafter cry out he was murdered :
And I fee three Horfemen riding away on the
right-fide of the Coach, and 1 purfued after them,
and cried out, Murder : I'ran to the upper End
of the Hay-market, till 1 was qgoite fpent, and was
able to go no further 5 and turning back again, my
Mafter was got into the Houfe, and I underftood
he was wounded : That is all I know.

Mr Williams. You fay you heard g Blunderbufs
go off, and turning back, you faw threc Men
riding away from the Coach.

Cole, Yes.

Mr. Williams, Look upon the Prifoners at the
Bar: Can you fay all of them, or any of them
were the Men ?

Cole. No, I cannoty I did not fee their Faces,
but I faw the Horle of one of them was a lutle
Bay Horle,

Mr. Williams. But do you take any of them
Wien to be one of the three ?

Cole. 1did not fce any of their Faces.

Sir Fr. Winn, What Time of Night was it?

Cole. A Quarter afeer Eight,

Sir. Fr. Winn. Pray what Day of the Week ?

Cole. Sunday.

Sir Fr, Winn, What Day of the Month?

Cole. The rith or 12th of February.

Sir £r. Winn, Then, where ts B lliam Ellers?
Prav do you tell the Court and Jury how Mr.
Thyair was wounded, and by whom, and what you
know of it.

Lficrs, My Lord, I came with my Malter
from St Fames's-firect from my Lady Nortbum-
berland’s, and as [ came at St. Albans-fireet, there
came three Men riding by the right-fide of the
Couch, and as they ri., one of them turned abour,
and bid me ftop, you Dogs; and juft as 1 looked
abour, the Fire was let into the Coach upon my
Maufter, and the Men ran away as faft as they
could.

Sir Fr, inn, How many were there of them?

Illers, There were three.

Sir Fi. Winn, Were thofe Men at the Bar, or
any of them the Perfons?

Elers. 1 cannor tell.

Sic Fr. Finn, What were the Words they faid
when the Coach was ftopped ¢! Hold, hold, or
ftop, you Dog ?

Mr, Williams, What Condition was your Mafter

In then? Was he fhot then?
Fllers. Yes.

Mr, [Pilliams. We will give youfome Evidence
now out of their Examinations,

L.C.¥. You had beft give fome Evidence of
s Wounds.

Mr. Williams, Yes, we will, Call Mr, Hobbs
the Surgeon,

L. C. #. Look you, Mr, Craven, you hear
what thefe Witnefles fay, tell it to the Gentlemen

of the Jury that are Ontlandifb Men, That thefe
Vou. IIL
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Witnefles fwear, there were three Men did do
this ‘T'hing 5 the one of them ftopped the Coach,
and the other thot mto'it, bur it was at that Time
of Night, they could not know their Faces, and
they all rid away., |

Mr. Craven. My Lord, if you pleafe, the Wit-
nefles may fpeak By Degrees, and between every
Winefs I will give the Jury an Account,

L. C.7. Well, it thall be fo ;5 but they fay no

more than what 1 tell you, That three Men did
do this.

Then be tnterpreted it to the Fury.

L. C./. What fays that Gentleman to you?
Mr. Craven, He fays, he bears that three Men

did do it, but he fays, he does not hear that they
knew any of them.

Then Myr. Hobbs was fwori.

Mr. Williams. Had you the fearching of Mz,
Thynn’s Body after it was hurt ?

Mr. Hobbs, Yes. *

Mr, WWilliams. How did you find him ¢

Mr, Hobbs, T was with him, Sir, that Night
he was wounded, and I found him fhot with four
Bullets, which entered into his Body and tore his
Guts, and wounded his Liver, and his Stomach,
and his Gall, and wounded his great Guts, and
his fmall Guts, and broke one of the Ribs, and
wounded the grear Bone below.,

Sir Fr. Winn, What Time came you to him?

Mr, Hebbs, About nine or ten of the Clock.

Sic Br. Winn, Did he die of thofe Wounds ¢

r. Hobbs., Yes, he did die of thofe Wounds.

Mr, Williams. Did you apprehend them all
mortal, or any, or which of them?

Mr, Hobbs. 1 believe there was never a Wound
but 1t might prove mortal.

Sww Fr. IVinn,  Now tell us what Day of the
Week, and what Day of the Month it was.

Mr. Hobbs. It was Sunday Night, the r2th of
February, I think.

L. C. }J. What did you obferve of the Bullets,
was there any Thing done to them more than or-
dinary 2

Mr, Hebbs. T could not fee any Thing, I have
them here, my Lord.

L. Chief Baron, Were they Iron or Lead ¢

Then Mr. Hobbs delivered them into Court.

Mr, Hebbs. Two of them, the littles one, may
be lron ; for one of them went through a thick
Bone, and yer there was no Impreffion on it

L. C.F. And this that has the Impreffion, you
think might be done againfl the Bones.

Mr, Hobbs, Yes.

L. C. 7. Was this left ragged on purpole todo
the more Milchief ¢ |

Mr. Hobbs. Which, my Lord?

L. C.J. This that is left at the End here,
Would this be more mortal than another Bullet,
or harder to heal

Mr, Hobbs. No, but as they take up a greater
Space 1n flying, |

L.C. 7. Would not the Raggednefs hinder the -
Healing ?

- Mr. Hobbs. No, only bruife the Flefh, which
bruifed Flefh muft come away before 1t can be
healed. All Bullets wound by bruifing of the
Flefh,

L.C ¥ Well, thele were the four Bullets that
were found in Mr, Thyni’s Body 2

Ppp M. Habbs.
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Mr. Hobbs. 1 verily believe they are. Dr, Lower
had them out of my Hands for a Day or two, but
I believe them to'be the fame. |

L. C.F. Was there any lodged in the Stomach?

Mr. Hobbs. Yes, one of the little ones.

L.C.¥. Had they broke the great Bone ?

Mr, Fobbs. Yes, the great Bone in the Bottom
of the Belly.

L.C.’. Two of them?

Mr. Hobbs. A great one and a little one; two
of them pafled through that Bone, and lodged in
the Back-bone.

L.C. 7. Was any of them gone through the
Body *

Mr. Hobbs. One of them lay berween the Ribs
and the Skin,

L.C.}. None were got quite through then ?

Mr, Hobbs. None.

Sir Fr, Winn, Call the Coroner, Mr. [Vhite.

L. C. 7. Tell the Jury, Mr. Craven, what this
Witnefs has faid.

[Then be tuterpreted it

L. C.¥. What fays that Gentleman ¢

Mr. Craven. He {ays’us very well, he under-
ftands part of it.

L. C. ¥. Do therelt of them under{tand 1t ?

Sir N. Fobajon. He told it in Freinch to the others.

L. C. F. Let Mr. Hobbs have the Bullets again
when the Jury have feen them.

Then Mr, White was frvori,

Siv Fr. IViun, Now we will afk the Coroner
a Queftion or two. Pray will you acquaint my
Lord, what you know of this Murder of Mr. Thya.

Mr. [Vhite, On the thirteenth of Febrreary, In
the Afternocon, I fat upon the Body of Thomas
Thynn, Elq; and I found he had four Holes on his
right-lide, behind his fhort-ribs, and they feemed
to be like Holes made with Bullets,  And I gave
Order to open the Body,

L. C. 7. And there the Bullets were found?

Mr. Wbite. There the Surgeon found then,

L.C. 7. Were you by?

Mr. White. 1 was : the taking them out,

L. C. 7. *T's fit that the Polander thould have
one to Interpret what s faid againft him.

Mr, Williams. Captain Pratz, you hear what is
{faid, and underftand it,

Interpreter. He fays he does underftand it.

Mr, illiams. Pray tell the Polander what is faid,
That 15, the two firlt Witneffes fay, Three Per-
fons aflanlted the Coach, and one fhot into the
Coach, and by that Means Mr, Zhynn was killed,
by the Shot out of the Blunderbufs: And the Sur-
geon does fay, that thefe four Bullets were found
in his Body,

[Then 1t wwas interpreted to the Polander. ]

Interpreter, He fays, my Lord, he cannor tell
how many Bullets were in, he did not charge it
himfelf, but he fired it, he fays,

Str Fr. Winn. He confefles he fired then,

Sit B, Roberts. My Lord, the Jury defire to
know if the Pole can tell who did charge it ?

L.C. 5. North, Afk him who charged 1t

Tmterpreter, He can tell, my Lord, he fays.

L. C. 7. TIrwill not be very material that, for
his Evidence can charge no Body but himfelt,

Sir. Fr. Winn, Now, my Lord, if you pleale,

. *® Thefe Examinations are inferted at the End of this Trial,

we will call thofe Perfons, the Juftices of the Pegca
that examined thefe Men upon cheir Apprehenfion
for the Murder of Mr. Thynn, Call Mr., B:-i:{gi
mayn and Sir Fobu Rerefly.

[ Who were fworn flanding upon the Beieh,

Interpreter. My Lord, he fays the Blundé'rbuié
was given him by the Cuaptain,

S Fr, Wi, Mr. Brideman, were you by at
the taking of the Examination of thefe Perfong?

Mr, Bridgeman. Yes, I was, And thefe were
the Examinations that were taken.

Sic Fr, Winn, Were you by all the while ?

Mr. Bridgman. Sir Jobu Rerefby and ] did take
thefe Examinations*. And I will read them if you
pleafe,

L. C. 7. Asto that, let italone, it you pleafe,
Mr., Bridgman, when the Pelander was examined
concerning, this Murder, what did he fay 2

Mr, Bridgman. He owned it, to the beft of my
Remembrance 5 but I refer to the Examination if
I miftake.

L. C. 7. Look upon it to refrefh your Memory,
Sir, and then tell us, '

Mr. [Villiams. Look frft what the Polander faid,
and then we will go on to the others,

Sww Fr. Wi, Now, Sir, will you pleale to ac-
quauint my Lord and the Jury what he or any of
them confefled of the Fadt,

L. C. J. What the Polander confeffed it

Mr. Bridgman, 'The Polaidzr, upon his Exami-
nation before Sir Fobi Rerefby and me, did own
that he came into England at the Defire of Count
Coningfmark.

L. C. ¥. Speak onlyasto himfelf ; for it is Evi-.
dence only againft himfelf,

Sir Fr. Winn, My Lord, his Confeffion is entire,
and we can’t {eparate it,

L.C.7. But we muft direét what is juft and
fitting. His Evidence can charge no body bu
himfelf 5 and that is the Reafon 1 would not have
his Examination read 5 for it cannot be read bus
only againft himfelf.

Mr. Bridgman., Upon his Examination he con-
fefled, that he was prefent when the Captain ftop-
ped the Coach 3 chat he fired the Mufquetoon by
the Captain’s Order ; and that before he did it, the
Captain bid him, as foon as ever he had {topped
the Coach, to fire,

Sir Fr. Winn, Did he confefs he did fire 2

Mr. Bridgman. Yes, hedid.

L. C. 7. North., As he does now.,

L.C.7. Look you, nowdo you tell the Polas-
der, that the Lvidence againft him is, That he
did fire this Mufquetoon, or Blunderbufs, or what
you will call it.

Inicipreter. He does confefs it. -

L. C. #. Tell him what I fay, that this Evidence
1s gtven againft him : That he did formerly ac-
knowledge he difcharged the Blunderbufs into the
Coach, when Capuain Vrasz ftopped the Coach.

Interpreter, Yes, my Lord, he fays *s true, ke
fired according to his Order.

Sir Fr. Winn, Pray, Sir, confider what was con-
fefled by the Captain.

Mr. Bridgman. He confefled he had a Defign to
bght with Mr, Thyin, and Mr. Thynn having feve-
ral times refufed to fight with him, he refolvedto
oblige him to figcht by Force, and therefore he

the Chicf Jultice, out of Favour to Count Coningfinm ¥, ot

permitiing them to be read in Court, ashe nug_ht to have done ; for the Examinations are indeetl no Evidence againdt any lrut
the xaminant, yet are they not to be fupptefled becaufe naming others, but ought neverthelefs to be read, though with the
aforefaid Caution to be given to the Jury, otherwife the moft material Evidence might be quite negle@ted, fince all Confeflions

mult be taken entire, or not atall.

had
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had taken thefe Perfons along with him ; that if
Le fhould fail in his Revenge, or after the thing
done he fhould be purfued, he might make his
Efcape, He confeficd he was there, and ftopped
the Coach, but the Polonian fired by Miftake ;
tor he did not bid him fire, but only in cafe he
thould be hindered from Fighting or making his

Efcape.
L. C. 7. He confefled he came to fight Mr.

Thynit, |
Mr. Bridgman. Yes, he did fo.

L.C.§. And that he ftopped the Coach?
Mr, Bridgman. Yes.

Sir Fr. Winn. You faid after the thing was °

done, what was that thing ? |
Mr, Bridgman. Alter he had fought, in cafe he

fhould be ftopped in his Efcape, he bid the Po-

Jander fire, |
Sir Fra. Winn, Did he confels any thing of the

Delivery of the Gun to him ?

Mr. Brideman. He confefled the Polander had

the Gun, but he faid nothing from whom he had
it,
L. C. ¥. Now Captain Prafz, you hear what
s faid againft you by this Gentleman; that you
owned you came thither with a Defign to fight
Mr. Thyiir, and force him to fight if he {hould
not be willing 5 and you brought thefe Men with
youto carry you off, incafe you fhould kill him 4
that you did {top the Coach, and you faid you did
not give him Order to fire, unlefs he refufed to
fight you,

Mr. Bridgman, No, unlefs he could not make
his Efcape.

L. C.¥. Now what {ay you to this?

Sir N. Fobufon. He deflires to underftand it.

L.C. 7. Why then fpeak it to him, you that
are the Interpreter.,

[Then Mr. Craven tuterpreted it to bim inFrench.]

L.C.F. Now [peak aloud, and tell us what he
fays.

Mr, Craven. He fays *tis very true, that he was
there, and had that Gentleman and the Polandzr
along with him as his Servants, Mr, Zhynn being
a Gentleman that had always a great many Ser-
vants about him. And he fays, my Lord, that
he had received an Affront from Mr. Thynn 3 up-
on that, he challenged him, and fent Letters out
of Holland to delire him to give Satisfaction by
Fighung, but could have no Satisfattion ; and
therefore becaufe in England Duels were forbid,
he thought to make a Rencounter of it, and took
thele Gentlemen along with him, that if fo be Mr.
Thyn’s Szrvants fhould aflault him, or knock him
on the Head, or hinder him from elcaping, that
they might get him off.

Sir Br. Winn. | beg one Favour of you, Sir,
that you would afk him one Queftion, and that
i:" V;Jhat the Affront was that Mr, Thynn gave

im £

L. C. 7. That he apprehends he gave him ?

[The Interpreter afked bim.]

Mr, Craven, My Lord, he fays, Thatat Rich-
mond he heard he fpoke and gave out very ill
Language of Count Coningfinark, who was his
Friend, and a Man he had many Obligations to,
and {o of himfelf too, and he would never acquaint
Count Coningfrnark with it, but would have Sa-
tisftation, and take the Quarrel upon himfelf, be-
Ing a Gentleman ; he fays, that he heard that he
called him Hector, and gave fuch ill Language as
was never to be [uffered,

Vor, 111 '
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Sic N, Fobnfon. And the Fathion in Germany iss
if they won’t fight, to fhoot them.

Sir Fran, Winn. How can you tell that, Sir?
tg? Interpreter that afked the Queftion fays no fuch
thing,

L. C.7. Pray will you afk him this, Whether
ever he faw Mr. Thynn, and how many Times?

Mr. Craven. He fays he has feen him feveral
Times in the Playhoule, and riding in his Coach ;
he did not fee him at Richmond, for if he had, he
would not have pur it up fo long.

Mr, Williams. 1 believe he never {poke to him
in his Life.

L.C.7. Afk him that
ever {poke to him?

Mr. Craven, He fays he had no Friend to fend
to Mr, Thynn, and he could not fpeak with Mr.
Thynn himfelf ; for Mr. Thysn might think that
lf;g: was not a Gentleman good enough to fight with

Im,

L.C. 7. Afk him this, about what Time he
faw him at the Play-houfe?

Mr., Craven. He fays he does notremember ex-
actly the Time when he did fee him at the Play-
houfe,

L.C. ¥. Afk him whether this Affront that he
pretends, was given him {ince he laft came over, or
when he was in England before ?

Mr. Craven, He fays 'tis eight Months ago
fince he received the Affront.

L. C. 7. That was before he went out of Eng-
land, '

Mr, Craven. Yes, it was before.

Sir Fran. Winn. He fays he writ to Mr. Thynn
out of Holland ; we defire to know by whom he
{ent his Challenge ?

L.C.7. Afk him if he fent a Challenge to
Mr. Thynn, and by whom ?

Mr. Craven. He fays he could fend no lefs than
a Gentleman ; and he had never a Gentleman to
fend by, and fo he fent his Letter by the Poft.

Mr, Williams, Mr, Bridgman, now we would
afk you concerning Mr. Stern, the third Man,

Mr, Bridgman. Let me have the Examination,
and 1 will Jook upon it and tell you.

. Mr. Williams, Pray do, &ir, tell us what he
ad.

Mr. Bridgman. Upon his Examination he con-
fefled, that the Captain told him, he had a Quar-
rel with a Gentleman, and that if he would affift
him in it, he would make his Fortune, And that
the Captain gave him Money to buy the Blua-
derbufs.

Sir Fr, Winn, Stern did confefs that, did he?

Mr. Bridgman,- Yes.

L: C. ¥. Did he confefs he was at the Fact?

Mr. Bridgman, Yes, he confeflfed he was at the
Fact; and he faid, when he came beyond Charing-
crofs, he was about ten Yards before, and he heard
the Captain fay, ftop, to the Coach, upon which
he turned abour, and prefently faw the Shot made,
and he faw the other Perfons ride away, and he
made away after them : And the Caprain further
told him, that he would give two or three, or four
hundred Crowns, to find a Man that would kill
Mr. Thynn.

Sir Fr, Winn. Whatdid he fpeak about {tabbing,
or about an Htalian?

Mr. Bridgman. He faid that the Captain delired
him to get an ffalian that would ftab a Man, and
that he would get two Poniards for that Purpole ;

and that it was before the Polonian came over.
| Ppp2 L.C. 7.

Queftion, whether he
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L.C. ¥. This is no Evidence againft the Cap-
tain; but pray will you tell Stern the Lieutenant
what it is that Mr. Brideman does teltify againft
him ; that he acknowledged thus and thus before
him. And pray fpeak it again, Mr. Bridgman.

Mr. Bridgman, The Captain told that Gentle-
man, that he had a Quarrel with a Gentleman,
with whom he was refolved to fight; that he want-
ed a good Servant, and if he would affit him,
he would make his Fortune; that he gave him
Money to buy the Mulquetoon, and owned he
was there ; that he went out with the Caprain and

Polander on Horfeback, about five or fix o’Clock

on Sunday y that they went towards Charing-crofs
and when they were gone beyond Charing-crofs
mto the Pall-Mall, he heard the Captain fay to the
Coachman, Stop; and turning immediately, he
faw the Shot go oft; and that they riding away,
he followed themy ;. And that before the Polander
came over, the Captain delired him to get an
Italian to {tab a Man.

[Then that was interpreted to Steen,

Mr, Craven, My Lord, he denies that he
fpoke any thing of four hundred Pounds, orabout
the lalian, '

L.C. 5. Tell him it is teftified, that he confefled
he was at the Shooting of this Gentleman,

Mr., Craven. He fays be was there, and being
sbout ten Yards off, he heard one fay, Hold to
the Coach, but he cannot fay 1t was the Captain,

Sie Fr, IVinn. But was he there?

Mr, Craveir. Yes, be fays he was.

Sir Fr. I¥inn. Who caufed him to be there?

L.C. 7. Afk him upon what Occafion he was
there ?

Nr, Craven, He fays the Captain intreated him
to be there to be his Szcond, to fight with a Gen-
tleman, and that was the Reafon.

L.C.¥. Praycell him’ns teftified bere, that he
bought the Mufquetoon and charged it.

Mr. Craven. He fays he did aflift at the Loading
of it, he was by,

Siv i, Winn, Pray, my Lord, let us know
who it was aflited hir °

L. C.f. Why, thatis no Evidence againft any
body.

Sir. I'r. Vinn. But, my Lord, it was delivered
to the Pelander charged, and we defire to know
who loaded it ?

L. C.F. North, That isno Evidence 5 but yet
the Queftion may be afked, and the Jury may be
told *us no Kvidence.

L.C.7. But we mult not let the Jury be pof-
fefled by that which is not Evidence.

L.C.J. Nesth, Pray will you afk him, Mr.
Cievenr, who helped him to load the Gun,

M, Craven. The Captain was by, he fays, and
the Captain and he did 1t together.

S Fr. Winir. Now we will atk Sir Fobn Rerefby
the fame Queftions : You were by, Sir, at the Ex-
aminations of thele three Men, pray what did
the Polauder {fay upon his Kxamination ¢
© Sir Fobu Rerefby. My Lord, I cannot charge
my Memory with the Particulars; bur if your
Lordthip pleafes, I will read it.

L.C. ¥. No, refrefh your Memory withit, and -

then teil us the Subftance of 1,

Sir Fobu Rerefby. In general, he did confefs to
me, that he was the Perfon that did difcharge the
Biunderbufs into Mr. Thyin’s Coach, and that he
was commanded fo to do by Captain Pratz,

L. C.¥. That is the Subftance of all,
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Sic Fr. Winn, That is as to him; but whar did
Captain Pratz fay?

L. C. 7. He faid that he did go out with an Ij;-
tention to fight with Mr, Thyun, and did take thefe
Perfons with him ; thac he did not order the p,.
lander to difcharge, buc he miftook him when fie
bid the Coachman ftand, the other apprehended he
bid him thoot, and he did fo,

My, Williams, What faid Siern 2

Sir Jobn Rerefly.  Stern did fay this, that the
Captain told him he had a Quarrel with an Eunglif)
Gentleman, and defired him to go along with
him and affift him in it, and be his Second 5 bu,
faid he, I was chiefly carried out to keep off the
People, in cafe there fhould be a Croud abouyt
them when they were fighting ; this is the chief
Part of what they did confefs.

L. C. 7. We would not trouble you with more
than is material. Did he acknowledge he was
there at the Time when he was tho ?

Sir Jobu Rerefby. Yes, he did, about nine or
ten Yards off, [ chink,

L. C. 7. Allthree confeficd they were there?

Sir Fobn Rerefly.  Yes, they did fo.

L. C. 7. North, They had a Defign of killing,
which was unlawful,

Sir Fobn Rerefby. They faid they came on Pur-
pofe to fight.

Sic Fro Winn, Call Michael Ferderoffon, WMy
Lord, we would willingly fpare your Time, and
offer only what Is proper m this Cafe, and now
we fhall produce our Evidence againtt the Count,
and if any thing fall out in that Evidence that
touches thefe three Men (which we think will be
but the killing of dead Men) your Lordthip will
take Notice of it. Now we fhall not go to open
the Heads of our Evidence againft the Count, Sir
Francis [V1tbens has given an Account of the genc-
ral, and our Witneffes will beft declare it.

Mr. Williams, We will begin with Frederick
Hanfon,

[F7ho was frworn and flood 1p.)

Mr, Haufon. How long have you known Count
Coningfmark ?

Mr, Haufon. A mateer of four Years.

Mr. Williams. Pray do you remember his laft
coming into Eugland ?

Mr. Hanfon. Yes, my Lord, I do remember it.

Mr, Williams, Then let us know the Time.

Mr. Hanfon. Ithink ’tis above a Month fince.

Mr. Williams, Where was his Lodging firft?

Mr, Hanfon. The firlt Time I faw him was in
the Poft-Houfe.

Mr. Williams. Did he come privately or pub-
lickly ?

Mr. Hanfon. Privately, to my beft Knowledge.

Mr, Williams. Which was his firft Lodging?

Mr. Hanfon. In the Hay-market.

Mr., Williams, Where there?

Mr. Hanfon. At the Corner Houfe.

Mr. Williams. How long did he continue there?

Mr, Hanfor. A matter of 2 Week,

Mr. Williams. Pray in all that Time did he keep

privately at home, or did he go abroad fome-
times ¢

Mr, Haufon. 1 believe he kept his Chamber all

the Time.
Mr. Williams, Were you with him at any Time
there ? 1
Mr. Haunfon. Yes, 1 was,
Mr. Williams. What Company did ufe to be
with him to your Knowledge ? M
r,
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Mr. Hanfor. To my Knowledge I have feen
Dr., Frederick in his Company.

My, Williams. One Dr. Frederick, you fay,
.
Wh;dﬂfif;wfm. When I came from Whitehall on

a Sunday in the Evening, when my Lord was
going 1o 3ed, [ called,

if I could be admitted o
Ffe him, fo I went 1n to him, and a little after the
came,

DOSL?I-D}:'. [inn.  Pray, Sir, at that ’_I'ime that !IC
was in that Lodging, did he wear his own Hair,
or was he in a Difguile? | o

M. Hanfon,  That Sunday Night he was in his
Nighe-Cap and Night-Gown, ready to goto Bed,

Nr. Williams.  When you firft came to him to
the Poft-houfe, did you go of your own Accord,
or were you fent for f

Mr. Hanfon.  Count Coningfmark fent for me,

Me I illiams. Was it fent in his own Name, or
the Name of another ¢

Mr. Hanfon. 1t was in a ftrange Name, Carlo
Cufk, :

Mr. F#illiams.  Have you the Note by you ?

Mr. Hanfon. No,

My [¥illiams. 1o whofe Charalter was it writ ?

Mr. Hanfon.  1n the Count’s own Charater,

Sir Fr. Wum.  What was bis Name in his firlt
Lodging ? What Title was he called by, Captain,
or whar ?

Mr. Haitfon. 1know of no other Name but only
the Stranger.

Sir Fr, Wi,  Was it known to any Perfon in
the Family ? *

Mr, Hanfon. No.

Mr. Williams, When did he remove from
thence ?

Mr. Hanfan. I know not.

Sir Fra, Wyun, You fay the firft Place of his
Lodging was in the Hay-market, where did you
jve him the fecond Time?

Mr, Hanfen. At a Corner-Houle, I know not
the Name of the Street.

Sir Frau, Withens,  Did he diret you to come
to him ¢

Mr. IVilliams. FHad you any Dilcourfe with
him, what his Bulinefs was here in Exngland ¢

Me. Haufou. 1 afked him, if we thould have
his Company here fome Time ? Ie told me he
was come over about fome Bufinefs, and was af-
rwards to go 1nto France.

Mr. Williams. ‘Then he never told you what
that Bufinefs was ?

Mr, Haufoi. No.

Mr. Williams. Where was lus fecond Lodging,
do you fay ¢ ,

Mr, Hanfon. It was at a Corner-Houfe, not
above two Streets off from the former.

Mr. WW:lliams. How long did he continue in his
fecond Lodging ?

Mr. Hanfon. A few Days, becaufe the Chimney
did fo {fmoke, that he could have no Fire made
in it, '

Sir Fra. Winn. Then 1 afk you in his fecond
Lodging, was he there publickly or privacely ?

Mr, Hanfon. He was there after the fame Man-
ner that he was in ‘his firft Lodging,

Mr, Williams. Whither went he afterwards ?
~ Mr, Hanfon. To St. Marti's-Lane, 1 think
it 15 called.

Mr. Williams. How long did he continue there ?

Mr, Hanfon. There I faw him thé lat Time
before he went away.

1
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Mr, Williams, When was that ?

Mr. Hanfon. 1t was Sewnday Evening, after I
came from Phiteball,

Mr. Williams, Was it near the Time of killing
Mr. Thymn ?
Mr. Hanfon,

afterwards.

Mr. Williams. 'Was he as private there as he
was In his other Lodgings ?

Mr, Hanfon. Yes.

Mr. Williams, 'What Company came to him
thither ?

Mr, Hanfon, The fame that came to him in the
other,

Stv Fr. Winn.  Who were they 2

Mr, Hanfon. The Do&or was in his Company.

Sir Fra, Winn, And who elfe ?

Mr. Hanfon. 1 faw one Caprain Zratz there,

Sir Fr, Winn,  Sir, 1afk you upon your Oath,
you are a Man of Uaderltanding, Did you fre-
quently fee Captain Zra/z in his Company ? How
often ¢o you remember you faw himy at his
Lodging ?

Mr. Hanfon. 1 do not remember that I faw
%ptain Vialz at that Lodging above one fingle

ime,

Mr. Williams.  Pray, Sir, thus : Did Captain
Vratz come with the Count into England this laft
Time?

Mr, Hanfon, To my beft Remembrance he did.

Mr. Williams. You fay Captain Pratz came
with the Count to Exgland,

Mr. Hanfon, 1 belicve he was before the Count,
but not long before : I can’c exaétly tell.

Mr. Williams. How long before the Count ?

Mr. Hanfon. Truly I can’t tell, but I believe

not long,

Mt. Williams. What makes you think he came
into England with him ?

Mr, Hanforr,  Becaufe I faw him in Company
with the Count, as feon as I faw the Ceunt,

Mr. Plliams, Were they in Company at the
Poft-IHoufe ?
Yes.

Mr. Haufon,

Sir Fra, Wimy., And you faw him once at his
firlt Lodging ?

Mr, Hanfon,  Yes,

Mr, Williams.  Pray, Sir, have you carried a-
ny Ivgeﬂhge from the Count o the Swedifh Refi-
dent :

My, Hanfon. My Lord, 1 can fay thisupon my
Qath, to my beft Remembrance, Count Coniirgf-
mark never charged me, or gave me any pofitive
Order to go to the Swedifh Envoy, bur he did
name the Swedifh Envoy to me, as if he were
willing to know his Advice 3 and fo [. being ob-
liged to pay my Refpects to the Swedifh Envoy,
who had treated the yourg Count and mylelf
very civilly before ;5 and fo paying my Refpedis
to the faid Envoy, 1did remember the Converfa-
tion I had wich the Count, and fpoke with the faid

Envoy about this Bufinefs, and that is all that I
can fay,

Siv Br, Winn, What was that Meflage?

Mr., Hanfon. 1 fay there was no direét Meflage:
But 1 fay this was the Bofinels : Count Consngfmark
told me in private familiar Difcourfe, that he had
heard that Efquire Thyin had {poken fome abu-
five Language of him, and he would fain know
what the Confequence of this would be, if he
fhould call him to Account about this Bufinefs :
And he named the Swedi/h Envoy to me : And

I faw

It was abour two or three Hours
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I faw his Defire was to know his Opinion about
the Bulinefs, what the Confequence of it would
be. So I fpoke to the Swedifp Envoy, and he
gave me this Anfwer, That if the Count fhould
any way meddle with Efquire Thymm, he would
have but a bad Living in Eugland 3 but what the
Law would fay in that particolar Cafe he could
not an{wer, but he would enquire, and afterwards
would give me an Account ; but I never fpake
with him after,

Siv Fra. Winn. 1 afk you, becaufe you have
been formerly examined in another Place, about
this Matter 5 Do you remember any Thing that
ever you heard the Count {peaking of fighting
with Mr. Thyun &

Mr. Hanfen. Count Coniagfinark {poke to me
in the German Language 3 1 {poke to the Swedi/h
Agent in French 3 and when I was before the King
and Council [ fpoke in Euglifh 3 therefore 1 defire
no evil Conftruction may be made of 1t, 1 cannot
remember the Count fpake of Xilling or duelling,
On the contrary I can {wear for Count Coninfgmark
this, That I am confident he never told me that
he had refolved or would fight with Mr. Thyun,
or would call him to Account, but if he fhould
call him to Account, what would be the Confe-
quence of ir.

Siv Fra, Win.
what ¢

Mr. Haifon. The Count in familiar Difcoure
with me did tell me, that he had heard Efquire
Thyin had {poke abufively of him,

Sir Fr. Viun. How had he fpoken abufively of
him ?

Mr. Hanfon, He reflected upon his Perfon and
upon his Horfe,

Mr, Williams, Was there any Thing in that
Mefluge about marrying my Lady Ogle ?

Mr. Hanfon. That was the laft Part of the Que-
ftion, That if he fhould meddle with Efquire
Thymir, what the Confequence might be, if the
Laws ot England would be contrary to him in
the Hopes or Pretenfions he might have to my
Lady Ogle.

Mr. 17illiams. Y ou mince your Words migh-

Call him to Account, about

~ tily; pray remember yourfelf 5 1Jid he {peak of

Killing Mr. Thyni, or that Mr. Thynn fhould be
deftroyed ?

Mr. Haufon. No, his Phrafe was, if he thould
have an Advantage of him, when he {hould med-
dle with lnm, or call him to an Account, what
the Conlequence might be 5 I can fay this upon
my Conficience,

Siv I, IWinn. Sir, you are in a Place where you
are fworn to fpeak the Truth, the whole Truth,
and nothing but the Truth : What Relation have
vou to Count Couingfinark’s Family ?

Mt. Hanjesr, 1 have no Relation to the Family
at all.

Sir Ir. Winn.  Are not you Governor to the
young Count ?

Mr, Hanfon. The Countefs has given me her
younger Son, for me to be his Companion in his
Travels.

Sir Fr. Winn.  Sir, Iafk you a plain Queftion,
let it lie at your own Door, if you won’t tell the
Truth ; had you any Converfation with Count Co-
ningfmark, wherein he did defire you to afk Ad-
vice of the Swedifh Envoy or Refident here, about
duelling Mr, Thynn, or in Cafe he fhould kill Mr.
Thynn, or upon any fuch Account ? ~

Mr, Hanfon. My Lord, I fay this was fpoken
in feveral Languages, by the Count in Duteh, by
myfelf to the Envoy in Frenchy and I do know
I fwore before the King and Council, but I cap-
not lay this to Count Coningfmark’s Charge, for
then 1 muft for{wear myfelf.

Sir Fr. Winn.  Sir, you can an{wer me all my
Quettions in Englifh, if you pleafe, what the Dif.
courle was.

L.C.7. Pray, Sir, thus: What was the Dif-
courfe, as near as you can remember it, berween
Count Coningfmark and you, relating to M.
Thyna.

L.C.¥. North. Tell the whole, Sir, for you
are bound to tell the whole indifferently.

Sic Lo, W, And pray remember what you
{wore in another Place.

Mr. Hanfon. The Count {ent to me a Note,
that he had a Mind to fpeak with me, and he
entertained me with a familiar Dilcourfe about
his Travelling, and about the fertling of his Bu-
finefs, and thereupon he fell upon other Difcourfe
about Mr, Toynn, and, not to miftake, having
had Time in my own Chamber, I have put it
down in Writing, to fatisfy my Lord and all this
honourable Court, what I can fay about this
Matter.

[ Mr. Hanfon reads
give a trune Aecount,’

L.C. 7. Read it to yourfelf, if you will, and
teli us the Subftance,

Mr. Hanfon. 1f 1y Words may not turn to the
Prejudice of my Lord Count Coningfinark 5 but
this 15 the Subftance of the Thing, My Lord
Count Coningfmark did tell me in a familiar Dif-
courfe, that Efquire Thynn had fpoken fome re-
flecting Words upon him ; he did defire to know
if he did call him to Account, whether in this
Cafe the Laws of England might not go contrary
to his Defign, in his Pretenlions that he might
have upon my Lady Ogle, And in that familiar
Difcourfe, he feemed to think that Monfieur Liz-
burgh could give him Advice, 1Ina little while
afterwards, I was paying my Refpelts to the
Envoy, and refleting upon the Count’s Conver-
fation, I fpoke to him about this Bufinefs, and
his anfwer wasthis ; he told me, that if he fhould
meddle with Mr, Thyan, he would have no geod
Living in England : But as to the particular Quel-
tion, what the Confequence of the Law might be,
he did not know, but would enquire and tell me;
but I never afked him any Queftion about it af-
terwards, And if my Converfation with this
Count, or with Monfieur Lienburgh, fhould turn
to the Count’s Prejudice, 1 fhould be anfwerable
for it to God and my own'Conlcience, all the Days
of my Life, I defire Mr, Zhysa’s Blood might be
revenged, but I defire alfo that innocent Blood
may be fpared.

Siv Fr. Winn, Pray, Sir, will you look upon
that Paper ; you figned it.

L.C.J. North. Only to recolle® your Me-
mory.

[(Then be was frewed bis Examination be-
fore the Council.]

L.C. 7. Now you have read it over ; that there
15 under your own Hand ? Do you now again
deliver the Subftance of your Difcourfe you had
with Count Coningfmark, as you will ftand by it

Mr, Hanfon, ] fee that there are Expreffions i
this Paper.

"T15 very hard to

) LC7T
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1. C. F. Speak not what is in that Paper, but

whae Difcourle (asbnear as you can) you had with

onufgInar,

Cﬂﬁi%ﬂfﬁ:. My Dilcourfe with Count Co-
ningfmark was this : In a familiar Difcourfe a-
mongft other Things, he fpulfe, that he heard
Tifquire Thywir had affronted l_nm,_I don’t know
upon what Subject, but l believe 1t was Words
reflecting upon him and his Horfe ; he did not tell
me that he delired me to go, nor did he give
me any pofitive Charge to go to the Swedifh En-
voy, but by the Difcourfe 1 had with him, I did
underftand that he was defirous to have his Ad-
vice 5 I thought his Inclinations were, that I
fhould go and afk his Advice 5 I did not go on
purpofe to do the Meflage, nor did I recetve any
Order that can be called a Meflage, mn my Life,
to my Remembrance ; but when I came to pay
n:y Relpedts in a familiar Difcourfe, I did pro-
pofc this to the Envoy 3 what might be the Con-
fequence, if the Count thould call Mr. Thynu to
Account 3 and he told me the fame Anfwer that
I have already told you. Now this I defire only
to confider, that it was fpoken in divers Lan-
guages; and if a Man fhould write down my
Lxpreflions now, as they came from me, they
would upon reading, perhaps, appear not fo well;
fo if thefe Expreflions of mine fhould turn to
Count Coniugfmark’s Prejudice, as that I fhould
{wear that this Phrafe of killing or duelling was
uled, or that ever Count Cowinfrmark told me
that he refolved to call, or that he would call
him to an Account, I might do him Wrong per-
haps ;5 buet if he fhould call him to Account, what
might be the Confequence of it.

Sir Fr. Iinn, 1 would nor entangle you, but
only I would feek after the Truth, I do notafk
you pofitively, whether he did bid you go to afk
Advice of the Swedi/b Envoy, that he did refolve
{fo and fo; but did he difcourle 1t thus, if he
fhould duel him, or fight him ?

Mr. Haufon.  As 1 am betore God Almighty,
I'cannot fay I heard fuch Expreffions.

Mr. Willizms. Pray, Sir, you confefs you ac-
quainted the Linvoy with 1t ¢

Mr. Hanfon, Yes,

Mr. WFiliams. Did you bring the Envoy’s An-
rwer to the Gentleman, or no?

Mr, Hanfon. If 1 fhould be upon the Gofpel,
1 am fure } cannot exactly tell what was the Ex-
prefion,

L. C, Baron, What was 1t that you difcerned
ne doubred, if he did call Mr. Thysn to Ac-
count ?

Sir Fr. Winn. He fpoke in Relation to a Mar-
riage, pray what was it ?

Mr, Williams.  What did that #f relate to ?

Mr. Hanfon, 1If be fhould afk him Sarisfaction
about it, having heard that he had fpoken abu-
{tive Words of him.

S Fr, Winn,  What then was to follow ?

Mr. Hanfon, 1f he fhould call him to Account

tllJ':ep how the Laws of Eugland might do in this
oint, ‘

Mr. IVilliams, To whom ?

Mr.-Hanfon. To the Count.

Mr, Williams.  What thould befal him ?

Mr. Hanfon, 'Whether the Law fhould be con-
trary to him in the Defign and Propofals he
might have concerning the young Countefs of
Ogle. |

Mr. Williams, Well, 1 fee you will give no rea-
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fonable Anfwer to that 5 but now when came the
Polander over into England ?

Mr. Hanfon. 1 cannot fay pofitively I can tell
when he came. |

Mr, Williams. But when did you fee him firft ?

Mr, Hanfon. Upon the Friday %e came and
afked me for the Count at Monfieur Fanbert’s
Academy. Now the young Count Contnfgmari’s
Chamber and mine joirs together, next to one
another, and there came a Man with himy, I do
not know his Name, but if [ fee the Man I know
him.

Mr. Wiiliams. You {ay the Polander came over
on Fridoy.

Mr. Honfon, He came to me on Friday.

Mr, #illiams, And he came to you to the
French Academy, 1o enquire for Count Coning f~
mark 2

Mt. Hanfon.

Mr. Williams,

Mr, Hanfon.

Yes, he did fo.

Had he any Letters ?
Yes, he had two Letters,

Mr. Wilfiams, From whom, and to whom ?

Mr. Hanfor. I afked himif he hac any Letter
for Count Coningfmark, and he faid no; but he
told me had two Letters, and the onc was to
the Count’s Secretary, and the other was to the
Count’s Steward in Londsn.  So I gave him back
his Lettess, and afked himy whence he came? He
told me he was juft come into England. 1 afked
him whether he had been a great while at Sea ¢
And he told me yes; and that it was {tormy,
and he had like to have been caft away 5 faid I,
I hear you are expetted, therefore have you paid
your Lodging ¢ No, faid he 5 then faid I, go and
pay your Lodging, and come to nie¢ in the Morn-
Ing early.

Sir Fr, Winy. You fay you heard he was ex-
pected, pray who expected him ?

Mr, Hanfon, The Count; for he had {poken
formerly twice of the Polauder, and in the great
Storm thought he had been drowned. To the
beft of my Remembrance, [ have heard the Couant
{peak twice of this Polander.

Sir Fr. Winn.  Of this Man ?

Mr. Hanfon. 1 fuppofe it 1s the fame,

Sir Fr, Winn. You fay you faw him on Friday.

Mr, Hanfon, Yes, 1 did.

Mr. Williams. When did he {peak of the ftor-
my Weather, and that he was afraid the Polaidci
might mifcarry ¢

Mr. Hanfon,
before,

Mr, Williams. Now fay as near as you can
what the Count faxd.

Mr. Hanfon. He {aid the Polander was a migh-
ty able Man, and underftood Horfes, and the
Count had a Mind to buy Eugli/h Horfes, and in-
tended to have had this Polander as a Groom, to
drefs them after the German Way, and no Man
was abler than the Pelander to do it 5 and when
he fpoke of it, I went-once to the *Change, and
enquired whether the Ship was lolt.

Sir Fr. Winu. By whofe Direéion did you go
to enquire whether the Ship was loft ?

Mr. Hamjon. 1 had no Direétion, bur only
Count Contigfmark’s fpeaking about It. |

Sir Fr, Winn. He feemed to be concerned at 1t,

did he ?
Mr. Hanfon. Yes, he was afraid that the Po-

lander would be drowned. .
Mr. Williams, You fay you direfted him to

clear his Quarters ?
3 ' Mr.

About twelve or thirteen Days
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Yes, 1 did fo.
Did you fee him again the next

Mir. Haufon.

Mr. Hilliams.
Day ?

Mr. Hanfon. Yes, he came the next Day.

Mr., Williams. Was he the next Day in Com-
pany with the Count or no?

Mr. Hanfon. 1 brought him to the Count,

Sir Fr. Winn, Where?

Mr, Hanfon. 1t was a little before Noon 3 be-
caufe I went the Back-way, and left him at the
Count’s Lodging.

Mr, illiams, Did you leave him with the
Count ?

Mr, Hanfon, Yes, I did.

Mr. WWilliams, Pray, as long as vou were there,
ahat paffed between the Count and the Polai-
der ?

Mr. Hanfon, 1 remember very well what pafled
between the Count and him, for 1 have thought
of it. He fpoke to him, and called him Thox, as
to his Servant, and afked him where he had been
all the while # And he anfwered, he had been at
Sea, and tofled up and down.

Sir Fr. ithens. Pray what DireCtions had you
given about a Sword for that Polander ?

Mr, Hanfen, 1 went to the Count’s Lodgings,
and being defired by him to ftay, 1 defired he
would excufe me, for 1 could not ftay, becaufe
I was to ‘go about another Bufinels 5 he told me
the Fellow was all naked, and he had no Man to
fend to buy him a Riding-Coat; I told him I
would very willingly and hearuly do 1. And
after I had dined, I went to an Houle near the
Flay-Maiket, and bought a Riding-Coat, and
brought the Riding-Coat to the Count’s Lodg-
mngs, I delivered it to the Count,  Then te
Count told me his Man had never a Sword, and
1 afked him how much his Lordthip would pleafe
to beftow on a Sword, he told me a matter of
105, or thereabouts 3 I rold him I did not know
where I fhould ger fuch a Sword, nor how to
fond for ir, becaufe 1 was to meet his Brother ;
but T withal fad, it s no Martter for that, I will
rake Care you fhall ...ve 1t this Evening 5 1 went
into St Martiin’s- Laie, but could not and ever a
fword worth a Groat, Then | went as far as
Charing-Crofi to a Cutler whom 1 knew, {o I told
him, Sir, faid 1, 1 have a Commiflion to beftow
ten Shillinzs upon a Sword for a Servant, there-
fore, faid I, I leave 1t to your Difcretion, ufe
my Friend well, and ule yourfelf favourably too,
1 afked him when I thould have the Sword, he
told me in the Evening 3 I told him I would call
for it when 1 came from the Play, where I was
to be with the Count’s Brother. When [ came
back with the young Count Coming/mark from
the Play, 1 called for the Sword, but he told me
it was not ready. I feemed to be a litrle an-
ory, and toid him that 1t was {trange, a Gentle-
man could not get a little Sword ready for him
in an whole Afternoon. Well, Sir, fud he, pray
do not be impuient, I will fend you the Sword,
and afterwards he fent it to the Academy, and I
afterwards {ent the Sword to Count Contng/mark’s
Lodgings. -

Mer. #illiams. Pray had you this Divection for
the Sword after you had brought the Polander to
the Count, or before ?

Mr. Hanfon, Count Coningfinark did never give
me any DireCtion or Charge to buy a Sword for
him, but I did offer my Service, if he pleafed,
becaufe he faid he had no Body to fend,

Mr. Williams. Sir, you do not know the Quef-
tion, or you won’t apprehend it; pray when
had you this DireCtion from the Count to buy this
Sword ?

Mr, Haunfon.  On Saturday in the Afternoon,

Mr, IPilliams.  When was it you brought the
Polander 1o the Count ?

Mr, Haufon. 1n the Morning,

Sir I, Winn. Pray let me afk you another Que.
}’tiﬁn;j When was 1t you firlt heard Mr, Thynn was

tlled ?

Mr, Hanfon, 1heard it, 1 believe, about ejghe
0’Clock in the Evening on Swuday.

Sir Fi. inn. Had you any Difcourfe with the
Count about the Murder ?

Mr, Hanfon, Yes, 1 had,

Sic Fr, Winn, Pray tell what that Difcourfe was 2

Mr, Hanfon, 1 was at Jhiteball till ten of the
Clock, and then I went to the Count 5 but I
delire this may not be taken as an extraordinary
Vifie, becaufe T ufed to go to him on Sundays in
the Evenings, and thofe three Swndays before he
was taken, I ufedto come to him 1n the Evening,
after 1 had been at #/biteball, When I came into
his Lodgings, [ found him in his Night-Cap, and
s Night-Gown 3 he afked me what News, I told
him I could tell him great News, and that was
of the killing of Lfquire Thyun, who was fhot in
his Coach @ The Embaffador of Sawvey had told me
all that he had heard about it, and I told it him.
Atter T had fpeken of this Bufinefs, he afked me
where his Brother was 3 Itold him, his Brother
was at the Duke of Richmond’s, And after fome
Difcourfe T went away.

© .o I Winn, When you told him of the Mur-
der of Mr, Thyun, did he make no Anfwer, nor

fay any Thing about it ?

Mr. Hanfon. He did not make me any Anfwer,
by which I could conclude that Count Coning finark
was any Way concerned in the Bulinefs,

Sir FrancisiVithens. Pray, Sir, 1 afk you upon
your Qath, the Count is a Man of great Qualiy
himfelf 5 when you told him of {uch an horrid
Murder, what, did he {ay nothing about it ?

Mr. Flanfen, He afked me feveral Queftions,
what the People did fay, but I would not make
any Miftake. |

Sir, fr, Wi, Tell all he faid, Sir, about i,

Mr. Hanpan. T told him the greateft News |
heard was, the Kiling of Mr, Thyui 3 and I told
lim who brought the News; and [ told him the
Court was hearttly angry ac ity thac fuch an Acci-
dent fhoold happen 5 and Ifaid it was an Jalian
Trick, not ufed in Lngland.

Sir v, Winn., What faid he then ?

Mr. IFilliams. Pray do you remember what he
faid ¢

Mr. Hainfon. What T have anfwered now. He
made me iuch Queftions upon this Story as I have
told you,

L.C. /. Let him explain bimfelf : Pray, as
near as you can, relate what Difcourfe you had
with-Count Coningfmark that Sunday Wight, afeer
you came to him and told him of the Murder.

Sit Fr. Winn,  What did he fay to you ¢

Mr. Hanfen. 1 will tell you, my Lord; the
Count was furprized, as every Man would be, 10
hear of fo fad an Accident,. and {o the Count sfked
me what the People faid, fo I told him what I
heard at 77biieball, 1 cannot call to my Memory
all the Particulars 5 bue I faid the King was hear-

tily forry, and all the Court, for fo fad an Accl-
4 ) dent,
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4 1 muft wrong myfelf, or Count Coning/-

?ﬂifi 9;? [ {hould undertake to _rc]ate exactly what
aﬁea, for I cannot remember It

d M. J¥illiams. But you faid juft now, that you

told the Count it looked like an Jtalian Trick, not

d in Englend, .
ureMr. Haiﬁn. Yes, 1 c_ild fo.

Mr. Williams. What did he reply to that ¢
. Mr. Hg;{ﬁm, Not a Wnrd: '
© M, Williams. Did he mention any thing of For-
¢ifications to you then ?

Mr. Hanfon, Yes, he gave me a Plan, or a
Draught of a Fortification done with his own
Hand, and that was all the Difcourfe. _

Wr #illiams. So then he_diverted the Difcourfe
to the Bufinefs of Fortiﬂcagun. o

I..C. §. TheEvidence isheard ;5 what it Is that
te ended all the Difcourfe with, thewing him a
Paper of Fortifications. _

Sir 7+, Winn, But this he does fay, he afked him
what the People did fay of it ?

Mr. Hanfon. For my Lafe, 1 dare rot fay I
remember any more than 1 have told,

L.C.¥. Look you, Sir, now will you in Freuch
deliver this for the Benefit of thofe Jurymen that
don’t underftand Englifb.

Mr. [Villiams, We pray, my Lord, that our
Interpreter may do It.

L.C.¥. When a Man can fpeak both Langua-
aes, he needs no Interpreter, heis his own belt
Interpreter.

Mr, Williams. My Lord, I will tell you why I
afl it s there is a great deal of Difference, 1 find,
where you examine a Man with the Hair, and
where you examine him againft the Hair: Where
you find it difficult to make a Man anfwer, you
will pump him with Queftions, and crofs-interro-
gate him, to fift out the Truth 3 now if you leave
this Man to the Interpretation of what he hath faid
himfelf, he will make a fine Story of it, and we
fhall be never the wiler.

L. C.'f. You may examine him in French, it
you will,

M. #illiams. And I underftand none but Ped-
lar’s French,

Sir Fr, Winn., The Truth of it is, what your
Lordfhip fays cannot be oppofed regularly 5 but
I do appeal to your Lordfhip, and all the Judges,
and all the Court, whether this Man does anfwer
like an ingenuous Man 3 you fee he fhifts.

L.C.¥. Idonot fee it, nor do I believe any
fee he Shifts in any thing you afk of him; either
he tells you what the Queftion 1s, or the Reafon
of it ; how far that is a Reafon, is left to the Jury
to confider.

Sir, Fr. Winn, Certainly it can do no Hurt to
have an Interpreter. °

L.C. §. North, My Lord, if there be two Ways
to take, tis beft to také that which will give Sa-
tisfaction to all Perfons; let him be afked by the
Interpreter, what Queftions the Counfe! would
have anfwered, and then let him tell his Anfwer in
Freneh.

L.C. 7. If that be liked better, let it be fo.
Mr, Craven, can you tell the Subftance of the
Evidence that this Gentleman hath given ¢

Mr, Craven. No, I cannot, his Evidence has
been fo long, and fo many crols Queltions have
been afked.

Sit Fr. Winn. 1 would fpare your Time——

L. C. ¥. Butthis is the way to fpend our Time,

Sic Fr, Winn. 1 know your Lordfhip does not
Vor, 1L
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value Time in fuch a Cafe as this, but you would
have the Truth found our.

L,C. 7. You muft repeat firft the Difcourfe you
had with Count Coiningfmart.

Sit Bran, Winn, My Lord, we will reduce it to
two or three Queftions. Mr. Craven, will you
pleafe to afk him what Difcourfe he had with Count
Coningfinark 2

Mr, Craven. He fays, the Difcourfe he had with
Count Coningfinark about the Polandery was, that
he came over as a Groom to ferve him to look
after his Horfes ; that he had Occafion for feveral
Englifb Horles, and Englif Servants to look aftet
them as Grooms; and among the reft of his
Grooms, he intended the Polander thould be one,
to drefs his Horfes after the German Way,

Sit Fr. Wing. So far he goes as to that, That
the Polander came over to ferve the Count,

L.C.¥. Look you, Sir, does not he tell you,
the Count had a Purpofe to buy Horfes here?

Mr, Craven. He fays there was a Difcourfe a-
pout Bills of Exchange of 7000 Piftoles to buy
Horfes.

Sir Fr. Winn, Pray then will you afk him, what
Difcourfe he had with Count Coningfmark about
the Death of Mr, Zhysn, and what the Confequen-
ces in Law might be ¢

Mr, Craven, My Lord, he fays, that the Dif-
coutfe with Count Coningfnark, concerning the
Swedifh Agent, was, That in Cafe he fhould afk
Satisfaction of Mr. Thynn, for the Affronts that
he had given him, not underftanding the Cuftoms
of the Nation, if he fhould call him to Account,
what Prejudice it might be to him s for he did
not hear, he fays, that Count Coningfmark defign-
ed any thing, or refolved upon killing him, or
any thing of that Nature ; but whether it he thould
call him to Account, what the Laws of England
might be.

Mr, Williams. Call Fobn Wright.

Sir N, Fobnfon. My Lord, the Count defires to
know if he may be permitted to make his Defence
againft thefe Witneffes ¢

L. C.F. No, heis not to make his Defence now.
But pray tell him, if my Lord have a Defire to
afk any Queftions of this Witnefs, he may afk
what he pleafes,

L. C.}. North. Let the Queftion be put to the
Interpreter, that we may know whart the Queftion
is before the Witnefs gives an Anfwer,

Mr. Craven, He afks him if he has not feen
him oftner in his Lodging undrefled than drefled, -
and whether he was not to take Phyfick from his
Phyfician ¢

Mr, Hanfon. 1do not remember, that in all the
Time I faw Count Coningfinark, 1 {aw him dref-
fed four times in his Coar, Icannot fay T remem-
ber three times in all. The firft time when he
came, he was in a Campaign Coat; but all the
time he was in his Lodging, as 1 remember, he
was In his Night-Gown and Cap. As to the other
Part of his Queftion, whether I heard that he
took Phyfick ? I fay this, When I faw Count Co-
uingfmark firft at his Lodging, when I came to
him, on the Sunday Evening, 1 was told the Count -
was in Bed : It was late, but I ventured to go into
his Room,.and fat a Quarter of an Hour there ;
and afterwards the Doftor came in, Dr. Frederick,
I faw him oftentimes ac his Lodging; and at the
{fame Time the young Count was fick of an Ague:
And when he came one Evening to fee the young
Count, I afked him what was the Diftemper the
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Count had ? the Doftor anfwered me, that he had
not told any body that the Count was fick, or what
he was fick of, but he hoped in God, inafhort
time, he would be recovered,

Mr. Craven. He afks him if he gave any po-
fiive Order, that he fhould go of any Meffage to
the Swedifb Envoy?

Mr. Hanfon. This I have anfwered before, and
I fay now, if this Difcourfe that I had with the
Swedifh Envoy, turn {0 the Lord Count Contng/-
mark’s Prejudice, it would grate upon my Con-
fcience all ‘my Life: Count Coningfmark never
aave me any pofitive Order to carry any Meflage s
but I did gather, by his Difcourfe, that the Count
might be defirous to know the Envoy’s Optnion
about this Queftion; and therefore 1 thought,
the Count defiring it, I would do it to pleafe
him, rather than by Order. But I do nat know
that ever the Count had a Mind to give me fuch
an Order, but I did it voluntarily.

L.C. % In phin Englib, Did he ever direct
you to go to the Swedifh Envoy *

Mr. Hanfon, No, my Lord, he never did direct
me.

L. C. Baron. How came you to choofe a Fo-
reigner to know what the Laws of England are?

Mr, Haifon. T thought it would pleafe the
Count to know his Opinion,

L. C. Baron. But how came youto choofe a I'o-
reigner, I afk?

Mr. Hanfor. He has been 19 Years here 1n
Exgland, and fure he fhould know.

Mr. Craven. My Lord, he atks him if ever he
told him that he had a Defign to fight Mr. Thynn,
or do him any Prejudice, or fend him a Chal-
lenge?

Mr. Haunfor. My Lord, I am upon my Oath,
and this I fay, I fpeak it before God and the Court,
Count Coningfmark did never tell me that he had
any Mind, or did refolve to call Efquire Tayun
any ways o Account.

Mr, [¥illiams.  Call Fobin Wiight.

[7¥ho frood up and was fworit.]

Sir Fr. IWinn, W nall afk him but a Queftion
or two, my Lord,

Mr. #illiams. Pray tell me the Time when this
Polaider came into England 5 that Man at the
Bar’

Mr, Wright. He came the Tenth Day of this
Month.

Mr. #illiams. Pray what Ship did he come In'¢
Where did you firft meet with him ¢

Mr, Wright, [ere m Town.

Mr. Williams, Where was 1t
; Mr, I7right. At the Crofs-Keys in Throgmorion-

reet.

Mr. [Villiams, Pray, when you firft faw him,
what did he afk you

Mr. Fright. He afked me where Count Coning/-
aark’s Lodgings were? 1 told him I thought
he was at Oxford, 1 meant the young Gentleman,
for 1 did not know the other was in Town; but
I went and enquired, and they told me 1t was at
Faubert’s Academy, _

M, Jiilliams.  Whither went you with the Po-
landei thent

it I7rizht. T went to my Lord’s Lodgings.

« M, Williams, What Lord:

Mr. /¥right, The young Count’s Lodgings.

Wr. illiams. Well, and what then?

Mr, #right., And I came to Mr, Haenfon, and
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he did deliver a Letter to Mr, Hanfon, and I {taid
chere abour Halfan Hour, or thereabouts,

M. Williams. When was this? |

Mr. Wright. Upon Friday. the tenth Day of this
Month,

Mr. Williams: How long was Mr. Hanfon and
the Polander together ?

Me. Wright, About Half an Hour.

Mr. Williams, What faid Hanfer to him in your
Prefence ? '

Mr. WWright, Mr, Haifon faid nothing,

Mr. Williams. Was there any thing faid about
going back and paying his Lodging, and coming
back ¢

Mr, Wright. Mr. Haufon came down to me,
and told me he was glad to fee me, and bid me
take the Pelander back with me, and bring him to
him to morrow betimes, for he muft difpatch
him about his Bufinefs.

Sir Fr. WWinn. ‘Then he faid nothing to the Po-
lander ?

Mr, #vight. No, but to me,

Sir Fr. Winn. Well, what didd you do the next
Morning *

Mr, IPright. T came to him the next Morning,
to this Polander, and he took his Things with him,
which was a Sea-bed that he had, and 2 Gun with
a Wheel-Lock, and fome other Things.

Siv Fran, Fim. And whither did you bring
him ?

Mr, 7right, T brought him to the Upper-kad
of the Hay market, Monficur Fandert’s School.

Mr. Hilliams. To what Place did you come m
the Morning, fay vous

Mr, I7right. Sir, if it pleale you, T brought
him within a Door or two of Mr, Farbeis's the
Horfe-maflter, that teaches to ride the great
Horfe ; for he did defire that we nught go to an
[Houfe hard by, becaufe he would not carry his
Carriage to my Lord, he had a Sea-bed, a Port-
mantle, a Gun, and other Things ; and fo 1
brought him to an Houle, and there I called for a
Pot of Ale; and he put down his Things and went
out, I thought he had gone to make Water, but
within 2 Jitde while after returns again, and M.
Hanfon comes in with him: He afked me why 1
did not come fooner; I told him I had fome other
Bufinefs, 1 was with fome French Merchants to Jook
upon fome Goods. So he bid the Pole pay me
for my Trouble, and take up his Things, andgo
along with him; and he did do fo, and I never
{aw the Pole afterwards.

L.C.¥. You that are the Interpreters, repeat
what he hath faid to the Jury. -
[WWhich was doie.)

Sir Fr. 7Winn. We have done with this Man, the
Ule we make of him is to follow this Polandzr,
and we fhall bring him to the Count by aad by.
Call Dr. Frederick Harder.

[Who was fwori.}
1..C.¥. The Dp&or underftands Esglifh, don’c he’
Sir Fran. Winn. Yes, we are told he does.

Mr. Williams. How long have you known the
Count that ftands there at the Bar ¢

Dr. Harder. 1 have known him a good while,
it may be this four or five Years, 1 have known
him fou: or five Years. |

Mr. Williams. How long have you known Capr.
Vralz ?

Dr. Harder, About a Year and a half, or two
Y ears,

M,
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. M, Williams. Was my Lord -and Capt, Vyarz

aequainted then?

Dr. Harder. Yes. _ -
Mr. Williams. Was he 1n Employment under

my Lord? Was hein the.C{Junt’s Service ?

Dy, Harder. He was with the Count, but whe-
ther he was his Companion I cannot tell.

My, Williams. Did he live with the Count?

Dr. Harder. Yes.

M. Williams. Did Captain Zratz, when the
Count came laft over into England, come over
with him ?

Dr. Harder. Yes, by my Knowledge,

L.C.¥ Do youknow it ornot¢

Dr. Harder. Captain Pralz came to me, and
told me, my Lord defired to fpeak with me, and
I went with him to my Lord.

Sir Fr. Winn. Was that the firft Meflage you
received from the Count !

Dr. Harder. Yes, it was,

M. WWilliams. How long was that ago ?

Dr, Harder, The fame Day the Morocco Embaf-
fador did exercife in FHyde-Park.

Sir Fr. Winn. How long 1s that ago?

Dr, Harder. About a Month ago,

Sir Fr. Winun. What was that his firlt Lodging
after he came laft into England?

Dr. Harder. Tt was in the Hay-Market.

L. C. . Wasit a Corner-Houfe, as the other
Witnefs faith, or not?

" Dr. Harder. Yes, 1t was.

Mr, IPilliams, Was the Count a private Lodger
there ?

Dr. Harder. He lay in his Bed when I came to
him ; he came as a Traveller privately.

Mr, Williams. Did he go by his own Name, or
another Name 2

Dr. Harder. No body did queftion him about
his Name, but when I did come to him, I did
difcourfe him about his Body.

Mr. Williams. Pray Sir, thus: You went often
to vifit him, pray did you enquire for him by his
own Name, or any other Name?

Dr, Harder. He defived that he might be pri-
vate, becaufe he was to take fome Medicines, and
he would not have it known,

Mr. 2Widliams. Now, Sir, I would afk you, did
you oblerve him to be in any Difguie? Did he
wear a Petriwig, or how?

Dr. Harder. He had a Perriwig,.

Mr., Williams, Was ita fair Perriwig, or what
Colour ?

Dr. Harder. It wgs brown or black.

Sit F, I¥iun, Sir, Was he in a Difguife, or no?

Dr. Harder. He had his own Clothes, but he
had a Perriwig,

Str Fran. Winn, Pray what Name did he go by,
his right Name, or any particular Name?

Dr, Harder. 1n the firft Beginning I gave him
no Name; but, faid he to me, if any Body afk
you about me, I would not be known; for if they
know that I lie privately thus, they will think I ail
fome ill Diftemper, therefore I would have you
call me by the Name of Carlo Cuffi,

Mr. Williams. Were you with him, pray Sir,
upon the Swnday Morning that Mr. Thynn was
murdered ?

Dr. Harder, 1 cannor certainly tell, but T was
with him in the Afternoon.

it Fra. Winn. Pray call yourfelf to Mind, Sir,

Dr. Harder. 1 cannot certainly tell,
Vou, 11,
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 Sic Fr, Winn. What Time were you with him
in the Evening?

Dr. Harder,
thereabouts.

Mr. Williams, Did you receive any Letter from
Capt, Zratz at any Time?

Dr, Harder. 1 did upon Saturday Morning, the
Saturday before Mr, Thynn was murdered.

Sir Fr. Winu. Have you that Letter about you ?

Dr. Harder. No.

Siv Fr, Winn, What wasin the Letter?

Dr, Harder. He defired me to go to the Count,
who had a Defire to fpeak with me, T came there,
and had fome Speech with him, about his Indifpofi-
tion, ] told him he had better ftay till next Day
before he took Phyfick, becaule it was cold Wea-
ther, And after that, went with the Polander to
my Lodging, and the Capiain’s Man came in, and
then faid, here is a Man that will direft you to
Captain Prafz’s Lodging 3 which I did not know.

Mr. Williams. Look you, Sir, you fay you went
to the Count, did you fhew the Count that Letter
trom Capt, ##aiz, orno?

Dr. Harder, The Count faw it

Mr. Wifliams, Then hear a hittle, When was it
you {hew’d the Letter to the Count ? Was 1t Sazur-
day or Sunday ?

Dr. Harder. It was Saturday.

Mr. Williams. Now, was the Polander then in
the Count’s Lodgings, or no?

Dr, Harder. Yes, he was.

Mr, Williams.  Was there any Difcoutfe about
him then?

Dr. Harder. I had never feen him in my Life,

Mr. Williams, But was there any with the
Count ¢

Dr. Harder. No, not at all,

Sit Fr. Wmn. Then, upon your Oath, Iafk
you once more, Wasthe Polander ever in Company
with you and my Lord at any Time ?

Dr. Harder. No,

Sir Fr. Winn, Uponthe Sunday, upon your Oath?

Dr. Harder. No.

Sir Fr, Wini. Nor the Saturday Evening ?

Harder, No, I have not feen bim fince that
Morning when the Captain’s Man took him along
with him to his Malter,

Mr. Filliams, Pray, how came the Polander
into your Company on Satwrday Morning ¢

Dr. Harder, 1 had him from my Lord’s that
Morning, ‘

Mr. Williams. Then my Lord and the Polander
were together !

Dr, Hsrder. No, they were not together,

Mr, Williams, Was the Polaider in my Lord’s
Lodgings ?

Dr. Harder. Yes, the Polander was below Stairs.

Mr, Williams,  And did you take him. from the
Lodging ¢

Dr. Harder., Yes, 1 did,

Mr. #illiams. How long did he continue with

ou?

’ Dr, Farder. Not atall, I went home with him.
M., Williams, Had you no Difcourle with him
Dr, Harder. No, none at all,

Mr. Williams: Where did you part with him?

Dr, Farder. 1 brought him to my Houfe; and
when he came in-a-doors, the Caprain’s Man be-
ing there, I told him there was a Man would thew
him the Captain’s Lodgings; and he took him
away along with him,

Qqq2
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Mr. Williams. You fay, the Captain’s Man had
the Polandzr from you; pray name that'Man.

Dr. Harder. 1 cannot tell his Name.

Mr. Williams. Was his Name Berg ¢

Dr. Harder. 1 believe it was,

Siv Fr, Winn. You fay you delivered a Letter
from Captain 7ralz on Safurday Morning to the
Count?

Dr. Harder, Yes.
Sir Fr. WPin, Did the Count read the Letter,

and tell you the Contents of it ?

Dr. Harder. No, it was not fealed.

Sir Fran. inn. Did not you know the Cortents
of it then ?

Dr, Harder. No.

Sir Fran, Winn, Pray, when you delivered the
Letter from Captain Vratz to the Count, whatdid
the Count fay to you?

Dr. Harder. The Letter was not wricten to the

Count, but it was writ to me.
Mr. [illiams.  What was the Reafon that you

thewed it to him then*

Dr. Hardei. 1 received a Letter from Captain
Viatz, that the Count defired to fpeak with mes
and afterwards I was defired to direct this Man,
the Polander, to Captain Praiz and lo I di-
rected him to Caprain Vralz, and nothing more 1
know.

Sir Fr. Winn. Well, Sir, one thing more and
I have done with you; for you will not, 1 fee, give

a reafomble Anlwer; pray, when the Polander

came along with you from the Count’s, did you
obferve he had any thing about him ¢

Dr. Harder. e had a grear Campaign Coat.

Sir Fr. s, Did he feem to have any thing
under 1t?

Dr. Harder. 112 had a Portmantle under 1, 1
think, or fome {uch thing.

Mr. Craven. My Lord, the Count defires to afk
him fome Queltions.

L. C. 7. Let him afk what Queflions he will.

Mr. Craven. My Lord, heafks him whether he
does not remember, when he firft came to Town,
he had nor his Body full of Spots ?

Dr. Harder, Yes, 1 y Lord, when he came from
Tangicr, he had Spots over all his Breaft 5 and it
was feared they might get up higher towards his
Neck, and endanger him very much,

Mr., Craven. He fays, if my Lord pleafes, he
will fhew 1t openly.

L.C. ¥. No, there is no need of that, Door.
Did you give him Phyfick for that?

Dr. Hardacr, Yes, for that [ did adminifter Ply-
fick 10 him,

Mr. Craven. He fays, my Lord, he over-heated
himlelf in riding to Tangier, thinking to do the
King and the Naton Service, and the Heat broke
out 1n Spots over his Breatt,

L. C. ¥. The Doftor knows nothing of that.

Mr. Craven. He afks whether the Dotor was
not defired by him to cure him? whether he did
not tell him he would cure him of thole Spots ?

Dr. [Tarder, e deflired me to adminifter Phy-
fick unto lum,

M. Craven, Tle lays he went to Strafburgh, and
when he came back he was in the fame Condition
he was in before ; and he afks whether the Doctor
did not undertake to cure him?

Dr. Harder, Yes, Idid adminifter Phyfick uato
him; and this my own Man can teftify and be
Witnefs of 3 becaufe my Lord bid me take Care
that he migle be private, for he would not have it

known that he "did take Phyfick ; but I told my
Man, faid I, ’cis my Lord Coningfinark, ang
therefore pray take Care of him, and fee that tle
Phyfick be made very well up.

L.C. 7. You feem to intimate, as if he lay
private to take Phyfick ; pray let me afk you this
Queftion, Did you give him Phylick all this
Time ?

Dr. Harder., Not always purging Phyfick, but
fome Sort of Phylick all the Time.

L. C. 7. What every Night and Morning ?

Dr. Harder.  Yes, every Day.

Mr. Craver. The Count defires to afk him
where he was that unhappy Day this Bulinefs was
done ?

Dr. Harder. 1 found him that Day ill, Iying
down upon the Bed, [afked him how his Phyfick
had worked; he told me he was afraid he had
got fomeCold 3 and indeed I found him very much
difordered, and I went home and fetched him {ome
Phyfick to rake that Night,

L.C. 7. By the Oath you have taken, was there
any other Qccafion, or had you any other Difcourfe
with him, when you came on the Szaday Nighe
but concerning his Phyfick ?

Dr. IHarder. My Lord, [ will tell you the Truth;
I never heard the Count fpeak any Word in my
Lite, that he had any Concern, or Delign of any
Quuarrel at all, nor any Difcourfe, but about the
Admimfitration of his Phyfick.

L.C. 7. Let me afk you this Queftion, for they
defire 1t here, What was the Occafion ? and whe-
ther you know the Occafion, why my Lord altered
his Lodgings fo often ?

Dr, Harder. The firft Occalion was this; Be-
caufe 1t was in the Hay-markst 3 and his Man faid
it would be quickly known if he did continua
there 5 fo he would take another Lodging, which
was 10 Ruperl-fireet, and there he lodged three
Days; but the Chimney did fo {moke, that my
Lord could not ftay, becaufe he could have no
Fire in his Chamber, and the Weather was very
cold, for 1t did {now, and therefore I told my Lord,
it wits not fo proper for taking of Phyfick : There-
upon he defired e ro take him another Lodging
in Quecn-fireet, which I did look about for, but it
was not ready, {ohehad a Lodging taken for him
n St Martin’s- Lane, where he loJeed till he went
AWy,

Mr. IVilliams. Pray, Sir, the Phyfick that you
gave the Count, did ic require his keeping within
Doors ¢ might not he walk abroad with ir, upon
your Quth?

D, Harder, Tt did requir‘g him to keep in.

Mr. WFilliams, Pray then, how comes it to pals
that the Count {o fuddenly could go by Water to
Gravefend?

Dr. Haider. T do not know what was done after-
wards,

Sic fir, s, 1 would atk you one Queftion,
and I would fain have you give me a fair An-
fwer to i, What became of the Letter that Cap-
tain Fratz writ 0 you, and you fhewed te the
Count ?

Dr, Harder. Tt remained there upon the Table.

ow Fr. [Vinz, Did not you keep your own
Letter ?

Dr. Harder. Tt was not of any Concern.

Sw Fr. Winn.  If the Letter were wriiten to
you, 1t is not fo long fince, but you can tell us

the Contents of it s Pray, what were the Con-
tents ?

L.C. 7.
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L.c.§ Can you remember what were the
g ?
ontents .
¢ Dr. Harder. He defired me to go to Count Co-
ning fuark, who would fpeak with me, and that |
would give his Man an Anfwer when I came from

him, |
Qi Fr, Winn. But what were you to go to the

odo!
Cﬂlgnrt. [H::rder. Nothing 5 but the Count dil-
courfed to me about his own Body and Indifpo-
ﬁ“g?x:. Fr. IWinu. But Captain Vralz was no Phy-
fician 3 why fhould he fend you a Letter to talk
about Phyfick ?
 Dr. Harder. 1t was nothing but my Lord would
fpeak with me.

Mr. /Villiams. We need not trouble ourfelves
with this Fellow, he confelles he found the Polgn-
der in the Count’s Houle,

Siv Fr. Withens, Pray, Sir, let me afk you, who
was with the Count on Swnday Night,

Dr, Harder. Mr. Hanfon was there, I think,

Sir Fra, Withens. Who elle 2

Dr. Harder, The Captain came in, and went
out agatn.

Sir Fr, Winn, What Time of Night was it that
Vralz came In to the Count?

Dr. Harder. It was at the fame Time that I
was with him,

Sir Fr. Winn, ‘T hat he fwears to be about nine
o’Clock : Was it after Mr. Thynn was killed

Dr. Harder. 'We had not heard it.

Sir Fra. Winn,  Sir, was it nine of the Clock ?

Dr, Harder.  Yes, it was.

Mr, Williams. You fay you found the Polander
at the Count’s Lodgings ¢

Dr, Harder, Yes, upon Saturday Moming,

Mr, #illiams. Then he came along with you
from the Count’s Lodgings ?

Dr. Harder. Yes, to my Houfe,

Mr., Williams. And you parted with him there ?

Dr. Harder, Yes, the Captain’s Man took him
away with him,

Mr. Williams, That was Berg, wa’nt it?
Dr. Harder. Yes,

Theu this Evidence was interpreted to
the Jury.

Mr. Craven.  He defires the Jury fhould know
what the Doctor faid about his Sicknefs.

L.C.7. Let it be repeated to them.

Mr. Craven. He defires to know whether he
may not ipeak 1t in French himlelt ¢

L. C.F. No, the Interpreter muft do it (which
was doie.) My Lord, would you afk any more
Queltions of the Dottor ¢

Count Con. No more Queftions but them I
have afked.

Siw Fr. Wnn,  Call Thomas Howgood,

(W ho was Jworn.]

Mr. WWilliams. Pray, did you {ell any Sword to
the Count ?

Mr. Howgood. 11old a Sword to the Governor
a broad Horfeman’s Sword.

Mr, Williams., 'When was this ?

Mr, Howgood, On Saturday was Fortnight,

Mr, Williams. What Time was it that he be-
{poke i ?

Mr. Howgoed. FHe belpoke it half an Hour
alter Six at Night.

Mr, Williams, What did he fay to you when
he bough it ?

2

Mr. Howgood, He faid he would call for it
about eight 0’Clock at Night, when he came front
the Play. .

Mr. WWilliams. What Kind of Sword was it ?

Mr. Howgood. An Horfeman’s Sword, as broad
as two Fingers, fuch as the Gentlemen of the
Guards wear, |

Sir Fra, Iian. When he came for the Sword,
what faid he ?

Mr, Howgood. He was angry it was not done,
and 1 told htm that I would fend it to him
quickly.

Siv Fr. Winn, Where was it fent ?

Mr, Howgood, 'To the Governor’s Lodgings at
the Academy. !

Mr. Williams. Now, my Lord, we will call
feveral Perfons that were privy to the concealing
of this Gentleman, that can give you a better Ac-
count, Ricoard Hays and Robert French.

[ Robert French appeared, and was fworn.]

Sic Fra. Winn, Pray will you tell my Lord what
you know of the Count’s concealing himfelf and
changing his Habi,

Mr, French, 1never faw him, my Lord, before
I came here in Court 5 but it feems he did lodee in
my Houfe three or four Days,

Sir fr, Winn. How long is it fince ?

Mr. French. Between three Weeks and a Month
ago, jult ten Days before the Murder,

Sir Fr. Winin, What Name did he go by then?

Mr, French, 1 did not know his Name.

Sir Fr. Winn.  'Who uled to refort to him at
that Time ¢

L. C. 7. Youfay, Sir, you faw him not, what
Company did come to him ?

Mr, French, I did not fee him indeed.

Sit Fra, IWyin,  Pray did Captain Pratz come
to him to your Houfe?

Mr. French. He lodged with him all the Time;

Siv Fr. Winn, You fay you know Capt, Vrax
was there ¢

Mr, French, Yes,

Mr, Williams.  Did Dr. Harder ule to come to
him ¢

Mr, Freach, Yes, feveral Times a Day.

Mr. #illiams, What Name did he enquire for
him by ?

Mr, French. 'The Dottor took the Lodging,
and 1t was for a Stranger ; I heard no Name at
all, :

Interpreter. My Lord defires to know, whether
you did not fufpe¢t he took Phyfick in the
Houle ? :

Mr, French. I fuppole the Doltor did give
you an Account of that ; I don’t know that he
did.

Interpret. Did not your Maid know of any
fuch Thing ? -

Mr, French. My Maid is here, fhe will give
you an Account, |

Sit Fr, Winn. Call Anin Prince : (Who was fwori,)
Pray do you acquaint my Lord what you know
of Count Comingfinark 3 whether ever you faw
him at your Mafter’s Houfe in the Hay-market 2

Prince.  Yes, he lodged there,

Mr., Williams, When?

Prince. He came thither lalt Friday was a
Month,

Mr, Williams. How long did he ftay there?

Prince. Till Wednefday.

Mr. Williams. At that Time, who ufed to fre-
quent his Company ¢

Prince,
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Prince. 1 know no Body but the Doftor that
ufed to come to him,

Mr, Williams. 'What Name did he go by ?

Prince. No Name at all, as I know of 5 they
did not afk for him by any Name,

Mr. [Villiams, Did the Captain ufe to come {0
him ?

L. C. ¥ Her Mafter fays he did lie there.

Prince.  Yes, he uled to lodge there,

Mr. Hilliams, Did the Caprain give him any
Phyfick ?

L.C. ¥. No, but the Dottor did.

Sir Fr, Winn. He only afks a merry Quefiion,

L. C. ¥ But we are now upon the Life and
Death of a Man, pray let us have thofe Queltions
afked that gre {erious, not fuch light Things as
are permitted in ordinary Cales.

Sir Fr, Winn, WNow, my Lord, we will call
Francis Watts,

Mr, Craven. Maid, my Lord afks, whether he
did not take a Vomit in your Houfe ?

Prince, Not that I know of.

Then Francis Watts was ftuori,

How old is the Child ?
Fifteen Years old laft Chriftmas.
Afk him whether he underftands

L.C. 7.

Fr. Walts,

L. C. Baron,
what an Oath 15 ?

Mr. Thynu, He was fworn before the King and
Council,

L. C. Baron, If he were fworn before the Coun-
cil, he may give Evidence here fure.

Sir Fr. Finn, Were you at the Count’s Service
at any Time ?

Watts,  Yes.

Sir Fr. Winn, FHow long ?

Watis, 1 was with him eleven Days: I came to
him vpon the Fyiday,

Sir Fr, Winn, How long was it before the Death
of Mr, Thynu ?

Waits, 1 chink it was ten Days before the Death
of Mr. Thynn.

Sir Fr. Wing, N\ at was your Employment
with him ?

Walts, Flis Boy to wait upon him.

Sipr Fr. Wign, Did you lie in the fame Lodg-
ing

Watis. No, at my Father's.

Sir Fr. Winn, What was the Agreement be-
tween your Father and the Coung?

Watts, Six-pence a Day and my Diet,

Siv Fr, Winn, What Company did you obferve
came to the Count’s Lodgings?

Watts, ‘That Gentleman there in the black
Perriwig,

Sir Fr. Wi, Was he often with your Mafter ?

IWalts, Yes, every Day.

Sir Fr. Wi, How many Lodgings had he
while you were with him 2

[Vatts. Three : Que in the Hay-market, and
one in Rupeit-Strect, and then the lhaft in St
Maritin's,

Mr. #illiams. Thus, Child; do you remem-
ber the Time of killing Mr., Thyui ¢

Watts.  Yes,

Mr, Williasns. Were you in your Mafter’s Ser-
vice then ¢

Watls, Yes, I was.

Mr, Williams, Who was in your Mafter's Com-
pany. that Morning before Mr, Thysu was killed ?

Watts, 1 came up, as I ufed to do 1n the Morn-

2

ing, tomy Malter, and he afked me what wasthe
Matter with the Buftle in the Street ? And I told
him fome Body was taken upon Sufpicion for
killing Efquire Thyan.

Siv Fr, W, That was on Monday Morning ;
but the Sunday Morning before, what Company
did you obferve there then ?

Watis., 1 cannot tell any Thing exaltly of the
Suunday Morning,

Sit Ir. Winn. Was Captain Vratz there ?

IVatts, 1 can’t exatly remember,

Sir Fr, Winn, What Time in the Kvening was
it reported Mr, Thynn was killed ?

Watis, About eight o’Clock.

Sir Fr. Winn. Can you tell who brought the
firft News?

atts. Oneof my Lady Seymons®s Maids, who
was telling the People of it below.

Sir Fr, I¥mn. Did you obferve any Body come
to your Malfter’s Lodgings afterwards ?

Watls,  Yes.

Sir Fr. Wina. Pray who came ¢

Watts. That Gentleman in the black Perriwig,

Mr. Williams.  Pray in what Habic was e ?
And how came he in ?

Waits, He came m a great Coat 3 I can’t tell
whether it was Cloth or Camblet.

Mr. Williams,  And what, did he fpeak to any
Body, or go ftraicup ®

Watts. No, be fpoke to no Body, but went
{trair up Stairs,

Mr, Williams,  Did he go up to your Mafter's
Lodgings ¢

Watts.  Yes, 1believe fo, but I ftayed below
n the Shop.

Mr. 7Villiams. How long did you ftay in the

Shop ?
Watts. I {tayed there about half an Hour,
Mr. Williams, Did you leave him there 2

Watts. Yes, 1did,

Mr, illiams. Did he continue there all the
Time that you were in the Houfe ?

Iatts.  Yes,

Mr. IVilliams. 'What Time did you go away?

MWatts. About three Quarters of an Hour after
that Gentleman came in.

Sit Fr. Withens. Do yau remember you had any
Dilcourfe with the Count, about riding on Swi-
day ?

Watts. Heafked me on Seaday in the Forenoon,
whether People were fuffered to ride about the
Streets on Horfeback on Suadays ?

Sir Fr. Winn,  This was that Sunday Morning,
was it ¢

Waitts. Yes: Heafked if they might be fuffer-
ed to ride about the Streets on Sruday 2 [ told
}}im yes, before Sermon-time and after Sermon-
fime,

Sir Fr. Winn.  About what Time of the Day
was it that he bad heard this Difcourfe 2

(Vatts,  About ten or eleven o’Clock.

Sie e, Winn.  Are you fure it was Syaday ?

Watts, Yes,

Siv Fr. IWinn, Then T afk you another Queftion :
Upon Suiday Morning, or any other Time, do
you remember that the Polander was with the
Couont, your Mafter ¢

JVatts. He came in on the Safurday Morning.

Mr. Williams. Was he in the Company or Pre-
fence of the Count?

Paus. 1 was apove Stairs when he came in,

H/ﬂm‘.
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Sir B, i, What do you know.of any Sword
ehar was delivered to him ¢ |

waits, Upon the Sunday Morning there was 2
Sword broughe to my Malter’s Lodgings, and
my Mafter’s Man took it of me, and carried it up.
Spairs, and this Man, the Polander, afterwards,

had it below Stairs. |
Mr. W#illiams. When was this Sword brought

to }rgur Mﬂﬁﬂl"s HOU{.E ? . ,
7atts, It was on the Sunday Morning.
Mr. Williams. What, the Cutler bronght the

Sword ? _
watts. No, it was fent by a Porter from Mr,

Hanfon. NI

N, Williams, What Room was 1t catried into
when it was brought ?

WWatts. Lihink 1did not carry itup: Yes, truly,
now I remember, I did, and delivered 1t to my
Mafter,

Mr.Zillians. Pray what did the Count fay to you?

7Zatts.  1afked him if there needed an Anfwer
to the Note I carried with it, and he faid no.

Mr. #illiams.  To whom was the Sword deli-
vered afterwards ?

Watts, It was brought down, and afterwards
this Pulander had 1t

Nr, IWilliamns, That Man there ?

Iaits.  Yes,

Mr. Williams, You fay that the Sword was
aiven to the Polander : Pray fpeak that the Jury
may hear, Who brought down the Sword ¢

J7atts. I faw it in the Polander’s Keeping when it
was below, but I cannot fay who brought it down.

Siv Fr. Winn, Where did the Polander dine on
Saturday ¢

IWans. He dined with my Mafter’s Man and
I on Saturday.

Siv Fr. Winn.  Where did he lie that Night ?
At whofe Chamber ¢

IWatts, At our Lodgings in the Garret, in my
Malter’s Man’s Chamber,

Siw Fr. Wina, What Day was this, do you fay?

I7atis.  Saturday.

Mr. Williams, When the Polander had the
Sword, do you remember any Boots that he had
under hits Arm ?

[Vatts, Yes, he had Boots under his Arm,

Mr. Wdliams, And he had the Sword with him
when he went away?

Watts.  Yes,

Mr, Williams, Had he any Coat ?

Watts.  Yes, a new Coat,

Mr, Williams, Well, 1 afk you once more,
what Time of Day was it that he wert away with
the Sword and the Boots ?

Watts, It was 1n the Forenoon.

Mr. Williams.  What Day of the Week ?

Watls.  Sunday Morning,

L.C.¥. Ay, but your Doftor that you exa-
mined before, fays, the Polander went away with
htm, and he was not there on Sunday Morning,

or Fr, [Vun, It is wrue, my Lord, it was too
tender a Point for the Do&or, he lies under fome
Sufpicion 3 and ’tis proximus ardet with him,

L.C. 7. Well, call him again: Logk you,
Doctor, you were afked before, and now “you
are atked again, -Were you at.Count Coningfmark’s
Lodgings on Suuday Morning ?

Dr. Hurder. 1 cannot cerainly tell,
_L.C.F. Whendid you fee the Polander at the
Lount’s Lodgings, and whether was it on Sunday
Morning ?

1
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Dr. Harder.  On Sunday Morning I did not fee
him. The only Time was when I fetched him
l{rom my. Lord’s 5 I have nor feen him before nor

Ince.

L. C. . Then call the Boy again,
the Polander dine on Saturday ?

Walts. Hedined with me and my Mafter’s Maa.,

L.C. 7. Where?

Waits. Below in the Kitchen of our Lodgings,

L.C.¥. Where lay the Polauder that Night 2

Watts. He lay in our Garret, |

L.C.7. When went he from your Mafter’s
Lodgings ? |

Watts.  On Sunday Morning,

M. #illiams. Had he an old Coat or a new
Coat upon him ?

Watts, He had a new Coat.

L. C. }. Was the Dottor with him ?

Watts, Yes, the Doltor went away with him,

Dr. Harder. 1 have not feen the Polander above
once in my Life.

Sir Fr, Winn, But were you at the Count’s on
Sunday Morning, or no, I afk you?

Dr. Harder. 1 do not know whether it was Sa-
turday or Sunday ?

L. C.}. But when you fetcched him away, was
it Saturday or Sunday Morning ¢

Dr. Harder. My Lord, I cannot very well re-
member.

L. C.¥. Had the Polender a Sword when you
went away with him?

Dr, Harder. 1 cannor pofitively fay, but (as
Travellers commonly have) he might have a
Sword,

Sir Fr, I7imn. Now come to yourfelf, and deal
honeftly, for youare upon your Ouath ; 1afk you,
Friend, this, You fay he might have a Sword, do
you remember a Pair of Boots ?

Dr. Harder. No, I'do nor,

Sir Fr. Winn, Do you remember the Coat Le
had uppermolt ¢

Dr, Harder. Yes, he had fomething under his
Coat, bur I dor’r know it was Boois.

L. C. Baron. Had he a BuffCoat under his
Campaign ?

Watts.  Yes.

Sir Fr, Withens. Let me afk you one Queftion,
young Man ; Do you remember you faw any
Mufquetoon in your Mafter’s Lodging ?

Watts. I did fee a Gun there,

Sir Fr. Withens, When was that?

Waits, I faw it upon Satuiday.

Mr. Williams. The Mulquetoon or Gun that
was in your Mafter’s Lodgings, was it that which
was brought by the Polaider, or no ?

Watts, 1 can’t tell tha.

Mr. Williams. Was it a long Piece or a fhort

Where did

Picce ?

Walts, It was not a fhort Piece.

L.C.}. Didthe Polander take it away withhim?
Whatts. No, not that I know of. +
Mr., Williams. 'Now, young Man, I wouldatk -

you as to Mounday Morning : About what Time

on Monday Morning did you come to your Mal-
ter’s Lodgings r _

Watts, It was between feven and eight o’Clock,
a little after feven,

Mr. Williams. What Condition was he in? Was
he in Bed, or up.

Watls. He was up,

Mr, Williams, What was he doing 2 Was he
packing up ?

Walts,
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Watts, Not that I fee,
Sir Fra. Winn. 1t was when he afked you about
the Hubbub in the Street 5 pray tell what he faid

to you.
Watts., He afked me what the Matter was with

the Buftle in-the Street, and I told him that fome
were taken that had killed Efquire Thyns 3 and 1
told him all the Story, as nearas I could : He
afked me when Eiquire Thyrn was murdered 5 1
told him the Night before ; but I did not mind
any thing that was done : Butas I went down Stairs,
I met with a Stranger, and he went up Stairs, but
I never faw my Mafter after, till he was taken.

Sit Fr. Winn, Did he alk you what Mr, Thynn
was {

Watts. Yes, and 1 told him I heard he was a
Man of a great Lftate, and well beloved, and
that the Duke of Adonmouth was in the Coach but
a litele before, and if he had not gone out, he had

been killed roo.
Sir Fra. Wi, What faid the Count to you,

when you told him Mr, Thyne was well beloved ¢
Watis. He {aid nothing.
Sir Fr, Iiny.  Can you remember who it was
came to your Mafter then ?
IWatts. T know the Man if I fee him again,
Sir Fr. Winn. Do you know his Name ?
Watts. No, I do not know his Name,
Mr, /Villiams. Were any of your Mafter’s Goods

carried away then ?

Walts, Ycs. ,

Mr. Hilliams. What Goods were carried away
then ?

IWatts. Two Portmantles,

Mr., Hilliams. Who carried them away ?

I¥atts, My Father carried them away.

Mr. Williams. What Time was it ?

Waits. Berween eight and nine of the Clock.

Sir. Fr, Winn. It was Time to be gone, How
parted you and your Mafter

Iatts. The Seranger did come in, and I never
faw my Mafter afterwards.

Siv Fr. Winn, What, did your Mafter take no
Ieave, nor fay any Lhingto you?

Watts, WNo.

Sir Fr. Wimn. What Kind of Perriwig had he
when he went away ¢

Watts. He had a black Perriwig,

Siv Fr. IWinn, What Clothes !

Watts. A light-coloured Suit, with Gold Buttons.

L. C. Baron. Will the Count afk the Boy any
Queftions ?

Mr. Craver. Did you fee the Gun in the Room
after the Polander was gone ?

JZ7atts  Yes.

L. C. 7. ’Tis very plain that this Gun was none
of the Gun that did this Mifchief, but the Gun the
Polander brought over from beyond Sea.,

Sir Fr. Winn,  Call the Boy’s Father, Thomas
IWats, (swho was fworn.) How long have you
known the Count ¢

7 Watts. - I do not know him, but as I have
{een him,

Sir Fr. Winn. Were you employed to catry
any Thing for him !

T, Watts, Two or three Times I was,

Mr. #illiams. When were you laft employed
by him ¢

T. IVatts.
committed.

Mr. #illiams, What Time in the Morning was
ir?

The Morrow after the Murder was

7. Walts, 1t was between eight and nine of the
Clock in the Morning,

Mr. Williams. What was it you did for him ?

T. Watts, 1 carried a Portmantle, and a Port.
mantle-Trunk, and fome other Things,

Mr, Williams, Where were you direted to
deliver thefe ? |

T. Wants. His Man told me they were to g0 to
Windfor.

Mr. Williams. Well, tell the whole Story,

T. Watts, He bid me carry them to Charing.
Crofs, that they might be put into the Coach there,
But when he came to Charing-Crafs, a Coachman
and he had fome Words, and he bid him open his
Boat, and then he took the Things from me, and
put them into the Coach.

L. C. ¥. Who was itthat told you they were to
go to Windfor ¢

T. Watts, 1t was his Man,

Sir Fr. Winn, 1 would afk you, Sir, when was
the firft Time you knew the Count ?

7. Waits. 1t was ten or eleven Days before,

Sit Fr. Winn, What was the Occafion that
brought you acquainted with him ?

T. Watts. 1 was Dr, Frederick's Porter, and he
fent me to carry fome Things to the Count,

Mr, Williams. 'Was it your Son that waited
upon him ¢

7. Watts, Yes. For when 1 brought the
Things, they faid they had forgot to give me a
Sword which | was to carry with the Things ; and
I faid, that I had a Boy that I would fend,»
and 1 did fo, and fo they took a Liking to the
Boy.

Mr, Williams. What was the Agreement for
your Son’s Service ? '

T. Watts, Six-pence a Day and his Victuals,

Sir Fr, Winn. What was the Man’s Name (as
you remember) that gave you the Things to carry
to the Coach, which were faid to go for Vind-

for ¢

T. Watts, 1 can’t tell his Name.,

Mr, #illiams. He that pinched and pufhed you
back, and took the Things from you, and put
them into the Coach ¢

L. C. ¥. Did you fee the Count that Morn-
Ing ¢

T, Watts, No, I did not fee him, '

Mr, Williams. Have you been laboured and
fought to by any Body to conceal your Boy, that
he fhould not be brought at this Trial ¢

T. Watts., No, Str,

Mr. #illiams. Had you no Endeavours ufed
with you about it ¢

T. Watts. No.

Mr. Williams, Did no Body fpeak of any fuch
Thing to you ¢

T. Watts. No,

Mr, Williams. Did any Merchant or any Body
fend to you about this Boy, to take him into Ser-
vice?

T, Watts, There was a Merchant that would
have helped the Boy to a Place on Saturday laft,
but the Perfons that would have procured 1t
were about it 2 good while ago.

Mz, Williams, Call Derick Raynes and Richars
Chappel, (who were fworn, and Raynes flood 1p.)
E?Vhf;n did you fee the Count, the Prifoner at the

ar ¢

Raynes, On Monday in the Afternoon.

Mr, Williams, What Time was it in the AF
ternoon ¢

I Raynes.
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Raynes, 1n the Evening.
My, Williams. Where was it ¢

wes, At my Houle. *
1{2’1? IV llams. Where 1s thar ?

wes. At Rotherbith,
f\,{d{:‘}.ﬂ?ﬂlﬁam. How came the Count to your

Houle
Raynes. I know not 3 I was not at Home when

hﬁﬁ?_liﬁﬂfﬂrns.-‘ Pray when you faw him, had

he his own Hair or a Perniwig, or how was he

abited ?

hﬂ};ij;m_ He had black Hair then. _

My, WWilliams.  How long did he continue at
your Houfe ? _ ]

Raynes. From Monday ’rlll_ﬂmrfdﬂ_y Morning.

Mr. [Williams. Was he privately there or pub-
lickly ¢

Raynes. He walked up and down the Houle.

Sir Fr. IVinn,  What Countryman are you?

Rayues. I am a Swede. '

Gir Fran. Winy. What became of him after
Thurfday ? _

Rayues. On Thuifday Morning he took Water
and went to Deptford.

Sir Fr. Winn.  What Way did he go, by Boat,
or how ¢ *

Rayies. A Waterman carried him,

Mr. Williams. Pray what did the Count fay to
you about his coming in a Difguile to your
Houle ?

Rayies. 1 knew nothing at all. I came late
home, and when I came to know of him what
he was, then he told me that he was Count Co-
pingfmark,

Mr. I/dliams. 'What did he fay to you when
you difcovered that he was the Count ¢ What did
he tel] you of his Bufinefs?

Raynes, He faid nothing 3 but that he was de-
firous 0 go to Gravelend,

Sir Fr, Winn. Upon your Oath, Sir, did you
furnifh him with any Clothes?

Raynes. Yes, Ilent him a Coat.

Sir Fr. inn, What fay you to a black Suie?

" Raynes. The black Suit did not belong to me,
Sir Fr. Winn, What fay youto a Velver Cap?
Rayues, 1 helped him to a Coat, Stockings, and

Shoes.

Sir Fr. Wing. Then I afk you, what did he de-
clare to you ?

Raynes. Why, he did defire to have thole
Clothes.

Sir B, HVinu, You are an honelt Man, tell the
Truzh,

Raynes, He declared nothing to me.

Sir Fr. Winn. When you drefled him, why did
he put on that Habi ?

Raynes. He thought his own Clorhes were too
cold ro go upon the Water,

Sir }», Winn. Had he no Clothes before ?

Raynes, Yes, he had.

Mr, illiams. You had the warmer Coat, had
ou e
} Sir By, Winn. Did he defire you to let him have
your Clothes, becaufe he was in Trouble?

Raynes, He defired a Coat of me, and a Pair of
Stockings to keep his Legs warm 3 and when he
had got them, his own Shoes would not come on,
fo I'lent him a Pair of Shoes.

Sir Fra. Wina. 1 doafk you, did he declare the
Reafon why he would have thole Clothes, was,
becaufe he would not be known ?

Vou. 111

- Raynes, He faid he was afraid of coming into
Trouble,

1 Sir Fr. Winn. Why were you unwilling to tell

this ?
Raynes, As foon as I came to know he was the

Man, [ told him he fhould not ftay in my Houfe,

Sir Fr. Winn.  Did you lend him thofe Clothes,
or fell them?

Raynes. 1 lent him them.

Sir Francis i/inn. Had you them again?

Raynes, Wo, I had not,

Siv Fr, Winn, Are you paid for them, or no?

Raynes, No, my Ship lies at the Key, and I
came home late 1n the Evening, and found him
there,

Str. Br. Winn. Szt up Richard Chappel.

Mr, Williams. When did you firit {ee that Gen-
tleman ?

Chappell. On Thurfday Morning at Ten of the
Clock,

Mr. WWilliams., \Vhere ?
Chappel, At Rotherbith.

My, Williams. How came you to him? Who
brought you?

Chappel, "That Man,
Mr. Williams. What were you to do with him ¢
Chappel. To carry him to Gravefend.

Mr. Williams. Do yourow in a Pair of Qars,
or a Sculler,

Chappel, A Sculler,

Mr. Hilliams, Whither did you carry the Count
that Day?

Chappel. To Deptford.

Mr. Williams. Whither the next Day?

Chappel. To Greenwich,

Mr. [Williams.  And whither then?

Chappel, To Greenbith, and then the next Day
to Gravefend.

Mr. Williams. Was he m the fame Clothes all
the while?

Chappel, Yes, all the while,

L. C. Baron. Were you hired to wait upon him
all that time?

Chappel. Yes, 1 was to have five Shillings every
24 Hours,

L. C. Baron. Was he alone !

Chappel. No, this Man was with him.

L.C. 7. Did he go in the Scoller with him ?

Chappel. Yes, to Deptford,

Mr. Williams. Well, now we will call the Gen-
tlenan chat feized him ar the Waterfide at Grave/
eitd,

Sir Fr, Winn, What did the Count call himfelf?
What Profeflion did he tell you he was of ?

Chappel, He told me he was a Merchanr.

Sir Fr. IVinn. Did he fay he was a Jewelier, up-
on your QOath ¢

Chappel.  Yes, he faid he had bought Jewels.

Sir Fr, Winu, Where is Mr. Gibbons, and Mr.
Fobn Kid ¢

[Who were frvorn, and Mr, Kid flood 1p.]

Mr. Williams.  Mr, Kid,. pray, Sir, will you
acquaint my Lord and the Jury in what Condi-
tion you found the Count at Graveferd? Tell the
whole Story, and {peak aloud, that all may hear
you.

Mr. Kid. 1 had fome Information upon Fiiday
Night of him.

Mr. Williams. OF whom, and what?

Mr. Kid Of the Count where he was. So I
made it my Bulinefs to enquire into it, On Sa-
turday in the Afternoon a Gentleman came to

Rrr me,

-

/

/
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me, and gave me certain Information where he
thought that Gentleman the Count was. This
Gentleman coming to me, faid, Mr. Thynn 1s a
Stranger to me, but faid he, I would not have
Mr. Thynw's Blood lie at my Door. This {ame
Perfon who is put out in the Gazelle, 1 believe,
is at a Neighbour’s Houfe of mine. Says he, I
defire you to be private in ir, becaufe 1t may do
you a Prejudice; fo we went into a Coach at
Charing-Crofs to go to a Juftice of Peace 5 I did
not know where Sir Fobn Rerefby lived, but en-
quired of Mr, Gibbons, who told me, but he
was not at home, and Mr. Bridgman was not at
home ; {o we went to the Recorder, and there
we had a Warrant, and then I came by Water to
Rothberlath, and this fame Raynes that was examin-
ed, and his Wite, where he lay, were gone to
Greenwwich to carry his Clothes, a grey Sui,
and other Clethes that he had left.  So guing
down to Greenwich, we called every Boat that was
upon the River aboard of us, to know whence
they came. And we had taken her Sifter along
with us, and fhe called out her Sifter’s Name,
Mall Raynes, and her Brother’s Name, Derick
Rayiues, and fo at lalt we got the Boat wherein
they were, on board us. And we afked the Man
what he had dore wuh the Gendeman that lay
at s Houfe? FHe declared he was gone away,
he did not know whither. So T went back a-
gain to this Gentleman that gave me this frft In-
tormation, who did go to him as a Neighbour,
to know whither he was gone, and where he was
to be found, and where he would land. So he
declared che Parciculars : That if we miffed him
that Night, we thould have him in the Hope upon
Mgirday Morning, upon a Veflel that was to be
cleared on AMonday Morning. So upon Sriday
Night coming to Gravefend about Eight or Nine
0’Clock, or thereabouts, there he landed. There
were 13 or 14 Swedes at the fame Houfe where
he was to land ;3 fo we thought it convenient to
take him at his firlt landing, for fear of fur-
ther Danger.  So I ftaid at the Red-Lion Back-
ftairs, and he lande . at the Fore-ftairs, where
the Watermen were, As foon as he was laid
hold of, I came to him; faid I, your Lordfhip
fhall not want for any thing that is convenient.
He delired to know whether I knew him; I told
aum yes 5 and that his Name was Count Coning/-
mark. That is iny Name, fayshe; I do not deny
it, S0 the Mayor came and the Cuflom-Hon/e
Officers fearched him, and found nothing at all
of any Arms about him. He defired he might
be uled Iike a Gentleman, and fo he was; for
there was no Abulfe given to him, as I know of,
Coming up the River, the moft of my Diifcourfe
was abour martal Affairss a Serjeant thar had
the Command of a File of Mufqueteers, which
the Deputy-Governor fent to guard the Count
0 [Voitenall, a Gentleman fieing there by me,
was atking me concerning Mr, Thyun’s Murder ;
[ told him, that I was at Newypate on Friday,
and there I faw thole that had done that bar-
barous Iact, With rhar, my Lord alked what
Lodgings there were In Newgate, And whether
the Caprain had a good Lodging? I told hima
very good one. He afked me whether he con-
fefled any thing? T told him he had confeffed
lome Particulars, And, faid I, ’tis the moft
barbarous Thing that ever was done,  Certainly,
fays my Lord, this Mr, Thy#i muft have Cor-
refpondence and Commerce with fome Lady that
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this Captain knew, that belonged to the Coyre
or he would never have done it. As for th;
Polander, 1 told him that he had confeffed, he
wept nughtily,  With that my Lord feemeq
very much concerned, and took up his Clothes
and bit them, and fat a while up, but wus ve.
ry much difcompofed, and then defired 1o [je
down.

Sir Fr. W, That was, when you told him,
the Polander had contefled,

Mr. Kid. Yes; my Lord was mightily altereg
in his Countenance.

i Fr, Winn, Did you ac the firft time that you
feized him charge him with the Murder ?

Mr, Kid. No, I did nat,

Sir Fr. Wim. Was he in a black Perriwig.

Mr. Kid. this Cap fell off, and his Perriwig,
juft as I came o him,

i Fr, [Vinn,  Setup Mr., Gibbons, Pray will
you tell what pafled ?

Mz, Gibbons, My Lord, as foon as ever he
came 1o fhore, I walked by him, and gave him
a liele Kind of a Jultle; and my Reafon was,
to fce whether he had not a blick Coat under
his Campaign: I walked clofe to him jult in this
Manner, as he walked along, fo he turns aboue
again, and went down to the Waterlide, and
alked the Watermen ;3 Watermen, Have you
ftowed your Boat? They anfwered, Yes, Then
come away, fad hes fo foon as he came back
aguin, [ catched him faft hold by the Arm, and
the frft Word he faid to me was, What do you
come t0 rob me¢ Suid I, my Lord, you are my
Priloner, and I .id him I was the King’s Mef-
fenger, that had waited there feveral Days for
him ; and holding of him wvery hard, whether
that was the Occalion of it, or the Watermen
that were on the other fide of him, he dropped
down his Sword between his Legs; but when [
named his Nane, he gave a lide Seare, and his
Perriwig dropped off his Face, We went up
the Street to the Mayor, and the People crowding
about us, were very rude and very rugged, and
he deflired he might be well uled, We did all we
could to keep the People from him: We went
up to the Mayor’s Houfe, and when we came
there, I defired he might be fearched, whether
he had any Arms: He faid he had none, and
there was none.

Sir Fra. Wmn. When you had the Cuftody of
him, whither did you carry him?

Mr. Gibbons., We carried him to the Mayor's
Houfe, and afterwards we removed him from his
Houle to an Inn.

Sir Fr, Winn, What did you do the next Day?

Mz, Gibbons. We ftaid there about fome two
or three Hours, After an Hour, or halfan Hour’s
Time, near upon an Hour, my Lord came io
me, and afked me my Name; and he faid, the
Reafon was, that after his Trouble was over, he
would give me Thanks for my Civility to him,
Captain Sinkleer, who ftcod by, gave him my
Name before I could, that it was Gibbons. Yes;
faid I, my Name is Gibbons, and I belong to the
Duke of Aonmouth: Why, fays he, the Duke of
Monmouth has no Command now, and therefore
how coulc I take him by his Order ? My Lord,
faid 1, I do not apprehend you by his Orders
you have killed a very good Friend of mine, and
had not ' Providence ordered it otherwife, you
had like to have killed a more particular Friend,

and 2 Mafler: So, my Lord, he feemed to be
very
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r .t thats but, fays he, T don’t think
:lfg xii[;;}:l have done an;r Harm to the Duke of

Monmonth.
Sir Fr. .

Mr. Gibbons,

material, :
Q¢ Fr, Winn. Were you in the Boat at any

e and cave him any Account of the Man’s
g;x?;?é cc}nft:TTﬁd; what did he fay toit? ‘

Mr. Gibbons. Sir, I was not there, nor I did not
come up in the fame Boat with‘him. ‘

Mr. Williams. Did he mention any thing about
a Stain to his Blood? ‘

Mr. Gibbons. 1 afk your Pardon, he did fo.

Nr. Williams. Whatdid he fay ¢

Mr. Gibbons. Says he, it 1s a Stain upon my
Blood ; but one good Action in the Wars, or one
Lodging upon a Counterfcarp will wafh away. all
hat.

) L. C.¥. What did he fay was a Stain upon his
Blood ?

Mr. Gibbons, My Lord, if you pleafe, I will
tell you: As I faid, he afked me my Name, be-
caute he would come to give me Thanks for my
Civility after his Trouble was over; the Cap-
tain, being quicker than 1, told him my Name :
Yes, Sir, faid 1, ’tis Gibbous, and I belong to the
Duke of Monmouth; faid he, he hasno Com-
mand now, how could you come upon his Or-
der? Said I, 1 do not come upon his Command,
but you have killed a very good Friend of mine,
and a Countryman; and if Providence had not
ordered it otherwife, you had killed a more par-
ticular Friend of mine, and a Mafter, that I had
ferved many Years; faid he, T don’ think they
would have done the Duke of Advumouth any
Injury : After that he walked up and down a-
while, and then faid he, ’tis a Stain upon my
Blood ; but one good Aétion in the Wars, or Lodg-
ing upon a Counterfcarp, will wafh away all that.
The Mayor was in the Room, and feveral others,

Sit Fr. Winn. Pray, Sir, one Thing more 3 when
you did fpeak to him of Confeflion, did he fay any
thing to you about Capt, Vratz ¢

Mr, Gibbons, Sir, he was only afking of me
how Things were, what the People fid, or fome
fuch Thing ? I was not forward to tell himat firft,
but afterwards I did tell him, that the Captain had
made a Confellion, though it was a Thing I did
not know then. Says he, I do not believe the
Captain would confefs any thing.

L.C. % Didhefayfo?

Mr. Gibbons, Yes, he did, to the belt of my
.Remembrance,

Sir Fr. i%inn. We have done with our Iividence,
my Lord.

L.C. 7. My Lord Comngfinark, will you afk
hint any thing ?

Count Coningflinark, No.

L.C.F. Then the next Thing 1s, you heard
the Evidence that is given againlt you, Now
you muft come to your Defence : I will put you
inmind of fome Things, my Lord, which Things
it will concern you to give fome Account of, It
is here laid to your Charge, That you were ac-
ceflory to this Murder of Mr, Thyusn, and that
you werc the Perfon that directed and defigned
. And thefe Evidences there are againft you,
That you were cognizar: of this, and that you
were the Perfon that defigned this: That you

Game into Kugland abour a Fortnight or three
Yor, IIL.

What elfe did he fay ¢
I think 1 have told you all that is
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Weeks before the Death of Mr, Thynn; that Cap-
tain, Pratz, who was one of them that killed him,
came with you, that he lay at your Lodging,
that he was conftantly with you, that you lay
sitcognilo there, and private, would not be known
what your Name was, that you, fhifted Lodgings
from Time to Time, that Borofy the Polander
came over by your Order, was brought tg your
Lodging, was provided, for there, that he had
Clothes, and’ he had a Sword provided. by your
Lordfhip for him, and:that there was Care taken
that it fhould be an extraordinary good Sword,
that you did difcourfe to, Mr, Haufor about your
calling Mr. Thynn to Account, and this, niuch
about the Time, or a little before the Time of
his Death, and what the Laws of England would
be 1n cale you thould call Mr, Thymi to. Account 5
and particularly you delired to know whag Mon-
fieur Lienberg’s Opinion. might be concerning ir,
and efpecially what in Relation to.my Lady Oz,
And that after all this, Mr, Borofky. was not only
clothed by you, but was fent by vou to Vralz,
(that the DoCtor fays) and after Vrarz him, that
he lay in your Lodging that Night before this evil
Thing was done, and that aficr the Thing was
done, the fame Night ratz came to your Lodg-
ing and was with you, and had private Confe-
rence with- you, that the next Morning you got
up and went away, though you had taken Phyfick
the Night before, and though you yourfelf, nox
your Dottor, thought you fit to go abroad, and
you go away #coguite, in g Peiriyig, difguifed,
you diret your Servant to carry your Clothes
one way, while you go another; then you go
down to the Water-fide, and lie private near the
River, at a Swede’s Houfe at Rotherbith for feveral
Days together; you afterwards take great Care
to conceal yourfelf, by changing your Clothes,
and putting yourfelf in a Garb not like your own,
and giving out you were a Merchant or a Jew-
eller, or fome other Trade; that afterwards you
trifled away the Time and went two or three
Miles, and then ftruck in upon one Side of the
River, and afterwards on the other Side of the
River, fufpicioufly up and down not to be known,
and this not like yourfelf in any manner, but in
a pitiful poor Difguife, and hire a Sculler to car-
ry you, from whom you ccncealed yourfelf, and
fo all along you trifled away the Time *ull you
were taken at Gravefend : That atterwards when
you were taken, you were inquifitive about the
Captain, whether he did confels ; that you fheuld
likewife fay fome {fuch fufpicious Words as thele,
That you believed thofe that killed Mr. Tbyuy
had no Defign againft the Duke of Myrwmonth ,
that you believed the Captain would not confefs ;
that you feemed to be concerned when you were
told the Polander had confefled ; that afterwards
vou fhould fay, my Lord, this isa Siain to my
Blood; but one good Aétion in the Wars, or
Lodging upon a Counterfcarp, will take away
all this, or wafh it clean. And then, which is
alfo teftified againft you, that you fhould afk the
Boy that very Morning of the Day the Murder
was committed, whether they ufed in Logdon here
to permit Men to ride up and down on Hoyle-
back upon a Swwday ¢ Noéw thefe Things, my
Lord, it will import you to give fomg Accqunt
of,
Sir . Fobnfoun. My Lord fays, he defires he
may anfwer all thefe Things one after anorher.
Rrr2 L C 7
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L.C.¥. Let him do fo. And firft let him an-
fwer what his Reafon was to come into England
in fuch a Manner incoguito, at this Time, and
lie concealed when he had been in Eunglend be-
fore, and lived in a mighty good Equipage and
Condition ?

Mr. Craven. My Lord, ke fays that hearing
there was a Peace between Swedelaind and England,
and Holland defigned, and like to be confirmed
fuddenly againft the French, he came with a
Defign to ferve Eugland, and to raife a Regl-
ment of Horfe here for the Service of the King of
Eungland,

Count Coningfmark. If any fuch Peace fhould
be, if any Appearance of an Alliance berween
" England and Holland, and Swedeland, 1 had a De-
fign to propole, if I could have a Regiment.

L.C.7. Why did he come unknown, and in
a Difguife ?

Sit N, Fobufon. Secondly he lays, my Lord,
the Reafon of his coming incoguito was, becaule
he had a Diftemper upon his Arms and Breaft,
and having formerly tried and employed this Phy-
fician, and having Experience that he was an
able Man, he was refolved to lie privately till he
had cared himfelf 5 for he could not drink Wine
nor keep Company, having this Diftemper upon
him, and he was afraid, if he had kept Compa-
ny, it would have hindered his Cure, and he
{hould not have been fo foon cured as if he kept
in the Houfe ; and he fays, that this Equipage
could not come ’till after, and he would not wil-
lingly appear ’ull he had his Equipage as a Man
of his Quality ought to do; and thefe were the
Reafons that made him keep private.

L.C.¥. Pray afk bim upon what Occafion he
did change his Lodgings fo often ¢

Stv N. Fobufon. He fays that his firlt Lodging
was changed becaufe it was too cold for him; and
he fays, the next Lodging, where he was, thofe that
were there can tell, the Room where he was fmok-
ed o cruelly, that he was not able to endure i,
And he fays, he liked the Houfe fo well, that he
fent to fee if the C "mney could be mended; and
it was not to be done, otherwife he had gone baclk
to that Houfe, and he has the Man and his Wife
to bear Witnefs of it, if you pleale.

L. C.F. Let him call them,

Connt, Call Fofeph Parfons and his Wife.

[ But they did not appear.]

L. C. 7. Then alk my Lord this, To what
Purpofe he did bring over this Polander here? He
ought to conflider of that, and give an Account
why he brought him hither.

Interpreter. He fays this Pole was taken into his
Service when he went to Tangier, when he went
feveral Thoufand Miles to do the King Service,
and he had defigned at that Time to bring hin
into England to drefs s Horles after the German
Way.,

L. C. . Had the Polander been a Groom {or-
merly ?

Interpreter. He fays, he thinks he had been
Groom to his Uncle before.

L.C.¥. But to what Purpofe did he bring him
hicher ?

Interpreter. He fays there was a great Difcourfe
about Strafburgh’s being befieged, he did defign
to buy fome Horfes, for every one did arm
themfelves 3 and he fays he fent over 1000 Piftoles

3

to be anfwered by the Merchants here, to buy
Horfes,

L.C. 7. Hath he any body to prove it ?

Conut. There 18 Mr. Rifby, Mr, Hanfon, and
my Brother,

. doung Connt,
change.

I.. C. }. For how much Money, my l.ord ?

Young Count. For 1000 Piftoles, to buy Hor-
fes, and he has bought one Horle, and was to
buy more,

L.C.f. Do you hear, Gentlemen, what |
fays? He came over to buy Horlts, and he re.
wrned 1000 Piltoles for that Purpofe 5 and bhis
Brother dovs atteft there was fuch a Sum return.
ed by Bills of Iixchange, for the buying of
Horfes,

Interpreter. My Lord, he fays he does fesr
that the Jury that do not underftand Eiglifh, do
not underltand his Reafons for being in a Dir
auife,

L.C. 7. Can’t he give an Account of it hi.
felf?

My, Williams. No, my Lord, his Evidence muft
be interpreted to them by the Interpreter.

L. C. ¥, The Dottar's Evidence hath beeg
heard aiready about the fame Matter.

Sir N, Fobnfon, He defires, my Lord, to know
this; whether he may not fay the fame Thirgs
over again to the Jury in French, there are a great
many Perfons of Quality that anderftand it, and
they will fee whether he fpeak true.

L.C.7. Lethim, if he pleafes,

Sir Fr. IWinn. But then, my Lord, I hope tha
your Lordthip will tell the Jury it goes for nothing
without Proof.

[ Thoen toe Contnt fpake to the Fury in French.]

L.C.7. My lord, Ido not know whether the
Gentlemen that are of your Risht-Hand heard yeu
of o,

Juryman, We underftand not French.

[Then the Count fpake it in Dutch.]

[ugerpreter, He fays, if 1t had not been for the
oreat ftormy Weather, the Polainder had been
fooner 1n London, for he {ent for him before. He
fays, the Letters go from Strafureh to Hamburgl;
i feven Days, and that molt commonly Ships
do come from thence In eight Days, bur m 2
oreat deal lefs Time than the Polander came over
. And he {ays, that he writ four Months before
to fetch the Polander over, and he might have been
here long €’re now, 1f it had not been for the
Weather.

L.C. 7. Then, my Lord, I would alk you
fome more Queftions, which it concerns you 10
anfwer,  Upon what Occafion did you nuke
your Difcourfe of Mr. Thyan's Death to Mr. Han-
S ¢ Had you any Difcourle with him? And up-
on what Occalion?

Sir N, Fobufon. My Lord, he fays in common
Difcourfes, ’ris impoffible to give an Account of
the Dilcourfe, or rermember thie Occalion of if 10
long ago. .

L.C. 7. Afk him if he had any Quarrel wits
Mr. Thynn? Or knew Mr. Toyin ?

Siw N, Jobufon, He fays, my Lord, that be
never had any Quarrel with Mr. 95y, nor to
the belt of his Remembrance, with his Eyes, never
faw Mr. Thynn,

L.C. ¥, Then Iafk you this, my Lord, Did
you ever hear Mr, Thyun had married my Lady
Ogle before you laft came into England?

[iteifreler.

My Lord, I had a Bill of Jiy-



1681. O. B.  for the Murder of Mr. Thynn.,

Tnterpreter. He fays, he never heard of it *ill
he was going (o Strafburgh, and then all the
whole Town did talk of 1t.

L.C. ¥ How long s that ago ?

Juterpreter.  Half a Year ago,

1. C. 7. Thenit was before his laft coming
into England. o

Sie Fr, Winn. My Lord, his Difcourfe with
Mr. Hanfon, was not when he was laft in Town,
but before, o

L. C. 7. Then pray afk him this, What Occa-
fion he had to afk the Boy upon Sunday, W he-
ther Horles might ride about the Town of a
Sunday ¢ o

Interpreter. Fle fays, my Lord, this isa very
ftrange Thing, That he fhould go and afk a
Scullion-Boy, whether People might ride on §za-
days, when he himfelf over and over again has
rid upon Sundays to Hyde-Park, as many Perfons
of Quality do.

L.C. 7. Has he any Body to prove it !

Sir N. Fobnfon. Here is Major Oglethorp, (who
with divers other Gentlemen, teftified they had
feen him riding divers Times, on Swndays, in
Hyde- Park.)

L. C. ¥. Then that Queftion fignifies nothing,

there could be nothing in that Queftion.

Sir N. Fobnfon. My Lord, he deflires that I
may be examined concerning the Boy, of what I
heard by Chance from the Boy himfelf, and I
will give you an Account of it upon my Faith
and Reputation.

L. C. 7. Do fo, Sir Nathanicl, fay what you
can fay,

Sir)N. Fobifon, My Lord, I having had the
Honour to ferve a-while under my Lord’s Fa-
ther, I was defirous, knowing the Honour of the
Family, and bearing a great Refpect to it, to
do my Lord all the reafonable Service I could.
So hearing my Lord was taken, and in Newgare,
I went to wait upon him 3 and coming there, Mr.
Richardfon told me, there was a litele Boy waited
at the Count’s Door for his Wages, as he faid.
So I fpake to the Boy, and aiked him, what do’ft
thou ftay for ? He told me for his Wages.  Said
I, certainly my Lord will pay you your Wages ;
how long have you ferved him ¢ He faid a litle
while 5 and then faid I, if you lived with him,
what do you know of his Bufinefs ? And then of
himfelf he began and told me : Only this I know,
That Pratz was in my Mafter’s Chamber that
Night, and the Polander that Night went out with
a Pair of Boots under his Arm, and more than
this { do not know, Said I, Boy, Who do you
ferve? Says he, 1 have no Mafter at prefent ; but
then of his own Accord he told me, Sir Thomas
Thynn had promifed him a Place, and in the mean
Time, I am, fays he, to go to ferve my Lord
Privy-Seal 5 fo my Lord gave him twenty Shil-
lings for his Wages,

Interpreter. My Lord defires the Boy may be
afked, whether he did not go to ferch Phyfick.,

L. C. 7. Afk him; where is the Boy ¢

[¥atts, No, I do not remember it.

L.C.F. Now, you fhould put the Count in
Mind.

Sir Fr. Winn, We obferve what a Sort of In-
terpreter Sir N, Fobnfon is : He fpeaks more like
an Advocate than an Interpreter 5 he mingles In-
terpreter, and W itnefs, and Advocate together, I
don’t know what to make of him.
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DL. C.7. The Count had taken Phyfick that
ay,

Sit Thomas Thynn, My Lord, 1 defire to
be heard, 1 never fpake to the Boy in all my
Life,

Mr. Thynn, Norl. But he gave the fame
Teftimony he gives now, before the King and
Council.

L. C. 7. Look you, Sir Thomas, it does not
concern you at all to fpeak to that, there is no
Reflection made upon you in it, But my Lord
Coninfmark, it will concern you a little, to thew
upon what Occafion Captain Fratz came to you
that Night that Mr. Thyan was killed,

Interpreter.  He fays, my Lord, he can’t telf
why he came there ;5 ’tis a proper Queftion to afk
Captain Vratz himfelf,

L, C. 7. That can’t be.

Diterpreter.  He fays, my Lord, he kept his
Chamber at that Time ; he had taken Cold upon
his taking Phyfick, and the Captain came to give
him a Vilit, and he never refleted what any one
came for ; he was lying upon his Bed.

L.C. Baron, Pray-atk my Lordthis: Why
this Man, that was fent over to attend Horlfes,
fhould come upon the Friday, and a Campaign
Coat be bought him on the Saturday, and he fur-
nithed with & Sword on the Sunday ?

Interpreter, My Lord, the Noife is great, but
I fuppofe your Lordihip defires to know what was
the Reafon why he bought a Sword for him and a
Coat ? -

L.C. Bayon, Ay, and how he came by the
Buff-Coat ?

Interpreter, He fays he had that before.

L. C. Baron. But why mult he have fuch &
ftrong Bafket-hilted Sword furnithed him in a
Day’s Time,

Interpreter. He fays, my Lord, as to the
Clothes, when he faw him with all his Clothes
torn, he muft of Neceffity get him a Coat, or
elfe he was a Shame to him and his Service.
And as for the Sword, it was no more (he fays)
than what Servants of his Bulk and Making ufed
to wear,

Sir N. Jobufou, And he fays all the Servants of
Gentlemen in Germany, wear fuch broad Swords.

L. C. ¥. You know it yourfelf, Six Nathanie!
Fobufonr, you have travelled there,

Sir N. Fobufon. Yes, my Lord, they do; and
the Poles much broader and greater Swords than
the others. Here 1s one 1n Court that hath a great
broad Sword now by his Side,

L.C.¥. Now, myLord, it will import you to
give fome Account, how, you having brought
over this Polander (as you fay) to choofe Horles,
and help you in the Management of them, to
take Care of them in the Nature of a Groom,
how you came to part with him to Captain Zrasz
as foon as he came over 2

luterpreter. My Lord, he fays, being that he
was fick himfelf, and there was no Hopes ol
the Alliance between Eugland and Holland, he
had no fuch Occalion for him, as when he wrote
for him, and therefore faw no Reafon to keep
him.

L. C. ¥. How long was 1t before that he wrote
for him ¢

Connt., My Lord, after the Siege of Strafbuigh,
when every Body thought there would have been
a War, but it was not fo ; therefore I had not

Need
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Need-of him, but he had been feven Weeks: at
Sea ; and, my Lord, ’us a comwmon Thing in
Germany.

Interpreter.  He fays, ’tis a common Thing 1
their Country, to give Servants away, if there
be no Occafion for them., -

Count. My Lord, ’tis a common Thing 1
Germany, it may be, it may not be {o much ufed:
in England to give a Servant away.

L. C. Baron. What, the next Day that he
comes over °

L.C. ¥, What fay you, Sir Nathaniel Fobn-
fon ¢

~ Sir N. Fobufon.  Yes, my Lord, s very fre-
quent in Germany to give a Servant away if there
be no ufe of him, for thefe Polanders are like
Slaves,

Interpreter. And, my Lord, he fays, that Mr.
Ruflel does know, that the Merchant that fent him
over hither is a Man of good Repute; andif this
Man had had an ill Reputation in Germaity, he
would not have fent him.

Wituefs. My Lord, I know very well he 15 a

Man of very great Credit in Hamburgh, and of

great Eftate, _

L. C. 7. Did he fend over this Polander 2

JVitnejs.  Yes, my Lord, fo I underftand,

L. C.7. Canyou {peak of his Credit, Sir Na-
thaniel Fobufon ¢

Witnefs, Of the Merchant’s Credit I can, my
Lord: I know him to be a Man of conliderable
Eftate and Credic, He is a Man of fuch Reputa-
tion, that he would not fend a Man of an il Re-
putation,

L. C, Baron. Oh, Sir, Nemo repente fit tur-
piffimus,  He could not be {o ill 2 Man at the firft
Dafh 3 be muft be a Man probable for fuch a
Service.

Sir Fr. IFinn.  You may obferve, my Lord,
how Sir Nathaniel Fobnfen, who is Interpreter in
the Cafe, is a Witnefs, and argnes for the Prifoner
100.

Mr, Williams. Pray, Sir Nathaniel, 1s a Ren-
counter the killing ~f a Man afer this Man-
ner ?

Sir N. Fshirfen. A Rencounter is another Sort
of Thing, Sir; you don’t fpeak as if you were
a Soldier.

Mr, Puliams. My being a Soldier or not is no-
thing to the Bulinefs ; but the Caprain faid, he
mtended to have made a Rencounter of it.

Sir Fr. Winn. But, my Lord, we defire to take
Notice of Sir Nathaniel's Forwardnefs ; for it may
be a Precedent in other Cales.

L.C.7. Whatdo you wulk of a Precedent ?
When did you fee a Precedent of a like ‘Trial of
Strangers, that could {peak nota Word of Englifh
but you weuld fain have the Court thought hard
of, tor doing Things that are extraordinary in this
Cale,

Mr, Craven. My llord, he defires he may in-
form the Jury what he fent for this Pelander for,

L.C.¥. Let him.

[ Then the Count fpake it in French and Dutch,]

L.C.¥. My Lord, another Thing 1s this, how
came your Lordfhip prefently to go away in {uch
a private fecret Manner, and to direct your Clothes
to be fent as it were to Wzndfor ¢ And yourfelf to
oo away, and to make fuch a private with-
drawing of yourfelf down the River in this
Manoer 2

Mr. Graven, My Lord, he fays, that one

Narkbam, that 1s here, came and: told. him, thy:
upon the killing of this. Man By the Polander and
the Captain, who were taken.in fuch 2. Fa&, there
was a Difcourde of it that it might furn to s
Prejudice; and that the common People do con.
monly fall upon-Stranggrs-3 that his Taylor teld
him, that he heard the common People name
him as'concerned in ity and that he believed, if
the. common People did: catch him, they would
tear him to Pieces, and fo his Friends did counfel.
him that he would withdraw himlelf.

L. C.F. Isthe Taylor here ? Call him.

Interpreter.  Call Markbam the Taylor,

[2who ftood up.]

Sit N, Fobnfon. My Lord, he fays, that he was
afraid the People might tear him to Pieces, before
he could come to juftity himfelf,

L. C. . Look you, Friend, did you come to
Count Coningfmark’s Lodgings after Mr. Thyss
was killed, on the Monday Morning ?

Markbam, Yes.

L. C. ¥, What did you tell him ?

Markbam, 1 told him nothing, but I was fene
there by Mr, Hanfoiz 5 fays he, tell the Count that
the Duke of Mommonth and feveral Noblemen
have been here : Now I had not feen the Count
at that Time before, but he told me where he
lodged 3 when 1 came there 1 told the Count of jt,
but he told me he knew nothing of it 5 bur, fid
he, Iam forry if any fuch Thing be dane,

L.C. 7. Butwhat did you fay his Friends ad-
vifed him to about it ?

Markbam. 1 did fay nothing of ir,

[Then the Count fpake to bim in Dutch.]

Markbam. That was afterwards.

L. C.f. 'What was that afterwards ?

Markbam. I was told, the People faid, if he
were taken, he would be knocked on the Head.

L. C. 7. What Time alterwards was it ?

Markham.  After he went away.

L.C.F. Who told you fo then ?

Markham, Mr. Hanfon told me fo then ; I
would not tell a Lie for all the World.

Coxit.  He can tell allo when I went away—
the reft be fpake in Dutch,

Interpreter. He fays this Man can witnefs, that
he afked his Man what Money he had left, and
he told him that he had not above 10 0r 11/, fo
he put his Hand in his Bag and ook out fome,
and put it into his Pocket,

Count.  So ill was I provided for an Efcape.

L. C.}. Afkhim that Queftion ; do you know
any Thing of what Money he took with him ?

Markbam, No, 1 {aw him take an handful of
Silver, but what it was 1 can’t tell,

Mr. Zhyan. He had 7 or 8/, about him when
he was taken,

Tuterpreter,  He defires Leave to tell it to the
Jury, (which he did. )

L.C. 7. Now, my Lord, this will repuire fome
Anfwer ; how came you to tell thofe Gentlemen
that took you, that you believed Mr, Fratz and
the reft would have done the Duke of Monmonth
no harm?

Interpreter. He fays, the People told, when he
was taken, that the Duke of Monmouth was in the
Coach, and that they did follow the Coach a great
way, and would not do the Aétion ’till the Duke
of Monmouth was out of the Coach,

3 ot
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Count. They did tell me, the Croud that were
about me, that thofe that were taken faid .they
would not do it till the Duke was out., |

Tnterpreter. And he fays, that gave him fuffi-
cient Reafon to fay to Mr. Gibbons that he did be-
lieve they had no Defign upon his Grace the Duke
of Monmouth. _ _

L.C. 7. Heheardt {o commonly, It feems.
Now, my Lord, there 1s one Thing more that
you fhould explain yourlelf in, what you meant
by this, when you faid it would be a Stain upon
your Blood, yer one noble Act in War, or the
Lodging upon a Ceunterfcarp, would wafh it
off ?

Luterpreter. Hefays, my Lord, that though he
knew himfelt not Guilty of any Thing, yet his
being taken upon Sufpicion, and clapped up in
Prifon, would be a great Difgrace to hun, and
would be worfe relented m his own Country than
the Thing itfelf was : It being not the Cuftom 1n
his Conntry to take Perlons of his Quality Prifo-
ners in that Manner., .

L.C.'f. Now, my Lord, isthere any Perfon
that you would have called to afk any Queftions
of ? If you have, they fhall be called,

Count. No, my Lord ; bur if you pleafe to
oive me Leave to tell fomething that may be ne-

ceflary,

[Zhen be fpake iz Dutch.)

Sir N, Fobufon. My Lord, he fays, if you will
aive him Leave, though 1t does not come very
well from himfelf, yet ic defires to fay fomething
for his own Reputation.

My, Williams, He fhould be armed with Wit-
nefles to make his Defence,

L. C. . *Tis fit for Men that ftand here to fay
any Thing that is reafonable for themfclves, My
Lord, if you can {peak any thing that you appre-
hend the Jury can underftand, fpeak to them what
you pleafe, fo as they underftand i, but do not be
too long.

Mi., Craven. My Lord, if your Lordfhip pleafe,
he fays he would fpeak it firfl n Freach, and then
In Germax,

L.C.#. Ay, but then the Englifhmen of the
Jury will not underftand a Word of i1t 5 he had
better {peak in Englifb to the Jury.

L. C. . North, My Lord, 1t 1san indifferent
Thing, it may be interpreted, not being Matter
of Fact.

Sir N. Fobufoir. My Lord, he fays it is 2 great
Happinefs in all his Trouble, that he was in a
Country where he was to appear before a Prote-
flant Judicature, himielf being a Proteftant, and
his Fore-fathers alfo, IHe fays, that his Fore-
fathers, under Guftavis Adolpbus, were Soldiers,
and did cthere, with their Swords 1n their Hands,
and the Lofs of their Blood, endeavour to fettle
the Proteftant Religion in Germauy, and protect
it there : He fays, that it has been the Honour
of himfelf and his Family, that they have always
been ready to venture their Blood and their Lives
for the advantage of the Proteftant Religion, as the
Examples of his Grandfather and Father do thew ;
and there never was any thing done by his Family
but what was done for the Honour of his Coun-
try, and his Religion : And he fays, that if any
of his former Aétions can give any the leaft Suf-
picion of his being Guilty of this, or any foul
Fact, he 1s very willing to lay down his Life,
and very willing to have it cut off immediate

ly,
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Count, Immediately. -

Sir V. Fobufon. He fays, that he is very ready,
upon all Occafions, to ferve the King of Zngland ;
and that he loves the Euglifp Nation fo well,
a]s always to be ready to do any Thing to ferve
them,

Count. Without any Intereft in the World, a-
gaintt the Will of all my Relations ; and I have
brooght my Brother into Englard to be broughe
up into the Proteftant Religion, to fhew my
Inclinations to the Religion, and the Englifp
Nation,

L. C. ¥. Have you done

Sir Fra, Wimn. Yes, my Lord, we have done
with our Evidence, and we have no Matter of
Fadl to reply unto 5 but we think it is our Duty,
confidering the Defence my Lord has made, thag
we fhould rake fome Care to put the King’s Evi.
dence a little together, 1t being a Cafe of fuch
Nature, and {o cruel and horrid a Murder.

My Lord, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, I
am of Counfel here for the King, and you are
Gentlemen upon an Enquiry to find out the Of-
fenders in a very great, a barbarous, and a wilful
Murder, And, my Lord, in relation to the
Principals, 1 need not {pend your Lordfhip’s and
the Jury’s Time about them ; for all thofe three
Men, that are indicted as Principals, do, my
Lord, confefs the Fact, though they do it in a dif-
ferent Manner, and though in Form of Law they
have pleaded Not Guilty ; yet when they come to
be afked the Queftion, their Guile flies in their
Faces, and they cannot deny it.  So then for thofe
three Men there is no Need to {pend Time in re-
peating the Evidence.

Bur, my Lord, that that feems to require the
Confideration of the Jury is, whether this wicked
and horrid Murder be only circumficeribed in the
Guilt of it to thofe three Men that have con-
fefled it, or whether any ratiopal Man in the
World will believe, upon the Account they give
themfelves, that they had only a Delign, a Study,
or a Delight to kill this innocent Gentleman.
No, my Lord, the Thing muit lie a little deeper,
and there muft be fome other Realon why this
barbarous Murder was committed, I would crave
your Pardon for what I fay., My Lord, 1 would
not fpeak any Thing that thould miflead a Jury
in Matcers of Blood, and I think it was rightly
faid by your Lordfhip, that when a Man is tried
for his Life, we ought all to behave ourfelves
ferioufly, as in a Martter of Weight and Moment.
And fo it is, I think, a very ferious Thing, and
a Matter of Concernment to us all to enquire
who hath fhed innocent Blood ; for fuch was this
poor Gentleman’s Blood that was killed, Innocent
Blood.

My Lord, this Countis a very unhappy Per-
fon to have fuch a Relation as has been prov-
ed to be of the Principals : 1 will do my Lord
no Wrong in the Repetition, if I do, and am
miftaken, I crave your Direction, Iam fure you
will corre& me in it. ‘Two of the Perfons that
are Principals, that was Captain 77a/z and the
Polander, happened to be Perfons relatng to my
Lord’s Family, as his Servants, For it 1s agreed
by the Witnefles that were that Count’s Friends,
that they came over into England with the Count,
the Iaft Time he came over In that private Man-
ner ; and ’tis likewile proved, and not denied by
him, that Caprain Pratz was frequently with him,

not only to the very Day when this bloody
Fact



